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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff,
—_— V. —_—

BUY-A-HOME, LLC; METROPOLITAN HOUSING,
LLC; GRAMERCY FUNDING GROUP LTD; MITCHELL
COHEN; CAMBRIDGE HOME CAPITAL, LLC; SETH
KRAMER; CRAIG HYMAN; SETH LAPIDUS;
JACQUELINE DERRELL; CAMBRIDGE FUNDING
GROUP, LTD.; JAMES J. GOLDBERG, d/b/a JJG
REAL ESTATE APPRAISAL SERVICES; BUCKLEY
CONSULTING GROUP INC. f/k/a PREMIER
APPRAISAL SERVICES; WILLIAM BUCKLEY; and
ROBERT MICHELINE d/b/a P&M APPRAISALS,

Defendants.

10 Civ. 9280

AMENDED
COMPLAINT

JURY TRIAL
REQUESTED

Plaintiff, the United States of America, by its attorney, Preet Bharara,

United States Attorney for the Southern District of New York, alleges upon

information and belief as follows:



Case 1:10-cv-09280-LGS Document 96 Filed 02/15/12 Page 2 of 210

INTRODUCTION

1. This is a civil action by the United States against residential property
sellers, mortgage lenders, and appraisers who participated in a series of mortgage
fraud schemes to orchestrate at least seventeen flip sales of homes, located in
Bronx, Westchester, and other counties in the New York area, at inflated prices and
to buyers who could not afford such homes. To obtain mortgage financing for those
fraudulent flip sales, defendants created false documents and inflated appraisals
and submitted these false records to the United States Department of Housing and
Urban Development (“‘HUD”) and to subsidiaries of two financial institutions. This
action seeks civil penalties under the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and
Enforcement Act, 12 U.S.C. § 1833a (“FIRREA”); treble damages and civil penalties
under the False Claims Act (“FCA”), 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729-33; and injunctive relief
under the Fraud Injunction Statute, 18 U.S.C. § 1345.

2. Defendants’ frauds operated by abusing the positions of trust that
HUD direct endorser lenders, such as defendant Cambridge Home Capital, LLC
(“Cambridge”), and HUD Roster Appraisers, such as defendant James J. Goldberg,
occupied within HUD’s mortgage insurance program. It was the obligation of those
lenders and appraisers to ensure that HUD would only insure mortgage loans that
met HUD requirements. Specifically, direct endorsers had the responsibility to
ascertain that a mortgage loan to be insured by HUD in fact met the requirements
for HUD insurance. Similarly, it was the duty of a HUD-approved Roster Appraiser
to refrain from “hitting the numbers” pre-determined by a seller or a lender.

However, Cambridge and the appraiser defendants abused their positions of trust —
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instead of meeting their obligations to HUD, they conspired with flip sellers to
secure HUD-insured loans by creating and submitting fraudulent documents,
inflated appraisals, and false certifications.

3. Defendants’ mortgage fraud scheme typically proceeded in four steps.
First, defendant Mitchell Cohen, the mastermind behind the schemes, bought up
properties for resale, using three entities he controlled — defendants Buy a Home,
LLC (“Buy-a-Home”), Gramercy Funding Ltd. (“Gramercy”), and Metropolitan
Housing, LLC (“Metropolitan”). But, instead of paying for renovations that would
enhance the value of these properties, Cohen directed sales efforts at inexperienced
home-buyers, convincing them to buy the properties from him at inflated prices —
frequently 60% or more above what Cohen had paid just two or three months prior.

4. Cohen relied on three means to induce the buyers to accept his inflated
prices. First, Cohen misled buyers into underestimating the true costs of home
ownership. For example, to sell a home on Newark Avenue in Staten Island, Cohen
and Buy-a-Home told buyers that they could offset the monthly mortgage payments
with $800 in rental income, when, in fact, that home was a single-family unit and
did not have an apartment for rent. See infra at 9 118-120. Similarly, to influence
inexperienced home-buyers to purchase a home on Nicholas Avenue in Staten
Island, Cohen directed Buy-a-Home sales agents to understate the monthly cost of
owning that property by $800. See infra at 9 189-191. Second, to induce buyers to
purchase his properties, Cohen also paid off their personal debts or promised to
make mortgage payments on their behalf. For example, in connection with selling a

home on 116th Street in Queens, Buy-a-Home provided $6,500 to Cambridge to pay
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off the buyers’ pre-existing debts to creditors such as Cingular and Capital One. See
infra at 9 98-103. Further, in connection with selling a home on Newark Avenue,
Cohen promised the buyers that he would make their mortgage payments for the
first five months. See infra at 49 313-314. Third, Cohen invariably induced buyers
to purchase his properties at inflated prices by arranging to pay almost all of the
down payment and closing costs. In other words, buyers typically contributed
nothing, or a nominal amount, to purchase properties priced at more than $300,000
or $400,000. See, e.g., infra at 9 230-231, 438-450.

5. As step two in defendants’ frauds, i.e., after Cohen had duped
inexperienced buyers into agreeing to purchase a home from him at an inflated
price, Cambridge, a HUD-approved direct endorser, arranged financing for buyers
to consummate the fraudulent flip sale. As a HUD direct endorser, Cambridge was
delegated the authority to endorse mortgage loans for HUD insurance, and it had
the corresponding duty to verify whether loans met HUD requirements. See infra
at 99 39-58. Cambridge, however, had a corrupt agreement with Cohen that it
would abuse its direct endorser status and obtain HUD insurance for the mortgage
loans to finance Cohen’s flip sales — irrespective of whether they met HUD
requirements.

6. In furtherance of defendants’ fraudulent schemes, Cambridge created
false records to make buyers appear more credit-worthy than they were and to hide
Cohen’s payoffs of the buyers’ personal debts from HUD and from financial
institutions. Specifically, to produce the appearance of greater credit-worthiness,

Cambridge created false records to inflate buyers’ incomes or to understate their
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debts. For example, to facilitate the flip sale of a home on Beach 46th Street in Far
Rockaway, Cambridge falsified the occupation of one buyer — from being a “security
guard” to being a “head chef” at restaurants — and falsely inflated her monthly
income by 50%. See infra at 49 176-177. Similarly, to create the mirage that the
buyers of a property on York Avenue in Staten Island had discharged a significant
portion of their personal liabilities, Cambridge conspired with Cohen to pay off such
debts using funds from Cohen, while claiming that the funds had come from the
buyers’ daughter. See infra at 49 152—156. Further, to hide the fact that Cohen
was paying off the buyers’ personal debts, Cambridge arranged for the preparation
of false and misleading documents. For example, Jacqueline Derrell, the Director of
Operations at Cambridge, falsely stated in a record that the buyers for a property
on 116th Street in Queens had brought $6,500 in cash to the closing to pay off their
debts, whereas, in fact, Cohen had provided Cambridge with $6,500 to pay off such
debts. See infra at 19 98-103. Further, Cambridge invariably arranged for Cohen’s
payoffs of buyers’ debts to be omitted from the loan closing documents, even though
HUD rules required any such payment to be documented as an inducement to
purchase. See, e.g., infra at 9 152—-156, 222-226, 269-273.

7. Third, Defendants’ fraud also required participation by appraisers. To
obtain HUD insurance, Cambridge and Cohen had to procure appraisal reports that
“hit the numbers,” i.e., fraudulently valued homes at or above the inflated prices set
by Cohen. Here, three appraisers — defendants Goldberg, William Buckley, and
Robert Micheline (collectively, the “Appraiser Defendants”) — filled that role. To

ensure that they would continue to receive appraisal business from Cohen and
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Cambridge, the Appraiser Defendants conspired with Cohen and Cambridge to

i

issue fraudulent appraisals that “hit the numbers.” For example, when Cambridge
demanded that Goldberg raise the rental income estimate for a home on Newark
Avenue to an obviously unjustifiable level, Goldberg simply ignored the obligation
to be independent and acceded to Cambridge’s demand. See infra at 9 336-337.
In another instance, to “hit the number” for Cambridge pursuant to their corrupt
agreement, Micheline falsely reported that a home on 116th Street in Queens
required no major repairs, when, in fact, that property needed the replacement of a
kitchen, repairs to the roof, and refurbishment of a bathroom. See infra at 9 95-
97. Finally, Buckley likewise conspired with Cohen and the lenders that worked
with Cohen, including Cambridge, in order to “hit the number.” Indeed, as detailed
below, see infra at 99 88-117, 481-514, Buckley has participated extensively in
Cohen’s schemes. In furtherance of the conspiracy, Buckley repeatedly helped
Cohen decide how high to inflate the prices of his properties when Cohen
subsequently marketed such properties to unsophisticated buyers. Buckley also
issued, or caused appraisers affiliated with him to issue, appraisals reflecting the
inflated valuations that Cohen and Buckley had set. In addition, Buckley
consistently failed to disclose his relationship with Cohen in his appraisals, which
falsely claimed to have been created independently for Cambridge or other lenders,
whereas Buckley, in fact, had conspired with Cohen to arrive at the inflated

valuations and, since 2010, also had acted as Cohen’s main contractor in performing

deficient renovations on properties sold by Cohen.
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8. Finally, Cohen and Cambridge were involved in the fourth step in
defendants’ fraud. Specifically, after securing the false records and inflated
appraisals, Cambridge obtained HUD insurance for the mortgage loans for
financing Cohen’s fraudulent flip sales by submitting those false documents to
HUD, along with Cambridge’s false certifications regarding compliance with HUD
requirements. See, e.g., infra at Y9 94-105, 174-185. Further, to ensure that
buyers who received funds from Cohen would consummate their purchases of
Cohen’s properties, Cohen and Cambridge arranged to pay off the buyers’ personal
debts only after the sales had closed. They did so by having Cambridge, rather than
the buyers, send checks to the buyers’ creditors, post-closing. See infra at 9 98-
100, 222-224. In addition, because it had only a limited amount of capital,
Cambridge replenished its capital by selling the seventeen mortgage loans used to
finance Cohen’s flip sales to subsidiaries of two financial institutions — Citibank,
N.A. (“Citibank”) and Countrywide Bank, FSB (“Countrywide Bank”) — relying on
the same false records and false certifications that it had submitted to HUD.

9. Defendants’ fraud generated significant profits for them — for example,
from the seventeen flip sales discussed below alone, Cohen and the entities
associated with him netted more than one million dollars in profits. Not
surprisingly, all seventeen mortgage loans have defaulted, most in the first six
months after they closed. Those defaults have harmed HUD, which insured these
mortgages. In fact, HUD already has received mortgage insurance claims for two of
Cohen’s properties, and can reasonably expect to receive insurance claims for the

other fifteen. Those existing and expected insurance claims expose HUD to more
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than $7.5 million in potential losses. Defendants’ fraud also harmed the
inexperienced, first-time buyers, who either have lost their homes or currently face
eviction or foreclosure. Finally, the mortgage fraud scheme affected Citibank and
Countrywide Bank, to whose subsidiaries Cambridge sold these bad loans. Those
financial institutions have had to spend hundreds of thousands of dollars on interim
mortgage payments on the defaulted loans. In light of the significant harm that
defendants’ fraud has caused, it is appropriate to impose civil penalties on
defendants under FIRREA, and to order them to pay treble damages and penalties
under the FCA, for their participation in the mortgage fraud scheme.

10. The United States also 1s entitled to injunctive relief because
defendants can be expected to continue to engage in fraudulent conduct unless the
Court stops them. Specifically, injunctive relief as against Cohen and Buckley is
absolutely necessary because they have continued to orchestrate the mortgage fraud
scheme that Cohen perpetrated in connection with HUD Loans Nos. 1-17, and
because, unless enjoined, they can be expected to continue to do so. See infra at 9
481-514. In addition, because Goldberg and Buckley remain FHA Roster
Appraisers, and because Kramer, Hyman, Lapidus, and Derrell may continue to
originate HUD-insured mortgage loans through Cambridge or other businesses,
injunctive relief also is appropriate as to those defendants to prevent them from
further abusing the HUD mortgage insurance program, at the expense of HUD,

inexperienced home-buyers, and financial institutions.
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PARTIES

11.  Plaintiff the United States is a sovereign, and HUD is a department of
the United States. One of HUD’s statutory mandates is to create and sustain
quality affordable homes for all Americans. HUD implements this mandate
through the Federal Housing Administration (“FHA”), which, among other things,
provides mortgage insurance on loans made by HUD-approved lenders.

12. Defendant Buy-a-Home is a New York limited liability company.
During all relevant times, Buy-a-Home has been a real estate firm which has had
its principal place of business at 87-02 Queens Boulevard in Queens, New York.

13. Defendant Metropolitan is a New York limited liability company.
During all relevant times, Metropolitan was a real estate firm which had its
principal place of business 98-75 Queens Boulevard in Rego Park, New York.

14. Defendant Gramercy is a New York corporation. During all relevant
times, Gramercy was a real estate firm which had its principal place of business
118-12 152nd Street in Queens, New York. Gramercy, collectively with Buy-a-
Home and Metropolitan, will be referred to as the “Cohen Entities”.

15. Defendant Mitchell Cohen is an individual residing in Nassau County,
New York. During all relevant times, Cohen has been the co-owner of and a
principal at Buy-a-Home, Metropolitan, and Gramercy.

16. Defendant Cambridge is a New York limited liability company which
has its principal place of business at 80 Cutter Mill Road in Great Neck, New York.
Cambridge is a HUD-approved direct endorser. In the two-year period from

January 1, 2007 to January 2009, Cambridge originated more than 900 mortgage
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loans insured by HUD, representing more than $162 million in principal loan
amounts. More than 50% of those loans subsequently defaulted.

17. Defendant Seth Kramer is an individual residing in Nassau County,
New York. During all relevant times, Kramer was the President and a co-owner of
Cambridge.

18. Defendant Craig Hyman is an individual residing in Nassau County,
New York. During all relevant times, Hyman was a Vice President and a co-owner
of Cambridge.

19. Defendant Seth Lapidus is an individual residing in Nassau County,
New York. Until about September 2009, Lapidus was the Senior Loan Officer at
Cambridge.

20. Defendant Jacqueline Derrell is an individual residing in Kings
County, New York. Until about January 2009, Derrell was the Director of
Operations at Cambridge. Derrell, collectively with Cambridge, Kramer, Hyman,
and Lapidus, will be referred to as the “Cambridge Defendants”.

21. Defendant Cambridge Funding Group Ltd. (“CFG”) is a New York
corporation and is co-owned by Kramer and Hyman. During all relevant times,
CFG has been in the business of making construction loans and has its principal
place of business at 80 Cutter Mill Road in Great Neck, New York.

22. Defendant Goldberg is an individual residing in Nassau County, New
York. During all relevant times, Goldberg did business as JJG Real Estate
Appraisal Services (“JJG”), which has its principal place of business at Suite 102,

500 Old Country Road in Garden City, New York. In 2007 and 2008, Cambridge

10
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was one of JJG’s largest customers and paid JJG to conduct several hundred real
estate appraisals. Specifically, Goldberg and another JJG appraiser, Mark Pitman,
performed appraisals for a number of homes involved in Cohen’s flip sales. For each
of the appraisals performed by Pitman, Goldberg personally reviewed, edited,
approved, and sent the appraisal report to Cambridge.

23.  Defendant Buckley Consulting Group Inc. (“Buckley Consulting”) is a
New York corporation in the real estate appraisal business which, during the
relevant time period, did business as Premier Appraisal Services, Inc. (“Premier”),
and had its principal place of business at 181 West Main Street, Suite 202, in
Babylon, New York. In May 2011, Premier was renamed Buckley Consulting and
currently maintains a principal place of business at 1111 Deer Park Avenue in
North Babylon, New York.

24. Defendant William Buckley 1s an individual residing in Nassau
County, New York. During all relevant times, Buckley has been a principal at
Buckley Consulting Group (formerly Premier) and has performed appraisals for
homes involved in Cohen’s flip sales. Buckley is also the owner of IDU Renovations,
Inc., a construction business that has performed renovations for homes involved in
Cohen’s flip sales. Buckley is also a principal of 10253 Realty, LLL.C, and One World
Properties LL.C, which transact business in the area of residential real estate.

25. Defendant Robert Micheline is an individual appraiser residing in
Nassau County, New York. During all relevant times, Micheline did business as

P&M Appraisals and performed appraisals for homes involved in Cohen’s flip sales.

11
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE

26. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to
28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1345.

217. Venue is proper in the Southern District of New York under 28 U.S.C.
§ 1391(b)(2) because a substantial part of the events and omissions alleged in this
Complaint occurred in connection with flip sales of homes located in Bronx and
Westchester Counties, within this District. Venue also is proper as to the named
corporate defendants pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(c) because each of those entities
conducted business within this District.

CIVIL STATUTES FOR COMBATTING MORTGAGE FRAUD

28. In 1989, Congress enacted FIRREA as part of a comprehensive
legislative plan to reform and strengthen the federal deposit insurance system.
Pursuant to FIRREA, the United States can recover civil penalties, up to $1 million
for each violation or up to $5 million for a continuing violation, from persons who
“violate any provision of law to which this section is made applicable.” 12 U.S.C. §
1833a(a)-(b). Further, if a defendant “derives pecuniary gain from the violation, or
if the violation results in pecuniary loss to a person other than the [defendant],”
FIRREA authorizes the United States to recover civil penalties greater than $1
million per violation, or $5 million per a continuing violation. Id. § 1833a(b)(3)(A).

29. As relevant to this action, FIRREA authorizes the United States to
recover civil penalties for violations of, or conspiracies to violate, four provisions of

Title 18 of the United States Code:

12
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30.

18 U.S.C. § 1006: which proscribes any entity or individual

“connected in any capacity with . . . [HUD]” from “make[ing]
any false entry in any book, report or statement of or to [HUD]”
with the “intent to . . . deceive any officer, auditor, examiner or

agent . .. of [a] department or agency of the United States”;

18 U.S.C. § 1014: which proscribes “knowingly mak[ing] any

false statement or report, or willingly overvalu[ing] any land,
property or security, for the purpose of influencing in any way

the action of the [FHA] . . .;”

18 U.S.C. § 1341 (Mail Fraud Affecting a Financial Institution):

which proscribes the use of “the Postal Service, or ... private or
commercial interstate carrier” for the purpose of executing, or
attempting to execute, “[a] scheme or artifice to defraud, or for
obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent

pretenses, representations, or promises . . .”;

18 U.S.C. § 1343 (Wire Fraud Affecting a Financial Institution):

which proscribes the use of “wire . . . in interstate or foreign
commerce” for the purpose of executing, or attempting to
execute, “[a] scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining
money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses,

2

representations, or promises . . ..

The False Claims Act authorizes the United States to seek treble
damages and statutory civil penalties against, among others, any person (i) who
“knowingly presents, or causes to be presented, a false or fraudulent claim for
payment or approval;” (i1) who “knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or
used, a false record or statement material to a false or fraudulent claim;” or (ii1)

conspires to commit such a violation of the FCA. 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(A)—(C).

13
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31. Finally, the Fraud Injunction Statute authorizes the United States to
commence a civil action to enjoin any “person” who is “violating or about to violate”
(among other criminal statutes) 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006, 1014, 1341, and 1343, from
committing further violations of those statutes. 18 U.S.C. § 1345(a)(I)(B).

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

A. HUD’S MORTGAGE INSURANCE PROGRAM

32. Under the National Housing Act of 1934, 12 U.S.C. § 1709 et seq.,
HUD, through FHA, provides mortgage insurance to first-time and low-income
home-buyers seeking residential mortgages, as well as older home-owners seeking
reverse mortgages.

33. To qualify for HUD mortgage insurance, a mortgage loan must meet
all the applicable HUD requirements. Those requirements relate to, among other
things, adequacy of the buyer’s income to meet the mortgage payments and other
obligations, the buyer’s credit-worthiness, appropriateness of the valuation for the
property subject to the mortgage, and the absence of any kickbacks or fraudulent
payments made or promised in connection with the transaction.

34. In the mortgage industry, the imprimatur of HUD mortgage insurance
makes covered mortgage loans highly marketable for resale to investors — both
because such loans are expected to have met HUD requirements and because they
are insured by the full faith and credit of the United States.

B. THE SELLER’S AND THE BUYER’S OBLIGATIONS IN CONNECTION
WITH OBTAINING HUD-INSURED MORTGAGE LOANS

35. For a sale that involves a HUD-insured mortgage loan to close, the

seller must execute a Settlement Statement, a standard HUD form that is

14
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commonly known as the HUD-1. In connection with executing that form, the seller
1s required to certify that the HUD-1 Settlement Statement accurately reflects “all
receipts and disbursements” made by the seller.

36. Specifically, the seller must ensure that the HUD-1 Settlement
Statement reflects all the payments that it made to, or on behalf of, the buyer to
consummate the sale, including any payment made by the seller that was not for
purposes of contributing to the buyer’s actual closing costs, prepaid expenses,
discount points, or another financing concession. Under HUD rules, any such
payment by the seller is deemed an inducement to purchase, and it must be
reflected in the Settlement Statement as a reduction to the purchase price for the
purpose of HUD insurance.

37. To properly close the sale transaction and obtain HUD mortgage
insurance, the buyer must sign the Settlement Statement and certify that the
Settlement Statement accurately reflects “all receipts and disbursements” made by
the buyer. The buyer also must complete a Uniform Residential Loan Application
(the “URLA” or the “Loan Application”) and certify to HUD that the URLA contains
full and accurate information regarding his or her income, assets, and liabilities.

38. In addition, to qualify for HUD mortgage insurance in connection with
purchasing a residential property, the buyer must certify that he or she intends to
use the property to be purchased as his or her primary residence and must assist
the mortgage lender in verifying the information provided by the buyer pertaining

to his or her income, assets and liabilities, and credit history.

15
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C. CAMBRIDGE’S DUTIES AS A HUD DIRECT ENDORSER

39. HUD insures mortgage loans only when they are originated and
underwritten by HUD-approved lenders. The HUD-approved lenders participate in
HUD’s Direct Endorser Program, which delegates to the participating direct
endorsers the responsibility for ensuring that mortgage loan applications meet the
requirements for HUD mortgage insurance. See 24 C.F.R. § 203.5(a).

40. During all relevant times, Cambridge was a HUD-approved direct
endorser and originated hundreds of mortgage loans that were insured by HUD
based on Cambridge’s certifications that those loans met HUD requirements and
qualified for HUD insurance. Indeed, a substantial majority of the mortgage loans
originated by Cambridge from 2005 to 2008 were subject to HUD mortgage
Insurance.

41. During all relevant times, Kramer, Hyman, and Derrell each possessed
a personal 1identification code in the Computerized Homes Underwriting
Management System (“CHUMS”), also known as a CHUMS ID number, which
allowed them to underwrite loans and make certifications to HUD regarding the
eligibility of mortgage loans for HUD insurance. Kramer, Hyman, and Derrell had
applied for and obtained their CHUMS ID numbers from HUD.

42. As a HUD direct endorser, Cambridge was required, under HUD
regulations, to exercise due diligence in underwriting mortgage loans that it
approved for HUD mortgage insurance. See 24 C.F.R. § 203.5(c). Specifically,
Cambridge was required, among other things, (1) to exercise due care to “obtain|]

and verify[] information for a loan;” (ii) to exercise due care in ascertaining that the

16



Case 1:10-cv-09280-LGS Document 96 Filed 02/15/12 Page 17 of 210

loan application was suitable for mortgage insurance under relevant HUD
requirements and, generally, under the standards for prudent underwriting; and
(111) to make certifications to HUD as to the accuracy and completeness of the
information submitted to HUD and that the mortgage loan met HUD requirements
and the standards for prudent underwriting. Id.

1. Cambridge’s Duties to Verify the Information in the Documents
Submitted to HUD

43. As a direct endorser, Cambridge’s endorsement of a mortgage loan for
HUD insurance was required to be based on the submission of the following
documentations to HUD:

a. URLA and Addendum, which must be signed and dated by all
buyers and by Cambridge;

b. Mortgage Credit Analysis Worksheet (“MCAW”), in which
Cambridge was required to truthfully and accurately enumerate
the buyer’s available assets and income, as well as the expected
costs of both the mortgage and other fixed payments owed by the

buyer;
c. Credit reports for all buyers;
d. Verifications of Employment for all buyers;

e. Verification of available funds from the buyer’s bank, and the

buyer’s most recent bank statements;

f. Verifications of Rent or Payment History of Present and Previous

Mortgages for all buyers; and

g. HUD-1 Settlement Statement, which must reflect “all receipts and
disbursements” by and to the seller and the buyer, as well as any

payment by the seller that is an inducement to purchase.

17
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44. Under HUD rules and regulations, Cambridge had a duty to verify the
accuracy and completeness of all the information in the documents that it submitted
to HUD, as identified in Paragraph 43.

45. Specifically, Cambridge had the duty to verify that the HUD-1
Settlement Statement fully reflected all the payments and disbursement between
the buyer and the seller, or persons affiliated with the seller, including any
payment made by the seller that constituted an inducement to purchase.

46. Likewise, Cambridge had the duty to verify that a buyer seeking a
HUD-insured mortgage in a purchase transaction qualified as a first-time home-
buyer under HUD rules and regulations.

47. Moreover, Cambridge had the duty to verify each component of the
buyer’s total income reported in the Loan Application. Specifically, Cambridge had
a duty to reconcile and document any discrepancy between the amount of any
income component as stated in the Loan Application and the amount of such income
component as reported by other sources.

11. Cambridge’s Duties as the Underwriter

48. As a direct endorser, Cambridge had a duty to assess the adequacy of a
buyer’s income and available assets for meeting his or her mortgage payments and
other fixed payment obligations. Specifically, Cambridge was required to solicit
information that would provide a complete picture of the buyer’s overall financial
situation.

49. Among other things, Cambridge had the duty to calculate a buyer’s

verifiable income and determine the likelihood that such income would continue

18
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through at least the first three years of the mortgage. In particular, Cambridge was
required to ascertain the following from a buyer:

a. salaries, wages, and other regular payments such as social security

or retirement benefits;
b. any alimony, child support or maintenance income; and

c. any net rental income from property owned by the buyer.

50. As a direct endorser, Cambridge also had the duty to compute, and to
document on the MCAW forms, two qualifying ratios to determine whether the
buyer could reasonably be expected to meet the expenses involved in home
ownership, and otherwise provide for the buyer’s family. First, Cambridge had to
compute the Mortgage Payment to Effective Income Total ratio (the “MP/I Ratio”),
which reflects the buyer’s mortgage payment (including payments into an escrow
account for taxes, insurance and any other assessments) as a percentage of his or
her effective, i.e., gross, income. Second, Cambridge had to compute the Total Fixed
Payment to Effective Income ratio (the “FP/I Ratio”, and, collectively with the MP/I
Ratio, the “Qualifying Ratios”), which reflects the buyer’s mortgage payments plus
all other recurring obligations, as a percentage of his or her effective income.

51. Under HUD rules and regulations, Cambridge was forbidden from
approving for HUD mortgage insurance any mortgage loan for which the MP/I Ratio
exceeded 31% or the FP/I Ratio exceeded 43%, unless Cambridge otherwise
determined that one or more significant “compensating factors” were present to
justify making the loan under prudent underwriting principles. To approve any

mortgage loan with a qualifying ratio that exceeded these HUD thresholds,

19
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Cambridge was required to document on the MCAW form the existence of all
compensating factors, which included whether a buyer had:

a. demonstrated the ability to pay housing expenses equal to or greater
than the proposed monthly housing expense for the new mortgage over

the past twelve to twenty-four months;

b. demonstrated an ability to accumulate savings and a conservative

attitude toward the use of credit;
c. only a minimal increase in the housing expense; or

d. at least three months’ documented cash reserves after closing.

52. As a direct endorser, it was Cambridge’s duty to judge the overall
merit of loan applications by determining — beyond mechanically applying the HUD
requirements — whether the loan transactions complied with standards of prudent
underwriting. Specifically, Cambridge was required to ascertain whether the
mortgage amount was inflated because the buyer had been given any pecuniary
inducements to purchase the property subject to the mortgage.

11l. Cambridge’s Duties under Its Quality Control Plans

53. As a condition for obtaining and maintaining its direct endorser status,
Cambridge was required by HUD regulations to promulgate an adequate quality
control plan and to comply fully with its quality control plan in deciding whether to
endorse mortgage loans for HUD insurance.

54. In 2004, in connection with the resolution of an audit of Cambridge by
HUD, Cambridge also certified to HUD that it would comply fully with its quality

control plan in determining whether to endorse mortgage loans for HUD insurance.
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55. During all relevant times, under its quality control plans, Cambridge

had the duty to, among other things, perform the following:

a.

1v.

Resolve and document all conflicting information or discrepancies

in the application files;

Determine whether the sale transaction was a flip sale by
reviewing whether a seller had acquired the mortgage property at

the time of or soon before closing; and
Obtain appropriate tax returns for all self-employed buyers;

Determine whether the appraised value was established
appropriately, using reasonable comparables and reasonable

adjustments;

Determine whether the loan file contains pertinent documentation

of the buyer’s source of funds for the required initial investment;

Determine whether there are sufficient and documented
compensating factors if the qualifying ratios exceeded HUD limits;

and

Determine whether the HUD-1 settlement statement was

accurately prepared and properly certified.

Cambridge’s Certifications to HUD

56. Under HUD rules and regulations, for each mortgage loan that it

originated that was insured by HUD, Cambridge was required to make a series of

certifications to HUD in the HUD Addendum to Uniform Residential Loan

Application and the Direct Endorsement Approval for a HUD/FHA Insured

Mortgage, commonly known as the HUD 1003 Addendum, including certifications

that:
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a. The loan terms furnished in the URLA and the HUD 1003

Addendum were true, accurate and complete;

b. Each closing condition that Cambridge had enumerated in the

commitment letter that Cambridge issued to the buyer had been met;

c. The information contained in the URLA and the HUD 1003
Addendum had been obtained directly from the buyer by a
Cambridge employee or its duly authorized agent and was true to the

best of Cambridge’s knowledge and belief;

d. The verification of employment was requested and received by the
lender without passing through the hands of any third persons and

was true to the best of Cambridge’s knowledge and belief;

e. The verification of deposit was requested and received by the lender
without passing through the hands of any third persons and was true

to the best of Cambridge’s knowledge and belief;

f.  The proposed loan to the buyer met the income and credit

requirements of the governing law in Cambridge’s judgment;

g. Cambridge employees had personally reviewed any appraisal report,

credit application, and all associated documents;
h. Cambridge had used due diligence in underwriting the mortgage;

1.  Statements made by Cambridge in the application for HUD

Insurance were true and correct;

j.  Statements made by Cambridge in the Lender's Certificate were true

and correct;

k. Complete disbursement of the loan would be made to the buyer, or to

his or her creditors for his or her account and with his or her consent;

I.  Cambridge had not paid any kickback, fee or consideration of any

type, directly or indirectly, to any party in connection with the
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transaction except as permitted under HUD regulations and

administrative instructions;

m. An officer at Cambridge had personally reviewed the mortgage loan
documents, closing statements, application for insurance

endorsement, and all accompanying documents;

n. An officer at Cambridge had made all certifications required for the

mortgage by HUD Handbook 4000.4; and

o. Cambridge made all certifications otherwise required by HUD,

including:

1. The buyer’s monthly mortgage payments will not be in excess of

his or her reasonable ability to pay, see 24 C.F.R. § 203.21;

1. The buyer’s income is and will be adequate to meet the periodic
payments required to amortize the mortgage submitted for

insurance, see 24 C.F.R. § 203.33; and

1i. The buyer’s general credit standing is satisfactory. See 24

C.F.R. § 203.34.

57. In addition, Cambridge, as a direct endorser, had an independent duty
to ensure the quality and accuracy of appraisals. See 24 C.F.R. § 203.5(e)(3).
Specifically, Cambridge was required to certify to HUD, in the Underwriter's
Analysis of Appraisal Reports, that a mortgage property was appraised using
acceptable comparable properties to determine their values and that the appraisals
and related documentation satisfied HUD’s appraisal requirements.

58. Finally, and as a condition for maintaining its participation in HUD’s
Direct Endorser Program, Cambridge was required to submit to HUD, on an annual
basis, a certification by its President or Vice President that Cambridge had

conformed to all HUD regulations necessary to maintain its HUD approval as a
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direct endorser, that Cambridge was responsible for all actions of its employees, and
that Cambridge had complied fully with the requirements of its quality control
plans. During the relevant times, Kramer and Hyman made the annual
certifications to HUD on behalf of Cambridge.

D. APPRAISERS’ DUTIES IN APPRAISING PROPERTIES THAT WOULD
BE SOLD SUBJECT TO HUD MORTGAGE INSURANCE

59. As a prerequisite to the approval of any mortgage loan insured by
HUD under the Direct Endorsement Program, a direct endorser, such as
Cambridge, is required to have the subject property appraised by an appraiser
listed on HUD’s FHA Appraiser Roster (an “FHA Roster Appraiser”). See 24 C.F.R.
§§ 200.200(a); 203.5(e)(1).

60. During all relevant times, JJG offered appraisal services by FHA
Roster Appraisers, including Goldberg and another JJG appraiser, in connection
with HUD-insured mortgage transactions. Specifically, JJG issued at least seven
appraisal reports in connection with Cohen’s flip sales.

61. During all relevant times, Buckley was an FHA Roster Appraiser.
Through Premier, Buckley offered appraisal services in connection with HUD-
insured mortgage transactions. Specifically, as an FHA Roster Appraiser, Buckley
issued at least five appraisal reports in connection with the 17 flip sales described
herein, and has issued or otherwise obtained dozens of additional appraisal reports
in connection with other flip sales orchestrated by Cohen between 2007 and today.

62. During all relevant times, Micheline was an FHA Roster Appraiser.

Micheline offered appraisal services in connection with HUD-insured mortgage
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transactions. Specifically, as an FHA Roster Appraiser, Micheline issued at least
four appraisal reports in connection with Cohen’s flip sales.

63. FHA Roster Appraisers are obligated to comply with all requirements
set forth in the HUD Appraiser Handbook and all other instructions and standards
issued by HUD in conducting appraisals. See 24 C.F.R. §§ 200.206(b), (c).

64. FHA Roster Appraisers must ensure that their appraisals and related
documentation satisfy HUD requirements for FHA appraisals, and they bear
responsibility for the quality of their appraisals in meeting HUD requirements. See
24 C.F.R. § 203.5(c)(3).

65. Among other requirements imposed by HUD, an FHA Roster
Appraiser must:

a. Perform all appraisal services commensurate with the standards and
requirements of HUD, and with HUD as the intended user of the

appraisal report along with the mortgagee;

b. Adhere to all standards set forth in the Uniform Standards of
Professional Appraisal Practice (“USPAP”), including performing
complete appraisals as defined by USPAP;

c. Perform appraisals with impartiality, objectivity, and independence,

and without accommodation of personal interests;

d. Avoid practices that do not comply with HUD or USPAP standards,
such as estimating a specified value of a mortgage property that was
pre-determined by the mortgagee — a practice commonly referred to as

“hitting a number”;

e. Verify all market and comparable information used in the appraisal

process to ensure that the information is accurate and meaningful and
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provides the appraiser with a firm understanding of market

motivations and trends;

f. Adhere to HUD requirements regarding selection and use of

comparable sale and rental properties;

g. Analyze all sales of the mortgage property that occurred within the

three years prior to the effective date of the appraisal;

h. Include in the appraisal report all internal and external factors, known
as “obsolescences,” that are likely to detract from the value of the

mortgage property;

1. Specify an “effective date of value,” which is the date when the
appraiser physically inspects the mortgage property; or, if another date
is specifically defined by the mortgagee, indicate the alternative date

and the date on which the property was physically inspected;

j. Clearly and accurately set forth the appraisal in a manner that will
not be misleading, including sufficient information to enable the

intended users of the appraisal to understand the report properly; and

k. Sign the appraisal report, which makes the appraiser fully and wholly
accountable for the information presented and for the appraisal’s

findings.
66. In adherence to HUD requirements and the USPAP Ethics Rule, FHA
Roster Appraisers must not use or communicate a misleading or fraudulent
appraisal report or knowingly permit an employee or other person to communicate a

misleading or fraudulent appraisal report.

E. CAMBRIDGE’S RESALE OF MORTGAGE LOANS TO CITI-MORTGAGE,
INC. AND COUNTRYWIDE HOME MORTGAGES, INC.

67. During all relevant times, Citi Mortgage, Inc. (“Citi”) was a wholly-

owned subsidiary of Citibank, a financial institution insured by the Federal Deposit
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Insurance Corporation (the “FDIC”).

68. From at least May 2002 to September 2008, Citi purchased from
Cambridge hundreds of mortgage loans, including loans that Cambridge had
originated to finance Cohen’s flip sales.

69. During all relevant times, Citi purchased mortgage loans from
Cambridge pursuant to a Loan Purchase Agreement that it had with Cambridge
(the “Citi Loan Purchase Agreement”). Pursuant to that agreement, Citi relied on
Cambridge’s underwriting determinations in deciding whether to purchase a
mortgage loan from Cambridge. Specifically, Citi relied on Cambridge’s
determinations as to, among other things, whether a loan met HUD requirements
for mortgage insurance, whether the transaction involved any kickback or any
inducement to purchase, and whether the buyers had sufficient income and
creditworthiness.

70. Citi also relied on documents submitted by Cambridge, such as the
Loan Application, the MCAW form, and the HUD-1 Settlement Statement.
Cambridge transmitted those and other documents to Citi by interstate mail and by
wire. Under the Citi Loan Purchase Agreement, Cambridge warranted that none of
the statements in the documents provided to Citi contained any misrepresentation,
false statement, or misleading omission.

71. Under the Citi Loan Purchase Agreement, Cambridge was permitted
to sell to Citi only loans for which the buyers had made the first monthly mortgage
payment. Further, Citi had the right to demand that Cambridge repurchase any

mortgage loan that defaulted within the first six months of its term.

27



Case 1:10-cv-09280-LGS Document 96 Filed 02/15/12 Page 28 of 210

72. After Citi purchased HUD-insured mortgage loans from Cambridge,
Citi typically sold such loans to trusts, which then issued mortgage-backed
securities (“MBS”) to investors, backed by guarantees from Ginnie Mae.

73. Pursuant to the terms of its resale of mortgage loans to the MBS-
issuing trusts, Citi retained the obligation to make mortgage payments for any
loans that defaulted. Thus, for each loan Citi purchased from Cambridge that
defaulted, Citi suffered interim losses for a period of months — between the time of
default and the time when, after a foreclosure sale, Citi would receive insurance
proceeds from HUD.

74. From in or about 2001 to in or about July 2008, Countrywide Home
Loans, Inc. (“Countrywide”) was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Countrywide Bank, a
financial institution insured by the FDIC.

75. From in or about at least April 2001 to 2008, Countrywide purchased
from Cambridge hundreds of mortgage loans, including a number of loans that
Cambridge had originated to finance Cohen’s flip sales.

76. During all relevant times, Countrywide purchased mortgage loans
from Cambridge pursuant to a Loan Purchase Agreement that it had with
Cambridge (the “Countrywide Loan Purchase Agreement”). Pursuant to that
agreement, Countrywide relied on Cambridge’s underwriting determinations in
deciding whether to purchase a mortgage loan from Cambridge. Specifically,
Countrywide relied on Cambridge’s determinations as to, among other things,

whether a loan met HUD requirements for mortgage insurance, whether the
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transaction involved any kickback or any inducement to purchase, and whether the
buyers had sufficient income and creditworthiness.

717. Countrywide also relied on documents submitted by Cambridge, such
as the Loan Application, the MCAW form, and the HUD-1 Settlement Statement.
Cambridge transmitted those and other documents to Countrywide by interstate
mail and by wire. Under the Countrywide Loan Purchase Agreement, Cambridge
warranted that all representations made in the documents that it submitted to
Countrywide were true and correct.

78. Under the Countrywide Loan Purchase Agreement, Countrywide had
the right to demand that Cambridge repurchase any mortgage loan for which the
buyer failed to make the first monthly mortgage payment or for which the buyer
was 90 days delinquent on any monthly mortgage payment within the first twelve
months of the term of the loan.

79. After Countrywide purchased HUD-insured mortgage loans from
Cambridge, Countrywide typically sold such loans to trusts, which then issued MBS
to investors, backed by guarantees from Ginnie Mae.

80. Pursuant to the terms of its resale of mortgage loans to the MBS-
issuing trusts, Countrywide retained the obligation to make mortgage payments for
any loans that defaulted. Thus, for each loan Countrywide purchased from
Cambridge that defaulted, Countrywide suffered interim losses for a period of
months — between the time of default and the time when, after a foreclosure sale,

Countrywide would receive insurance proceeds from HUD.

29



Case 1:10-cv-09280-LGS Document 96 Filed 02/15/12 Page 30 of 210

DEFENDANTS’ SCHEMES TO DEFRAUD HUD AND TO COMMIT FRAUD
AFFECTING FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

81. Defendants profited from their mortgage fraud schemes by abusing the
positions of trust that the Cambridge Defendants and the Appraiser Defendants
occupied within HUD’s mortgage insurance program. Specifically, HUD delegated
to Cambridge, in its role as a direct endorser, the responsibility to ascertain the
appropriateness of extending HUD insurance for any mortgage loan, including the
loans used to finance Cohen’s flip sale transactions. Similarly, the Appraiser
Defendants, as FHA Roster Appraisers, warranted to HUD that they would
perform appraisals objectively and refrain from “hitting the numbers” pre-
determined by either Cambridge or Cohen. In reality, however, both the
Cambridge Defendants and the Appraiser Defendants willfully disregarded their
obligations to HUD, choosing instead to conspire with Cohen and the Cohen
Entities to create and submit false documents, false certifications, and inflated
appraisals tailored to justify Cohen’s flip sales.

82. Defendants similarly exploited Cambridge’s relationship with Citi and
Countrywide in connection with their fraudulent schemes. Specifically, despite
warranting to Citi and Countrywide that it was providing true and correct
information and documents in connection with the sale of each mortgage loan,
Cambridge knowingly and willfully submitted to Citi and Countrywide false
records, false certifications, and inflated appraisals, to induce them to purchase the

mortgage loans that it had originated to finance Cohen’s flip sales.
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83. In furtherance of defendants’ mortgage fraud schemes, Cohen and the
Cohen Entities (1) misrepresented to buyers the true costs of home-ownership; (i)
gave buyers money to induce them to purchase; (i11) conspired with Cambridge to
create fraudulent records to inflate buyers’ incomes or to understate their
Liabilities; and (iv) induced buyers to purchase by structuring the sales such that
nearly all of the down payments and closing costs would be paid from the mortgage
loans, rather than by the buyers. Cohen and Cohen Entities engaged in such
conduct for purposes of inducing inexperienced buyers to purchase homes at
inflated prices, fraudulently obtaining HUD insurance for the mortgage loans used
to finance such the flip sales, and fraudulently inducing Citi or Countrywide to
purchase such mortgage loans from Cambridge.

84. In furtherance of defendants’ mortgage fraud schemes, the Cambridge
Defendants (1) conspired with Cohen and the Cohen Entities to create false records
to inflate buyers’ incomes or to understate their liabilities; (i1) created false records,
such as HUD-1 Settlement Statements and gift affidavits, to hide the fact that
Cohen provided the funds for buyers to pay off their personal debts; (ii1) made false
certifications to HUD about whether the mortgage loans used to finance Cohen’s
fraudulent flip sales met requirements for HUD insurance and whether Cambridge
met its duties as a direct endorser; (iv) sent payments to creditors of buyers to pay
off the buyers’ personal debts; and (iv) made false representations to, or withheld
material information from, Citi and Countrywide. Cambridge engaged in such

conduct for purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD insurance for the mortgage
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loans that it originated to finance Cohen’s flip sales and fraudulently inducing Citi
and Countrywide to purchase such loans.

85. In furtherance of defendants’ mortgage fraud schemes, the Appraiser
Defendants prepared false and fraudulent appraisal reports, which contained
(1) inflated valuations for homes sold by Cohen, (i1) inflated estimates for rental
incomes for such properties, and (i11) false certifications regarding compliance with
HUD appraisal standards. The Appraiser Defendants created the false and
fraudulent reports for purposes of enabling Cohen, the Cohen Entities, and the
Cambridge Defendants to obtain HUD insurance for mortgage loans used to
finance Cohen’s flip sales and to induce Citi or Countrywide to purchase such
loans.

86. From orchestrating the seventeen fraudulent flip sales, Cohen and the
Cohen Entities received direct payments, as well as payments made indirectly to
individuals and entities affiliated with them. Specifically, Cohen arranged for
numerous payments to be made through Mark Wolf, his partner at Gramercy and
Buy-a-Home; Wolf & Wolf, a firm controlled by Mark Wolf; and Erin Davis, a
manager at Buy-a-Home. In total, the direct and indirect payments to Cohen and
the Cohen Entities amount to more than $1.3 million.

87. For their participation in the seventeen fraudulent flip sales, the
Cambridge Defendants collectively and individually derived at least $400,000 in
fees, resale proceeds, profits, kickbacks, and interest. First, Cambridge, and
Kramer and Hyman as its principals, received more than $140,000 in loan

origination fees from those flip sales. Second, Cambridge also earned more than
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$180,000 from reselling such loans to Citi and Countrywide. Third, Cambridge
received more than $120,000 in proceeds from a flip sale — which Cohen
orchestrated — of a property that Cambridge owned on Beach 46th Street. Fourth,
Cambridge and its principals received tens of thousands of dollars in kickbacks
from Cohen. Fifth, Kramer and Hyman also benefitted from Cohen’s fraudulent
flip sales because CFG, which Kramer and Hyman owned, received more than
$130,000 from those sales, in repayment of high-interest loans that CFG had made
to Gramercy.

88. Lastly, the Appraiser Defendants also profited from their participation
in the mortgage fraud schemes by ensuring that they would get additional
appraisal business from Cambridge or Cohen. Specifically, by agreeing to “hit the
numbers” for Cambridge on eight flip sales by Cohen, Goldberg positioned JJG to
receive more than 275 appraisal assignments from Cambridge in 2007 and 2008,
which translated to approximately $150,000 in appraisal fees. Similarly, by
helping Cohen decide how much to inflate sales prices and by issuing or obtaining
inflated appraisals that “hit the numbers” for Cohen’s flip sales, Buckley ensured
that he would make hundreds of thousands of dollars from his participation in
Cohen’s schemes. See infra at 49 481-514. Among other things, Buckley profited
from dozens of referrals to Premier for appraisals in connection with Cohen’s flip
sales; numerous assignments for IDU Renovations, Buckley’s construction
business, to perform superficial renovations on properties that Cohen flipped; and
Cohen’s assistance in arranging flip sales of residential properties that Buckley

owned through 10253 Realty or One World Properties.
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89. Described below are seventeen fraudulent sales orchestrated by the
defendants as part of their scheme to fraudulently obtain HUD mortgage insurance
and to commit fraud by mail and wire, affecting financial institutions. In addition
to those specific transactions, defendants, separately or in combination, likely
orchestrated, or participated in, numerous other frauds on HUD and affecting
financial institutions.

A. HUD LOAN NO. 1: 116TH STREET, RICHMOND HILL

90. From in or about February 2007 to in or about July 2007, Cohen, the
Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, CFG, Premier, Buckley, and Micheline
conspired to orchestrate the flip sale of a property located on 116th Street in the
Richmond Hill neighborhood in Queens, New York (the “116th Street Property”) at
an inflated price to buyers who lacked the financial wherewithal to purchase the
property.

91. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt
agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, CFG, Premaier,
Buckley, and Micheline obtained HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount
of $360,355 used to finance the fraudulent flip sale of the 116th Street Property
(“HUD Loan No. 17), and sold HUD Loan No. 1 to Citi, by misrepresenting the true
cost of home ownership, paying off the buyers’ personal debts to induce them to
purchase, obtaining an inflated appraisal for the 116th Street Property, creating
false records to omit inducements to purchase, falsely certifying compliance with
HUD requirements, and submitting false and misleading records to HUD and to

Citi.
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92. In or about February 2007, Cohen bought the 116t Street Property for
$275,000. At the time of that purchase, Cohen knew that the 116th Street Property
required repairs to the roof, as well as the renovation of a kitchen and a bathroom.
But, instead of repairing these conditions, Cohen and Buckley worked in concert to
inflate the price for the 116th Street Property. Specifically, in February and March
2007, Buckley and Premier appraiser Peter Sarafian prepared two inflated
appraisals, purporting to show that, with only minimal improvements (without
repairing the roof, kitchen, or bathroom), the 116th Street Property was worth
$420,000, i.e., 53% more than what Cohen had just paid to purchase the home.

93. In or about May and June 2007, i.e., less than four months later,
Cohen induced two inexperienced, first-time home-buyers, Buyers 1-A and 1-B, to
purchase the 116th Street Property, for $371,500. In connection with that sale,
Cohen had Buckley issue, on June 14, 2007, an inflated appraisal intended for
Cambridge, again valuing the property at $420,000. In his June 2007 appraisal,
Buckley falsely stated that there were “no repairs needed or physical inadequacies”
at the 116th Street Property, whereas, in fact, Cohen had never repaired the roof or
renovated the kitchen or bathroom. Buckley also falsely certified that his appraisal
had been conducted in accordance with HUD appraisal standards, when he actually
had failed to comply with numerous HUD standards, including, among others, to
select suitably comparable sales comparisons and to justify the substantial
appreciation from February to June (approximately 53%) in the absence of major

repairs.
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94. Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, referred Buyers 1-A and 1-B to Lapidus
at Cambridge for purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage from Cambridge,
based on a corrupt agreement or understanding between Cohen and the Cambridge
Defendants that Cambridge would endorse an application for HUD insurance
irrespective of whether Buyers 1-A and 1-B qualified for such insurance or whether
the 116th Street Property was worth $371,500.

95.  On or about June 8, 2007, Micheline issued an appraisal report for the
116th Street Property, valuing the property at $372,000. The appraisal report
issued by Micheline, like Buckley’s, contained an inflated valuation for the property
and numerous other falsities.

96.  Specifically, Micheline significantly inflated the valuation of the 116th
Street Property by stating that the property had three bedrooms, when it actually
had only two bedrooms. Micheline also inflated the valuation of the 116tk Street
Property by claiming in his report that “no major repairs [were] required.” In fact,
that property required numerous major repairs — according to a “post-closing
agreement” between Cohen and the buyers, dated June 14, 2007, the repairs needed
at the 116th Street Property included, among other things, “[to] replace kitchen,” [to]
repair leader from roof”, and “to refurbish bathroom.” A copy of that Post-Closing
Agreement is attached to this Complaint as Exhibit 1.

97. Further, Micheline falsely certified that his appraisal of the 116th
Street Property had been conducted in accordance with HUD appraisal standards.
In fact, Micheline’s appraisal failed to comply with numerous HUD standards,

including, among others, to select suitably comparable sales comparisons and to
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justify the substantial appreciation during Cohen’s four-month ownership (a value
increase of approximately 35%), when no major repairs had been performed.

98. On June 12, 2007, and in connection with originating HUD Loan No. 1,
Cambridge issued a commitment letter to Buyers 1-A and 1-B, which required, as a
condition that must be fulfilled prior to closing, that those buyers pay off certain
personal debts owed to creditors such as Capital One and Cingular.

99. On June 14, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed HUD Loan No.
1 to Buyers 1-A and 1-B. Kramer, acting as the underwriter, certified to HUD that
HUD Loan No. 1 met HUD’s underwriting requirements. Further, Derrell,
certifying on behalf of Cambridge, endorsed HUD Loan No. 2 to HUD for mortgage
insurance.

100. Specifically, Cambridge certified to HUD that all closing conditions
listed in the commitment letter issued by Cambridge had been met by the time of
closing on June 14, 2007. In fact, however, Cambridge knew that Buyers 1-A and 1-
B had not paid off their personal debts prior to closing, because those debts would
not be paid off until Cambridge issued approximately $6,500 in checks to Buyers
1-A’s and 1-B’s creditors, including Capital One and Cingular, on June 22, 2007.
Hyman personally signed those checks issued by Cambridge.

101. Cambridge also certified to HUD that the closing documents for HUD
Loan No. 1, including the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, were true and correct. In
fact, however, Cambridge knew that the HUD-1 was false and misleading because it

omitted the fact that Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, was providing $6,500 to pay off

37



Case 1:10-cv-09280-LGS Document 96 Filed 02/15/12 Page 38 of 210

Buyers 1-A’s and 1-B’s personal debts, which payment should have been reflected
on the HUD-1 as an inducement to purchase.

102. Further, to conceal the fact that Cohen was providing the funds to pay
off Buyers 1-A’s and 1-B’s personal debts, the Cambridge Defendants conspired with
Cohen and the Cohen Entities to create records to assert falsely that the funds for
paying off those debts had come from Buyers 1-A’s and 1-B’s own funds.

103. Specifically, Derrell created a false note stating that, at closing,
Cambridge had received $6,500 in cash from Buyers 1-A and 1-B, for the purpose of
paying off their personal debts. According to Derrell’s note, Buyers 1-A and 1-B had
obtained $6,500 in cash by cashing their 2006 tax refund check. Derrell’s note
provided Cambridge with an explanation for why Buyers 1-A’s and 1-B’s bank
account statements did not reflect their depositing the tax refund check and then
withdrawing cash to pay Cambridge. Derrell, however, knew that her note was
false because Buyers 1-A and 1-B did not give any cash to Cambridge.

104. In connection with endorsing HUD Loan No. 1 for HUD mortgage
isurance, Cambridge certified to HUD that neither it nor its principals had any
financial stake in the sale of the 116th Street Property. In fact, Cambridge’s affiliate
CFG held a junior mortgage against that property, in the amount of more than
$100,000. Thus, by originating a HUD-insured loan to finance Cohen’s flip sale of
the 116th Street Property, Cambridge’s principals Kramer and Hyman stood to be
paid in full on CFG’s loan. In other words, and contrary to Cambridge’s certification
to HUD, Kramer and Hyman each had a direct financial stake in the sale of the

116th Street Property.
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105. Further, Cambridge, through Kramer, also falsely certified HUD Loan
No. 1 to HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that HUD Loan No. 1 failed

to comply with HUD requirements in, among others, the following respects:

a. HUD Loan No. 1 had Qualifying Ratios (44.16% and 54.23%) that
significantly exceeded HUD thresholds (31% and 43%, respectively),

and did not have any applicable compensating factor; and

a. Micheline’s appraisal for the 116th Street Property had not been
conducted in accordance with HUD requirements and contained

an inflated valuation for the 116th Street Property.

106. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 1, Buyers 2-A and 2-B
contributed only a minimal amount to the down payment or closing costs associated
with purchasing the 116th Street Property. Instead, Cohen, as the seller, paid
$11,145 toward the down payment and $15,682.36 in closing costs, both of which
were paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 1. In other words, Cohen
induced Buyers 1-A and 1-B to buy the property at an inflated price by effectively
paying the entire upfront cost of buying that home.

107. On July 27, 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 1 to Countrywide,
pursuant to the Countrywide Loan Purchase Agreement and received more than
$11,000 from the sale of that loan.

108. Cohen provided $6,500 to pay off Buyers 1-A’s and 1-B’s personal
debts, and also paid for nearly all of the down payment and closing costs, to induce
Buyers 1-A and 1-B to obtain HUD Loan No. 1 based on an inflated price for the

116th Street Property. In connection with that sale, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home

39



Case 1:10-cv-09280-LGS Document 96 Filed 02/15/12 Page 40 of 210

and Wolf & Wolf, made more than $81,000 in profits, from the disbursement of
HUD Loan No. 1.

109. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the
Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of the 116th Street Property to Buyers 1-A
and 1-B at an inflated price, Cambridge received more than $20,000 in fees and
resale proceeds for originating HUD Loan No. 1. Further, CFG received more than
$106,000 in disbursement from HUD Loan No. 1, in repayment of the loan it had
made to Gramercy.

110. Micheline, who provided an inflated appraisal for the 116th Street
Property based on a corrupt agreement or understanding with the Cambridge
Defendants, not only was paid $450 for that appraisal, but also ensured that he
would receive additional appraisal referrals from Cambridge. Similarly, Buckley,
through Premier, was paid $1,075 by Cohen and Cambridge for his inflated
appraisals and ensured future appraisal referrals from Cohen. In addition, by
working in concert with Cohen to orchestrate the flip sale of the 116th Street
Property, Buckley further cemented the corrupt and lucrative relationship between
his business interests and Cohen’s. See supra at 9 88.

111. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent
flip sale of the 116th Street Property, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge
Defendants, CFG, Buckley, Premier, and Micheline used interstate mail carriers
and interstate wire to transmit documents that contained false and misleading
information, including, among other documents, false and fraudulent gift affidavits,

appraisal report, and HUD Addendum.
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112. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants and Micheline submitted to
HUD numerous false records and certifications, including the appraisal report for
the 116th Street Property and the Settlement Statement and HUD Addendum for
HUD Loan No. 1. Based on those false certifications and records, Cohen, the Cohen
Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, CFG, and Micheline obtained HUD mortgage
insurance to HUD Loan No. 1. Buckley and Premier also provided to Cambridge a
false and fraudulent appraisal report with the intention that it be submitted to
HUD, and for which Buckley and Premier received compensation.

113. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Countrywide,
using interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and
certifications, including Micheline’s appraisal report and the Settlement Statement
and HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 1. Based on those false certifications and
records, they caused Countrywide to purchase HUD Loan No. 1.

114. Based on the false and fraudulent certifications and records created by
Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, CFG, and Micheline, which
certification and records had been sent to HUD using interstate mail and by wire,
HUD agreed to insure HUD Loan No. 1.

115. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Countrywide,
using interstate mail carrier and by wire, numerous false and fraudulent records,
including the MCAW form, the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, and the HUD
Addendum for HUD Loan No.1. Based on those false certification and records, they

caused Countrywide to purchase HUD Loan No. 1 from Cambridge.
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116. Buyers 1-A and 1-B, who never could have afforded the 116t Street
Property at the inflated price Cohen set, defaulted on HUD Loan No. 1 within seven
months of the closing, exposing HUD and Countrywide potentially to more than
$400,000 1in losses.

117. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants,
CFG, Premier, Buckley, and Micheline violated 12 U.S.C. § 1833a in connection
with the origination and sale of HUD Loan No. 1 in that they engaged in a scheme
to defraud HUD, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014, and participated in a
scheme to commit mail and wire fraud affecting a financial institution, namely
Countrywide Bank, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343.

B. HUD LOAN NO. 2: NEWARK AVENUE PROPERTY A

118. From in or about February 2007 to in or about May 2007, Cohen, the
Cohen Entities, and the Cambridge Defendants conspired to orchestrate the flip
sale of a property located on Newark Avenue in Staten Island, Richmond County,
New York (“Newark Avenue Property A”) at an inflated price to buyers who lacked
the financial wherewithal to purchase the property.

119. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt
agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, and the Cambridge Defendants obtained
HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of $358,900 used to finance the
fraudulent flip sale of Newark Avenue Property A (“HUD Loan No. 2”), and sold
HUD Loan No. 2 to Citi, by misrepresenting the true cost of home ownership,
paying off the buyers’ personal debts to induce them to purchase, obtaining an

inflated appraisal for Newark Avenue Property A, creating false records to inflate a
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buyer’s income and to omit inducements to purchase, falsely certifying compliance
with HUD requirements, and submitting false and misleading records to HUD and
to Citi.

120. Specifically, on or about February 5, 2007, Cohen, through Buy-a-
Home, contracted with Pearsal Avenue Builders Corp. (“Pearsal Builders”) to
purchase Newark Avenue Property A for approximately $272,000. Rather than
closing on that property, Cohen immediately sought to resell it to inexperienced
home-buyers for $370,000. To influence prospective buyers to accept the inflated
valuation, Buy-a-Home sales agents falsely told them that their mortgage payments
would be offset by approximately $800 per month in rental income. But, in fact,
Newark Avenue Property A was a single-family home that had no rental unit.

121. In or about March 2007, i.e., less than two months after he contracted
to buy Newark Avenue Property A for $272,000, Cohen, through Metropolitan and
Buy-a-Home, induced two inexperienced, first-time home-buyers, Buyers 2-A and 2-
B, to buy that home for $370,000. To circumvent HUD rules regarding flip sales,
Cohen concealed Buy-a-Home’s contract to purchase Newark Avenue Property A by
1dentifying Pearsal Builders as the seller, without disclosing that Buy-a-Home stood
to gain nearly $100,000 in gross profit from the flip sale.

122. Cohen referred Buyers 2-A and 2-B to Lapidus at Cambridge for
purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage from Cambridge, based on the
corrupt agreement or understanding between Cohen and the Cambridge Defendants

that Cambridge would endorse an application for HUD insurance irrespective of
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whether Buyers 2-A and 2-B qualified for such insurance or whether Newark
Avenue Property A was worth $370,000.

123. On or about April 4, 2007, Cambridge obtained an inflated appraisal
for Newark Avenue Property A from Rapid Appraisal Services (“Rapid”), valuing the
property exactly at the sale price, $370,000. Rapid’s appraisal report inflated the
value of Newark Avenue Property A by failing to account for a significant external
obsolescence — the fact that the property was located directly across from and faced
the stanchions of an elevated highway leading to the Bayonne Bridge — that
substantially decreased the value of that property. Rapid’s appraisal report also
inflated the value of Newark Avenue Property A by selecting for comparison sales of
properties that were not, in fact, comparable to Newark Avenue Property A.
Finally, Rapid failed to conduct a “complete” appraisal, in violation of a basic HUD
appraisal requirement.

124. On April 13, 2007, and in connection with originating HUD Loan No. 2,
Cambridge issued a commitment letter to Buyers 2-A and 2-B, which required, as a
condition that must be fulfilled prior to closing, that Buyer 2-A pay off certain
personal debts that he owed to creditors such as Macy’s, Target, and Verizon.

125. On April 18, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed HUD Loan
No. 2, which Kramer, acting as the underwriter, certified as meeting HUD’s
requirements, and which Derrell, certifying on behalf of Cambridge, endorsed for
HUD mortgage insurance.

126. Specifically, Cambridge certified to HUD on April 18, 2007, that all

closing conditions listed in the commitment letter issued by Cambridge had been
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met by the time of closing. In fact, however, Cambridge knew that Buyer 2-A had
not paid off his personal debts prior to closing, because those debts would not be
paid off until Cambridge issued approximately $12,400 in checks to Buyer 2-A’s
creditors, including Macy’s, Target, Verizon, on April 30, 2007, almost two weeks
after the closing date. Hyman personally signed those checks issued by Cambridge.

127. Cambridge also certified to HUD that the closing documents for HUD
Loan No. 2, including the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, were true and correct. In
fact, however, Cambridge knew that the HUD-1 was false and misleading because it
omitted the fact that Cohen had provided funds to Buyers 2-A and 2-B to pay off
Buyer 2-A’s personal debts, which payment should have been reflected on the HUD-
1 as an inducement to purchase.

128. Further, to conceal the fact that Cohen had provided funds to pay off
Buyer 2-A’s personal debts, the Cambridge Defendants conspired with Cohen and
the Cohen Entities to create false and fraudulent gift affidavits, which asserted that
the funds for paying off Buyer 2-A’s debts had come from his father, rather than
Cohen.

129. A series of e-mails dated April 25, 2007, among Wendy Perkins, an
underwriter at Cambridge; Erin Davis, a manager at Buy-a-Home; and Cohen
1llustrates Cambridge’s involvement in facilitating Cohen’s payoff of Buyer 2-A’s
debts and concealing Cohen’s role. A copy of that e-mail chain is attached to this
Complaint as Exhibit 2.

130. Specifically, in the opening e-mail, Perkins told Davis that, in

connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 2 for Buyers 2-A and 2-B, Cohen had sent
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a “certified bank check in the amount of $3,363.00 from Northfork Bank” to
Cambridge.

131. According to Perkins, Cohen should not have sent Cambridge a check
from Northfork Bank because Buyer 2-A’s father, who supposedly was providing the
$3,363 to Cambridge as a gift to his son, did not even have an account with
Northfork Bank. Indeed, Northfork is Buy-a-Home’s and Cohen’s bank.

132. To maintain the illusion that Buyer 2-A’s father was the source of
those funds, Perkins advised Davis (i) to obtain a certified bank check from
Washington Mutual — the bank used by Buyer 2-A’s father — in the “additional
[amount of] $3,363”, and (i1) to “prepare a letter from [Borrower 2-A’s] Dad stating
that he did not realize that he needed to give his son a gift totaling $12,630 and this
1s why he took out an additional gift of $3,363.”

133. To ensure that Cambridge could erase any evidence of Cohen being the
source of those funds, Perkins also asked Davis to tell Cohen to go to Cambridge to
“retrieve the incorrect bank certified check.” In response, Davis reassured Perkins
that “Mitch [Cohen] would be there shortly” to pick up the check and that Buy-a-
Home would work to “get this all resolved.”

134. In connection with endorsing HUD Loan No. 2 for HUD mortgage
insurance, Cambridge also certified to HUD that the Loan Applications and the
MCAW form for Buyers 2-A and 2-B were true and correct. In fact, however, the
Cambridge Defendants conspired with Cohen and the Cohen Entities to falsify

those records to inflate Buyer 2-A’s income.
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135. Specifically, on or about March 27, 2007, Buyer 2-A told Lapidus that
his monthly salary was $3,333, an amount that was corroborated by the pay stubs
that Cambridge obtained from Buyer 1-A’s employer. Cambridge, however, inserted
$3,625 as Buyer 2-A’s monthly salary into his final Loan Application and the
MCAW form. By inflating Buyer 2-A’s monthly income, Cambridge fraudulently
lowered the Qualifying Ratios for HUD Loan No. 2. Relevant excerpts from the
initial and final Loan Applications for Buyer 2-A are attached to this Complaint as
Exhibit 3.

136. Cambridge, specifically Kramer, also falsely certified HUD Loan No. 2
to HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that this loan failed to comply
with HUD requirements in, among others, the following respects:

a. HUD Loan No. 2 had Qualifying Ratios (39.22% and 51.33%) that
significantly exceeded HUD thresholds (31% and 43%, respectively)

and did not have any applicable compensating factor; and

b. Rapid’s appraisal for Newark Avenue Property A contained an
inflated valuation for that property and had not been conducted in

accordance with HUD requirements.

137. On or about May 9, 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 2 to Citi,
pursuant to the Citi Loan Purchase Agreement and received more than $8,500 from
the sale of that loan.

138. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 2, Buyers 2-A and 2-B
contributed only a nominal amount to the down payment or closing costs associated
with purchasing Newark Avenue Property A. Instead, Cohen arranged for the

payment of $11,225 toward the down payment and $15,894.56 in closing costs, both
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of which were paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 2. In other words,
Cohen also induced Buyers 2-A and 2-B to buy the property at an inflated price by
effectively paying the entire upfront cost of buying that home.

139. Cohen gave thousands of dollars to pay off Buyers 2-A’s personal debts,
and also arranged for the payments of nearly all of the down payment and closing
costs, to induce Buyers 2-A and 2-B to obtain HUD Loan No. 2 on the basis of an
inflated valuation for Newark Avenue Property A. In connection with that sale
alone, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home and Wolf & Wolf, made almost $58,000 in
profits, from the disbursement of HUD Loan No. 2.

140. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the
Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of Newark Avenue Property A to Buyers 2-A
and 2-B at an inflated price, Cambridge received close to $14,000 in fees and resale
proceeds for originating HUD Loan No. 2.

141. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent
flip sale of Newark Property A, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, and the Cambridge
Defendants used interstate mail carriers and interstate wire to transmit documents
that contained false and misleading information, including, among other
documents, false and fraudulent gift affidavits, Loan Application, MCAW form, and
HUD Addendum.

142. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants submitted to HUD numerous
false records and certifications, including the Loan Application, the MCAW form,

and the HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 2. Based on those false certifications
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and records, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants obtained HUD
mortgage insurance for HUD Loan No. 2.

143. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Citi, using
Interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and
certifications, including the Loan Application, the MCAW form, and the HUD
Addendum for HUD Loan No. 2. Based on those false certifications and records,
they caused Citi to purchase HUD Loan No. 2.

144. Buyers 2-A and 2-B, whom Cohen had misled as to the true cost of
owning Newark Avenue Property A, defaulted on HUD Loan No. 2 within five
months of closing, exposing HUD and Citi potentially to more than $400,000 in
losses.

145. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, and the Cambridge
Defendants violated 12 U.S.C. § 1833a in connection with the origination and sale of
HUD Loan No. 2 in that they engaged in a scheme to defraud HUD, in violation of
18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014, and participated in a scheme to commit mail and wire
fraud affecting a financial institution, namely Citibank, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§
1341 and 1343.

C. HUD LOAN NO. 3: YORK AVENUE, STATEN ISLAND

146. From in or about June 2007 to in or about August 2007, Cohen, the
Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, Premier, and Buckley conspired to
orchestrate the flip sale of a property located on York Avenue in Staten Island,
Richmond County, New York (the “York Avenue Property”) at an inflated price to

buyers who lacked the financial wherewithal to purchase the property.
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147. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt
agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, Premier, and
Buckley obtained HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of $447,600
used to finance the fraudulent flip sale of the York Avenue Property (“HUD Loan
No. 3”), and sold HUD Loan No. 3 to Countrywide by paying off the buyers’ personal
debts to induce them to purchase, obtaining an inflated appraisal for the York
Avenue Property, creating false records to omit inducements to purchase, falsely
certifying compliance with HUD requirements, and submitting false and misleading
records to HUD and to Countrywide.

148. Specifically, in or about June, 2007, Cohen, through Gramercy,
contracted with an individual named Dominic Grasso to purchase the York Avenue
Property for approximately $370,500. Rather than closing on that property, Cohen
immediately sought to resell it to inexperienced home-buyers for $461,500.

149. In or about August 2007, i.e., less than two months later, Cohen
induced two inexperienced, first-time home-buyers, Buyers 3-A and 3-B, to purchase
the York Avenue Property, for $461,500. To circumvent HUD rules regarding flip
sales, Cohen concealed Buy-a-Home’s contract to purchase the York Avenue
Property by identifying Grasso as the seller, without disclosing that Buy-a-Home
stood to gain more than $90,000 in gross profit from the flip sale.

150. Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, referred Buyers 3-A and 3-B to Lapidus
at Cambridge for purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage from Cambridge,
based on a corrupt agreement or understanding between Cohen and the Cambridge

Defendants that Cambridge would endorse an application for HUD insurance
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irrespective of whether Buyers 3-A and 3-B qualified for such insurance or whether
the York Avenue Property was worth $461,500.

151. On or about August 4, 2007, at Cohen’s direction, Buckley, through
Premier, issued an inflated appraisal of the York Avenue Property for Cambridge,
valuing the property at $460,000. Buckley’s appraisal report inflated the value of
the York Avenue Property by selecting for comparison sales of properties that were
not, in fact, comparable to the York Avenue Property. Specifically, the sale price of
a nearby property, which offered 40% more living space, was only $10,000 more
than Buckley’s valuation of the York Avenue Property. Buckley also inflated his
appraisal by complying with Cambridge’s requests (1) to increase the expected
rental income for the property from $1,250 to $1,500 and (i1) to change the term of
the appraisal from being “subject to” the completion of certain repairs to “as is.”
Finally, Buckley did not conduct a “complete” appraisal, in violation of a basic
appraisal requirement.

152. On August 2, 2007, and in connection with originating HUD Loan No.
3, Cambridge issued a commitment letter to Buyers 3-A and 3-B, which required, as
a condition that must be fulfilled prior to closing, that those buyers pay off certain
judgments and other outstanding personal liabilities.

153. On August 10, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed HUD Loan
No. 3 to Buyers 3-A and 3-B. Derrell, acting as the underwriter, certified to HUD
that HUD Loan No. 3 met HUD’s underwriting requirements. Further, Kramer,
certifying on behalf of Cambridge, endorsed HUD Loan No. 3 to HUD for mortgage

insurance.
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154. Specifically, Cambridge certified to HUD that all closing conditions
listed in the commitment letter had been met by the time of closing on August 10,
2007. In fact, however, Cambridge knew that Buyers 3-A and 3-B had not paid off
their personal debts prior to closing, because those debts would not be paid off until
August 16, August 20, and September 5, 2007, when Cambridge issued
approximately $11,490 in checks to Buyers 3-A’s and 3-B’s creditors. Hyman
personally signed those checks.

155. Cambridge also certified to HUD that the closing documents for HUD
Loan No. 3, including the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, were true and correct. In
fact, however, Cambridge knew that the HUD-1 was false and misleading because it
omitted the fact that Cohen had provided several thousand dollars to Buyers 3-A
and 3-B to pay off their personal debts, which payment should have been reflected
on the HUD-1 as an inducement to purchase.

156. Further, to conceal the fact that Cohen had provided funds to pay off
Buyers 3-A’s and 3-B’s personal debts, the Cambridge Defendants conspired with
Cohen and the Cohen Entities to create false and fraudulent gift affidavits, which
asserted that the funds for paying off Buyers 3-A’s and 3-B’s debts had come from
their daughter, rather than Cohen. Specifically, to give the appearance that Buyers
3-A and 3-B received a gift from their daughter, Cohen and Seth Lapidus obtained a
cashier’s check from the buyers’ daughter’s bank, using Cohen’s funds,.

157. In addition, Cambridge, through Kramer, also falsely certified HUD
Loan No. 3 to HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that HUD Loan No. 3

failed to comply with HUD requirements in, among others, the following respects:

52



Case 1:10-cv-09280-LGS Document 96 Filed 02/15/12 Page 53 of 210

a. The MCAW form for HUD Loan No. 3 falsely understated Buyers 3-
A’s and 3-B’s liabilities by not including the debts they owed, which

Cambridge would not pay off until weeks after the closing;

b. HUD Loan No. 3 had Qualifying Ratios (63.32% and 53.65%) that
significantly exceeded HUD thresholds (31% and 43%, respectively),

and did not have any applicable compensating factor; and

c. Buckley’s appraisal for the York Avenue Property had not been
conducted in accordance with HUD requirements and contained an

inflated valuation for the York Avenue Property.

158. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 3, Buyers 3-A and 3-B
contributed only a minimal amount to the down payment and closing costs
associated with purchasing the York Avenue Property. Instead, Cohen, as the
seller, paid $13,845 toward the down payment and $14,647 in closing costs, both of
which were paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 3. In other words, Cohen
induced Buyers 3-A and 3-B to buy the property at an inflated price by effectively
paying the entire upfront cost of buying that home.

159. On August 24, 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 3 to Countrywide,
pursuant to the Countrywide Loan Purchase Agreement and received more than
$13,000 from the sale of that loan.

160. Cohen provided thousands of dollars to pay off Buyers 3-A’s and 3-B’s
personal debts, and also paid for nearly all of the down payment and closing costs,
to induce them to obtain HUD Loan No. 3 based on an inflated price for the York
Avenue Property. In connection with that sale alone, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home
and Mark Wolf, made more than $46,000 in net profits, from the disbursement of
HUD Loan No. 3.
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161. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the
Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of the York Avenue Property to Buyers 3-A
and 3-B at an inflated price, Cambridge received more than $25,000 in fees and
resale proceeds for originating HUD Loan No. 3.

162. Buckley, who provided an inflated appraisal for the York Avenue
Property based on a corrupt agreement or understanding with Cohen and the
Cambridge Defendants, not only was paid several hundred dollars for that
appraisal, but also ensured future appraisal referrals from Cohen and further
cemented the corrupt and lucrative relationship between his business interests and
Cohen’s. See supra at 9 88.

163. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent
flip sale of the York Avenue Property, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge
Defendants, Premier, and Buckley used interstate mail carriers and interstate wire
to transmit documents that contained false and misleading information, including,
among other documents, false and fraudulent gift affidavits, appraisal report, and
HUD Addendum.

164. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants and Buckley submitted to
HUD numerous false records and certifications, including the appraisal report for
the York Avenue Property and the Settlement Statement and HUD Addendum for
HUD Loan No. 3. Based on those false certifications and records, Cohen, the Cohen
Entities, and the Cambridge Defendants obtained HUD mortgage insurance to

HUD Loan No. 3.

54



Case 1:10-cv-09280-LGS Document 96 Filed 02/15/12 Page 55 of 210

165. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Countrywide,
using interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and
certifications, the appraisal report for the York Avenue Property and the Settlement
Statement and HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 3. Based on those false
certifications and records, they caused Countrywide to purchase HUD Loan No. 3.

166. Based on the false and fraudulent certifications and records created by
Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, Premier, and Buckley,
which certification and records had been sent to HUD using interstate mail and by
wire, HUD agreed to insure HUD Loan No. 3. Further, based on those false and
fraudulent records, which had been sent to Countrywide using interstate mail and
by wire, Countrywide agreed to purchase HUD Loan No. 3 from Cambridge.

167. Buyers 3-A and 3-B, who never could have afforded the York Avenue
Property at the inflated price Cohen set, defaulted on HUD Loan No. 3 within 18
months of the closing, exposing HUD and Countrywide potentially to more than
$500,000 1in losses.

168. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants,
Premier, and Buckley violated 12 U.S.C. § 1833a in connection with the origination
and sale of HUD Loan No. 3 in that they engaged in a scheme to defraud HUD, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014, and participated in a scheme to commit
mail and wire fraud affecting a financial institution, namely Countrywide Bank, in

violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343.
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D. HUD LOAN NO. 4: BEACH 46T STREET, FAR ROCKAWAY

169. From in or about January 2006 to in or about August 2007, Cohen, the
Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg conspired to orchestrate
the flip sale of a property located on Beach 46ttt Street in Far Rockaway, New York
(the “Beach 46th Street Property”), at an inflated price to buyers who lacked the
financial wherewithal to purchase the property.

170. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt
agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg
obtained HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of $454,930 used to
finance the fraudulent flip sale of the Beach 46th Street Property (‘HUD Loan No.
4”), and sold HUD Loan No. 4 to Citi, by paying off the buyers’ personal debts to
induce them to purchase, obtaining an inflated appraisal for the Beach 46th Street
Property, by creating false records to inflate a buyer’s income and to omit
inducements to purchase, falsely certifying compliance with HUD requirements,
and submitting false and misleading records to HUD and to Citi.

171. In or about January 2006, Cambridge acquired the Beach 46th Street
Property for $1,000, subject to two mortgages in the approximate amount of
$380,000.

172. In or about April 2007, Cohen induced three inexperienced, first-time
home-buyers, Buyers 4-A, 4-B, and 4-C to purchase the Beach 46th Street Property
for $469,000.

173. Cohen referred Buyers 4-A, 4-B, and 4-C to Lapidus at Cambridge for

purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage from Cambridge, based on the
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corrupt agreement or understanding between Cohen and the Cambridge Defendants
that Cambridge would endorse an application for HUD insurance irrespective of
whether Buyers 4-A, 4-B, and 4-C qualified for such insurance or whether the Beach
46th Street Property was worth $469,000.

174. On or about April 24, 2007, Cambridge obtained an inflated appraisal
for the Beach 46th Street Property from Mark Pitman, a JJG appraiser, valuing the
property at $470,000. Pitman’s appraisal report, which inflated the value of the
Beach 46th Street Property by failing to comply with numerous HUD appraisal
standards, including, among others, to conduct and report a complete appraisal, to
report full and accurate data about the property including its sales history, and to
appropriately value the property vis-a-vis comparable property sales. Goldberg
personally reviewed, approved, and signed the appraisal report on behalf of Pitman.

175. On April 30, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed HUD Loan
No. 4, which Derrell, acting as the underwriter, certified as meeting HUD’s
requirements, and which Hyman, certifying on behalf of Cambridge, endorsed for
HUD mortgage insurance.

176. In connection with endorsing HUD Loan No. 4 for HUD mortgage
msurance, Cambridge also certified to HUD that the Loan Application for Buyer 4-
A and the MCAW form were true and correct. In fact, however, the Cambridge
Defendants conspired with Cohen and the Cohen Entities to falsify those records to
inflate Buyer 4-A’s income.

177. Specifically, on or about April 13, 2007, Buyer 4-A told Lapidus that

she worked as a security guard and that her monthly salary was $1,733.
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Cambridge, however, inserted “head chef” as Buyer 4-A’s occupation and $2,600 as
her monthly salary into her final Loan Application, and created false and
fraudulent records to support this information. The two versions of the Loan
Applications for Buyer 4-A are attached to this Complaint as Exhibit 4. By inflating
Buyer 4-A’s monthly income, Cambridge fraudulently lowered the Qualifying Ratios
for HUD Loan No. 4.

178. In connection with endorsing HUD Loan No. 4 for HUD mortgage
msurance, Cambridge certified to HUD that neither it nor its principals had any
financial stake in the sale of the Beach 46th Street Property. In fact, Cambridge
was the owner of the property. Thus, by originating a HUD-insured loan to finance
the flip sale of the Beach 46ttt Street Property, Cambridge and its principals,
Kramer and Hyman, stood to make a significant profit. In other words, and
contrary to Cambridge’s certification to HUD, Kramer and Hyman each had a direct
financial stake in the sale of the Beach 46th Street Property.

179. Cambridge, specifically Hyman, also falsely certified HUD Loan No. 4
to HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that that loan failed to comply
with HUD requirements in, among others, the following respects:

a. HUD Loan No. 4 had an MP/I ratio (36.18%) that significantly
exceeded the HUD threshold (31%) and did not have any applicable

compensating factor; and

b. JJG’s appraisal for the Beach 46th Street Property contained an
inflated valuation for that property and had not been conducted in

accordance with HUD requirements.
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180. On or about August 1, 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 4 to Citz,
pursuant to the Citi Loan Purchase Agreement and received more than $10,000 for
that loan.

181. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 4, Buyers 4-A, 4-B, and 4-
C contributed only a nominal amount to the down payment or closing costs
associated with purchasing the Beach 46th Street Property. Instead, Cohen
arranged for the payment of $14,070 toward the down payment and $14,833.06 in
closing costs, both of which were paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 4. In
other words, Cohen also induced Buyers 4-A, 4-B, and 4-C to buy the property at an
inflated price by effectively paying the entire upfront cost of buying that home.

182. Cohen arranged for the payments of nearly all of the down payment
and closing costs to induce Buyers 4-A, 4-B, and 4-C to obtain HUD Loan No. 4 on
the basis of an inflated valuation for the Beach 46th Street Property. In connection
with that sale alone, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, made $25,000 in fees, from the
disbursement of HUD Loan No. 4.

183. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the
Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of the Beach 46th Street Property to Buyers
4-A, 4-B, and 4-C at an inflated price, Cambridge received approximately $135,000
in profits and resale proceeds.

184. Further, in exchange for supplying Cambridge with an inflated
appraisal for the Beach 46tk Street Property, Goldberg, in addition to receiving $500
for 1ssuing an inflated appraisal report, ensured that he would receive hundreds of

additional appraisal assignments from Cambridge.
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185. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent
flip sale of the Beach 46th Street Property, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the
Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg used interstate mail carriers and interstate
wire to transmit documents that contained false and misleading information,
including, among other documents, false and fraudulent Loan Application, MCAW
form, appraisal, and HUD Addendum.

186. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg submitted to
HUD numerous false records and certifications, including the Loan Application, the
MCAW form, the appraisal, and the HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 4. Based
on those false certifications and records, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge
Defendants, and Goldberg obtained HUD mortgage insurance to HUD Loan No. 4.
Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Citi, using interstate mail
carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and certifications, including the
Loan Application, the MCAW form, and the HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 4.
Based on those false certifications and records, they caused Citi to purchase HUD
Loan No. 4.

187. Buyers 4-A, 4-B, and 4-C, whom Cohen had misled as to the true cost
of owning the Beach 46ttt Street Property and who never could have afforded that
property at the inflated price set by Cambridge, defaulted on HUD Loan No. 4
within four months of closing, exposing HUD and Citi potentially to more than
$500,000 in losses.

188. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants,

and Goldberg violated 12 U.S.C. § 1833a in connection with the origination and sale
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of HUD Loan No. 4 in that they engaged in a scheme to defraud HUD, in violation
of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014, and participated in a scheme to commit mail and
wire fraud affecting a financial institution, namely Citibank, in violation of 18
U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343.

E. HUD LOAN NO. 5: NICHOLAS AVENUE, STATEN ISLAND

189. From in or about February 2007 to in or about May 2007, Cohen, the
Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg conspired to orchestrate
the flip sale of a property located on Nicholas Avenue in Staten Island, Richmond
County, New York (the “Nicholas Avenue Property”) at an inflated price to buyers
who lacked the financial wherewithal to purchase the property.

190. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt
agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg
obtained HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of $359,600 used to
finance the fraudulent flip sale of the Nicholas Avenue Property (‘HUD Loan No.
57), and sold HUD Loan No. 5 to Citi, by misrepresenting the true cost of home
ownership, paying off the buyers’ personal debts to induce them to purchase,
obtaining an inflated appraisal for the Nicholas Avenue Property, creating false
records to omit inducements to purchase, falsely certifying compliance with HUD
requirements, and submitting false and misleading records to HUD and to Citi.

191. In or about February 2007, Cohen, through Metropolitan, bought the
Nicholas Avenue Property for $229,500. To influence prospective buyers to accept
the inflated valuation, Buy-a-Home sales agents falsely told them that the monthly

cost of owning that property, after taking into account tax deductions and rental
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income, would be almost eight hundred dollars less than Buy-a-Home’s internal
estimates indicated.

192. In or about April and May 2007, i.e., less than three months later,
Cohen induced two inexperienced, first-time home-buyers, Buyers 5-A and 5-B, to
purchase the Nicholas Avenue Property, for $370,750.

193. Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, referred Buyers 5-A and 5-B to Lapidus
at Cambridge for purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage from Cambridge,
based on a corrupt agreement or understanding between Cohen and the Cambridge
Defendants that Cambridge would endorse an application for HUD insurance
irrespective of whether Buyers 5-A and 5-B qualified for such insurance or whether
the Nicholas Avenue Property was worth $370,750.

194. On or about May 22, 2007, JJG issued an appraisal report for the
Nicholas Avenue Property, valuing the property at $380,000. That appraisal report,
which Goldberg personally reviewed, edited, approved, and sent to Cambridge,
contained an inflated valuation for the property and numerous other falsities.

195. Specifically, JJG’s appraisal report inflated the value of the Nicholas
Avenue Property by falsely describing the property as having an additional useable
bedroom and a partially-finished basement and by overstating the value of repairs
by more than $20,000. JJG also inflated the value of the property by falsely stating
that all necessary repairs had been made by the closing date, when, in fact, repairs
remained ongoing for three weeks. Finally, the JJG appraisal report failed to

adequately document these improvements as required by HUD.
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196. On May 16, 2007, and in connection with originating HUD Loan No. 5,
Cambridge issued a commitment letter to Buyers 5-A and 5-B, which required, as a
condition that must be fulfilled prior to closing, that those buyers pay off certain
personal debts owed to creditors such as Best Buy and Sears.

197. On May 24, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed HUD Loan No.
5 to Buyers 5-A and 5-B. Kramer, acting as the underwriter, certified to HUD that
HUD Loan No. 5 met HUD’s underwriting requirement. Further, Derrell, certifying
on behalf of Cambridge, endorsed HUD Loan No. 5 to HUD for mortgage insurance.

198. Specifically, Cambridge certified to HUD that all closing conditions
listed in the commitment letter issued by Cambridge had been met by the time of
closing on May 24, 2007. In fact, however, Cambridge knew that Buyers 5-A and
5-B had not paid off their personal debts prior to closing, because some of those
debts would not be paid off until May 29, 2007, when Cambridge issued checks to
Buyers 5-A’s and 5-B’s creditors. Hyman personally signed those checks issued by
Cambridge.

199. Cambridge also certified to HUD that the closing documents for HUD
Loan No. 5, including the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, were true and correct. In
fact, however, Cambridge knew that the HUD-1 was false and misleading because it
omitted the fact that Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, had given approximately $8,200
to Buyers 5-A and 5-B to pay off their personal debts, which payment should have
been reflected on the HUD-1 as an inducement to purchase.

200. Further, to conceal the fact that Cohen had given money to Buyers 5-A

and 5-B to pay off their personal debts, the Cambridge Defendants conspired with
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Cohen and the Cohen Entities to create records to assert falsely that the funds for
paying off those debts had come from Buyers 5-B’s sister.

201. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants, Cohen, and the Cohen
Entities conspired to create false gift affidavits stating that the funds used for
paying off Buyers 5-A’s and 5-B’s personal debts came from Borrower 5-B’s sister’s
personal funds. In fact, however, those funds had come from Cohen, not Borrower
5-B’s sister.

202. Further, Cambridge, through Kramer, falsely certified HUD Loan No. 5
to HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that HUD Loan No. 5 failed to
comply with HUD requirements in, among others, the following respects:

a. The MCAW form for HUD Loan No. 5 falsely understated Buyers 5-
A’s and 5-B’s liabilities by failing to include the personal debts they
owed, which Cambridge would not pay off until several days after

the closing;

b. HUD Loan No. 5 had Qualifying Ratios (42.54% and 52.50%) that
significantly exceeded HUD thresholds (31% and 43%, respectively),

and did not have any applicable compensating factor; and

b. JJG’s appraisal for the Nicholas Avenue Property had not been
conducted in accordance with HUD requirements and contained

an inflated valuation for the Nicholas Avenue Street Property.

203. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 5, Buyers 5-A and 5-B
contributed only a minimal amount to the down payment or closing costs associated
with purchasing the Nicholas Avenue Property. Instead, Cohen, as the seller, paid
$12,500 toward the down payment and $14,995.12 in closing costs, both of which

were paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 5. In other words, Cohen
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induced Buyers 5-A and 5-B to buy the property at an inflated price by effectively
paying the entire upfront cost of buying that home.

204. On August 1, 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 5 to Citi, pursuant
to the Citi Loan Purchase Agreement and received approximately $8,500.

205. Cohen gave Buyers 5-A and 5-B thousands of dollars to pay off their
personal debts, and also paid for nearly all of the down payment and closing costs,
to induce them to obtain HUD Loan No. 5 based on an inflated price for the
Nicholas Avenue Property. In connection with that sale, Cohen, through Buy-a-
Home and Wolf & Wolf, made approximately $102,000 in profits, from the
disbursement of HUD Loan No. 5.

206. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the
Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of the Nicholas Avenue Property to Buyers
5-A and 5-B at an inflated price, Cambridge received close to $18,000 in fees and
resale proceeds for originating HUD Loan No. 5.

207. Further, in exchange for supplying Cambridge with an inflated
appraisal for the Nicholas Avenue Property, Goldberg, in addition to receiving $700
for 1ssuing an inflated appraisal report, ensured that he would receive hundreds of
additional appraisal assignments from Cambridge.

208. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent
flip sale of the Nicholas Avenue Property, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the
Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg used interstate mail carriers and interstate

wire to transmit documents that contained false and misleading information,

65



Case 1:10-cv-09280-LGS Document 96 Filed 02/15/12 Page 66 of 210

including, among other documents, false and fraudulent gift affidavits, appraisal
report, and HUD Addendum.

209. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg submitted to
HUD numerous false records and certifications, including the appraisal report for
the Nicholas Avenue Property and the Settlement Statement and HUD Addendum
for HUD Loan No. 5. Based on those false certifications and records, Cohen, the
Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg obtained HUD mortgage
insurance for HUD Loan No. 5.

210. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Citi, using
interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and
certifications, including the appraisal report for the Nicholas Avenue Property and
the Settlement Statement and HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 5. Based on
those false certifications and records, they caused Countrywide to purchase HUD
Loan No. 5.

211. Based on the false and fraudulent certifications and records created by
Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg, which
certification and records had been sent to HUD using interstate mail and by wire,
HUD agreed to insure HUD Loan No. 5. Further, based on those false and
fraudulent records, which had been sent to Citi using interstate mail and by wire,
Citi agreed to purchase HUD Loan No. 5 from Cambridge.

212. Buyers 5-A and 5-B, who never could have afforded the Nicholas

Avenue Property at the inflated price Cohen set, defaulted on HUD Loan No. 5
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within seven months of the closing, exposing HUD and Citi potentially to more than
$400,000 1n losses.

213. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants,
and Goldberg violated 12 U.S.C. § 1833a in connection with the origination and sale
of HUD Loan No. 5 in that they engaged in a scheme to defraud HUD, in violation
of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014, and participated in a scheme to commit mail and
wire fraud affecting a financial institution, namely Citibank, in violation of 18
U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343.

F. HUD LOAN NO. 6: ALASKA STREET, STATEN ISLAND

214. From in or about March 2007 to in or about July 2007, Cohen, the
Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, CFG, Premier, and Buckley conspired
to orchestrate the flip sale of a property located on Alaska Street in Staten Island,
Richmond County, New York (the “Alaska Street Property”) at an inflated price to
buyers who lacked the financial wherewithal to purchase the property.

215. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt
agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, CFG, Premaier,
and Buckley obtained HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of
$460,750 used to finance the fraudulent flip sale of the Alaska Street Property
(“HUD Loan No. 67), and sold HUD Loan No. 6 to Citi, by paying off the buyers’
personal debts to induce them to purchase, obtaining an inflated appraisal for the
Alaska Street Property, creating false records to omit inducements to purchase,
falsely certifying compliance with HUD requirements, and submitting false and

misleading records to HUD and to Citi.
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216. In or about March 2007, Cohen, through Gramercy, bought the Alaska
Street Property for $338,500. In connection with that purchase, Gramercy obtained
a $25,000 loan from CFG, which was secured by a junior mortgage on the Alaska
Street Property.

217. In or about July 2007, i.e., less than three months later, Cohen induced
two inexperienced, first-time home-buyers, Buyers 6-A and 6-B, to purchase the
Alaska Street Property, for $475,000.

218. Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, referred Buyers 6-A and 6-B to Lapidus
at Cambridge for purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage from Cambridge,
based on a corrupt agreement or understanding between Cohen and the Cambridge
Defendants that Cambridge would endorse an application for HUD insurance
irrespective of whether Buyers 6-A and 6-B qualified for such insurance or whether
the Alaska Street Property was worth $475,000.

219. On or about July 22, 2007, at Cohen’s direction, Buckley, through
Premier, issued an appraisal report for the Alaska Street Property, valuing the
property at $480,000. That appraisal report contained an inflated valuation for the
property and numerous other falsities.

220. Specifically, Buckley significantly inflated the valuation of the Alaska
Street Property by selecting for comparison sales of properties that were not, in fact,
comparable to the Alaska Street Property. Buckley also inflated the rental income
that Buyers 6-A and 6-B could expect to generate from renting out the basement

studio at the Alaska Street Property by falsifying the rent for similar apartments.
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221. Further, Buckley falsely certified that his appraisal of the Alaska
Street Property had been conducted in accordance with HUD appraisal standards.
In fact, Buckley’s appraisal failed to comply with numerous HUD standards,
including, among others, to select suitably comparable sales comparisons and to
justify the approximately 45% appreciation during Cohen’s four-month ownership
with no major repairs noted.

222. On July 25, 2007, and in connection with originating HUD Loan No. 6,
Cambridge issued a commitment letter to Buyers 6-A and 6-B, which required, as a
condition that must be fulfilled prior to closing, that those buyers pay off certain
personal debts owed to creditors such as Bally Total Fitness and JC Penny.

223. On dJuly 27, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed HUD Loan No.
6 to Buyers 6-A and 6-B. Derrell, acting as the underwriter, certified to HUD that
HUD Loan No. 6 met HUD’s underwriting requirements. Further, Hyman,
certifying on behalf of Cambridge, endorsed HUD Loan No. 6 to HUD for mortgage
insurance.

224. Specifically, Cambridge certified to HUD that all closing conditions
listed in the commitment letter issued by Cambridge had been met by the time of
closing on July 27, 2007. In fact, however, Cambridge knew that Buyers 6-A and
6-B had not paid off their personal debts prior to closing, because those debts would
not be paid off until July 30, 2007, when Cambridge issued approximately $14,000
in checks to pay off Buyers 6-A’s and 6-B’s student loans and creditors, including

Bally and JC Penny. Hyman personally signed those checks issued by Cambridge.
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225. Cambridge also certified to HUD that the closing documents for HUD
Loan No. 6, including the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, were true and correct. In
fact, however, Cambridge knew that the HUD-1 was false and misleading because it
omitted the fact that Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, had provided Cambridge with
approximately $27,000 in funds to pay off Buyers 6-A’s and 6-B’s personal debts,
which payment should have been reflected on the HUD-1 as an inducement to
purchase.

226. Further, to conceal the fact that Cohen had given the funds to pay off
Buyers 6-A’s and 6-B’s personal debts, the Cambridge Defendants conspired with
Cohen and the Cohen Entities to create records to assert falsely that the funds for
paying off those debts had come from a gift from one of Buyer 6-B’s relatives.

227. Specifically, Cambridge claimed to have obtained the funds for paying
off Buyers 6-A’s and 6-B’s student loans and personal debts using $27,000 in funds
that Buyer 6-A’s brother-in-law had given to Cambridge as a gift. In fact, however,
Erin Davis, the Buy-a-Home manager, had given those funds to her then-boyfriend
— who was not related to Buyer 6-A — to give to Cambridge, and had created
fraudulent gift affidavits to conceal that fact. Further, Cohen compensated Davis
for that outlay at the closing of HUD Loan No. 6, directing a $14,000 payment to
Davis directly from the disbursement of that loan.

228. In connection with endorsing HUD Loan No. 6 for HUD mortgage
msurance, Cambridge certified to HUD that neither it nor its principals had any
financial stake in the sale of the Alaska Street Property. In fact, Cambridge’s

affiliate CFG held a junior mortgage against that property, in the amount of
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$24,000. Thus, by originating a HUD-insured loan to finance Cohen’s flip sale of
the Alaska Street Property, Cambridge’s principals Kramer and Hyman stood to be
paid in full on CFG’s loan. In other words, and contrary to Cambridge’s certification
to HUD, Kramer and Hyman each had a direct financial stake in the sale of the
Alaska Street Property.

229. Further, Cambridge, through Hyman, also falsely certified HUD Loan
No. 6 to HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that HUD Loan No. 6 failed
to comply with HUD requirements in, among others, the following respects:

a. The MCAW form for HUD Loan No. 6 falsely understated Buyers
6-A’s and 6-B’s liabilities by failing to include the personal debts
they owed, which Cambridge would not pay off until a week after

the closing;

b. HUD Loan No. 6 had Qualifying Ratios (39.11% and 49.47%) that
significantly exceeded HUD thresholds (31% and 43%, respectively),

and did not have any applicable compensating factor; and

c. Buckley’s appraisal for the Alaska Street Property had not been
conducted in accordance with HUD requirements and contained

an inflated valuation for the Alaska Street Property.

230. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 6, Buyers 6-A and 6-B
contributed only a minimal amount to the down payment or closing costs associated
with purchasing the Alaska Street Property. Instead, Cohen, as the seller, paid
$14,250 toward the down payment and $18,470 in closing costs, both of which were
paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 6. In other words, Cohen induced
Buyers 6-A and 6-B to buy the property at an inflated price by effectively paying the

entire upfront cost of buying that home.
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231. On August 29, 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 6 to Citi, pursuant
to the Citi Loan Purchase Agreement and received approximately $11,000 for that
loan.

232. Cohen gave Buyers 6-A and 6-B $14,000 to pay off their personal debts,
and also paid for nearly all of the down payment and closing costs, to induce them
to obtain HUD Loan No. 6 based on an inflated price for the Alaska Street Property.
In connection with that sale, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, Mark Wolf, and Erin
Davis, made more than $68,000 in net profits from the disbursement of HUD Loan
No. 6.

233. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the
Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of the Alaska Street Property to Buyers 6-A
and 6-B at an inflated price, Cambridge received approximately $22,000 in fees and
resale proceeds for originating HUD Loan No. 6. Further, CFG received more than
$27,000 in disbursement from HUD Loan No. 6, in repayment of the high-interest
loan that it had made to Gramercy.

234. Buckley, who through Premier provided an inflated appraisal for the
Alaska Street Property based on a corrupt agreement or understanding with Cohen
and the Cambridge Defendants, not only was paid $450 for that appraisal, but also
ensured future appraisal referrals from Cohen. This included appraisals of three
other adjacent properties on Alaska Avenue, all of which were sold by Cohen and all
of which Buckley appraised at inflated values. Buckley also further cemented the
corrupt and lucrative relationship between his business interests and Cohen’s. See

supra at § 88.
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235. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent
flip sale of the Alaska Street Property, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge
Defendants, CFG, Premier, and Buckley used interstate mail carriers and
Iinterstate wire to transmit documents that contained false and misleading
information, including, among other documents, false and fraudulent gift affidavits,
appraisal report, and HUD Addendum.

236. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants and Buckley submitted to
HUD numerous false records and certifications, including the appraisal report for
the Alaska Street Property and the Settlement Statement and HUD Addendum for
HUD Loan No. 6. Based on those false certifications and records, Cohen, the Cohen
Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, CFG, Premier, and Buckley obtained HUD
mortgage insurance to HUD Loan No. 6.

237. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Citi, using
interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and
certifications, including Buckley’s appraisal report and the Settlement Statement
and HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 6. Based on those false certifications and
records, they caused Citi to purchase HUD Loan No. 6.

238. Based on the false and fraudulent certifications and records created by
Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, CFG, Premier, and Buckley,
which certification and records had been sent to HUD using interstate mail and by
wire, HUD agreed to insure HUD Loan No. 6. Further, based on those false and
fraudulent records, which had been sent to Citi using interstate mail and by wire,

Citi agreed to purchase HUD Loan No. 6 from Cambridge.
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239. Buyers 6-A and 6-B, who never could have afforded the Alaska Street
Property at the inflated price Cohen set, defaulted on HUD Loan No. 6 within 100
days of the closing, exposing HUD and Citi potentially to more than $500,000 in
losses.

240. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants,
CFG, Premier, and Buckley violated 12 U.S.C. § 1833a in connection with the
origination and sale of HUD Loan No. 6 in that they engaged in a scheme to defraud
HUD, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014, and participated in a scheme to
commit mail and wire fraud affecting a financial institution, namely Citibank, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343.

G. HUD LOAN NO. 7: NEWARK AVENUE PROPERTY B

241. From in or about February 2007 to in or about August 2007, Cohen,
the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg conspired to
orchestrate the flip sale of a property located on Newark Avenue in Staten Island,
Richmond County, New York (“Newark Avenue Property B”) at an inflated price to
buyers who lacked the financial wherewithal to purchase the property.

242. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt
agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg
obtained HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of $358,900 used to
finance the fraudulent flip sale of Newark Avenue Property B (“HUD Loan No. 77),
and sold HUD Loan No. 7 to Citi, by misrepresenting the true cost of home
ownership, paying off the buyers’ personal debts to induce them to purchase,

obtaining an inflated appraisal for Newark Avenue Property B, creating false
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records to omit inducements to purchase, falsely certifying compliance with HUD
requirements, and submitting false and misleading records to HUD and to Citi.

243. Specifically, on or about February 5, 2007, Cohen, through Buy-a-
Home, contracted with Pearsal Builders to purchase Newark Avenue Property B for
approximately $272,000. Rather than closing on that property, Cohen immediately
sought to resell it to inexperienced home-buyers for $370,000.

244. In or about July 2007, i.e., approximately five months after he
contracted to buy Newark Avenue Property B for $272,000, Cohen, through
Metropolitan and Buy-a-Home, induced two inexperienced, first-time home-buyers,
Buyers 7-A and 7-B, to buy that home for $370,000. To influence the prospective
buyers to accept the inflated valuation, Buy-a-Home sales agents falsely told them
that their mortgage payments would be offset by several hundred dollars in tax
credits. Cohen also concealed Buy-a-Home’s contract to purchase Newark Avenue
Property B by identifying Pearsal Builders as the seller, without disclosing that
Buy-a-Home stood to gain nearly $100,000 in gross profit from the flip sale.

245. Cohen referred Buyers 7-A and 7-B to Lapidus at Cambridge for
purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage from Cambridge, based on the
corrupt agreement or understanding between Cohen and the Cambridge Defendants
that Cambridge would endorse an application for HUD insurance irrespective of
whether Buyers 7-A and 7-B qualified for such insurance or whether Newark
Avenue Property B was worth $370,000.

246. On or about August 1, 2007, Cambridge obtained an inflated appraisal

for Newark Avenue Property B from JJG, valuing the property exactly at the sale
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price, $370,000. JJG’s appraisal report, which Goldberg personally reviewed,
edited, approved, and sent to Cambridge, inflated the value of Newark Avenue
Property B by failing to account for a significant external obsolescence — the fact
that the property was located directly across from and faced the stanchions of an
elevated highway leading to the Bayonne Bridge — that substantially decreased the
value of that property. JJG’s appraisal report also inflated the value of Newark
Avenue Property B by selecting for comparison sales of properties that were not, in
fact, comparable to Newark Avenue Property B.

247. On August 21, 2007, and in connection with originating HUD Loan No.
7, Cambridge issued a commitment letter to Buyers 7-A and 7-B, which required, as
a condition that must be fulfilled prior to closing, that Buyer 7-A pay off certain
personal debts that she owed to creditors such as Wells Fargo and AT&T.

248. On August 30, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed HUD Loan
No. 7, which Kramer, acting as the underwriter, certified as meeting HUD’s
requirements, and which Hyman, certifying on behalf of Cambridge, endorsed for
HUD mortgage insurance.

249. Specifically, Cambridge certified to HUD on August 30, 2007, that all
closing conditions listed in the commitment letter had been met by the time of
closing. In fact, however, Cambridge knew that Buyer 7-A had not paid off her
personal debts prior to closing, because those debts would not be paid off until
August 31, 2007, and September 17, 2007, when Cambridge issued approximately
$15,000 in checks to Buyer 7-A’s creditors, including Wells Fargo and AT&T.

Hyman personally signed those checks.
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250. Cambridge also certified to HUD that the closing documents for HUD
Loan No. 7, including the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, were true and correct. In
fact, however, Cambridge knew that the HUD-1 was false and misleading because it
omitted the fact that Cohen had provided funds to Buyers 7-A and 7-B to pay off
Buyer 7-A’s personal debts, which payment should have been reflected on the HUD-
1 as an inducement to purchase.

251. Further, to conceal the fact that Cohen had provided funds to pay off
Buyer 7-A’s personal debts, the Cambridge Defendants conspired with Cohen and
the Cohen Entities to create false and fraudulent gift affidavits, which asserted that
the funds for paying off Buyer 7-A’s debts had come from two of her relatives, rather
than Cohen. Cohen gave Buyers 7-A and 7-B the false impression that these funds
had come from a grant from AmeriDream, a not-for-profit organization.

252. Cambridge, specifically Kramer, also falsely certified HUD Loan No. 7
to HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that that loan failed to comply
with HUD requirements in, among others, the following respects:

a. The MCAW form for HUD Loan No. 7 falsely understated Buyers 7-
A’s and 7-B’s liabilities by not including the debts they owed, which

Cambridge would not pay off until weeks after the closing;

b. HUD Loan No. 7 had Qualifying Ratios (43.63% and 45.94%) that
significantly exceeded HUD thresholds (31% and 43%, respectively)

and did not have any applicable compensating factor; and

c. JJG’s appraisal for Newark Avenue Property B contained an
inflated valuation for that property and had not been conducted in

accordance with HUD requirements.
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253. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 7, Buyers 7-A and 7-B
contributed only a nominal amount to the down payment or closing costs associated
with purchasing Newark Avenue Property B. Instead, Cohen arranged for the
payment of $14,700 toward the down payment and $12,864.30 in closing costs, both
of which were paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 7. In other words,
Cohen also induced Buyers 7-A and 7-B to buy the property at an inflated price by
effectively paying the entire upfront cost of buying that home.

254. On or about September 10, 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 7 to
Citi, pursuant to the Citi Loan Purchase Agreement and received more than $8,500
for that loan.

255. Cohen gave thousands of dollars to pay off Buyer 7-A’s personal debts,
and also arranged for the payments of nearly all of the down payment and closing
costs, to induce Buyers 7-A and 7-B to obtain HUD Loan No. 7 on the basis of an
inflated valuation for Newark Avenue Property B. In connection with that sale
alone, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home and Mark Wolf, made more than $54,000 in
profits, from the disbursement of HUD Loan No. 7.

256. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the
Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of Newark Avenue Property B to Buyers 7-A
and 7-B at an inflated price, Cambridge received more than $16,000 in fees and
resale proceeds for originating HUD Loan No. 7.

257. Goldberg, who provided an inflated appraisal for Newark Avenue
Property B based on a corrupt agreement or understanding with Cohen and the

Cambridge Defendants, not only was paid $650 for that appraisal, but also ensured
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that he would receive additional appraisal referrals from Cohen and the Cohen
Entities.

258. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent
flip sale of Newark Property B, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge
Defendants, and Goldberg used interstate mail carriers and interstate wire to
transmit documents that contained false and misleading information, including,
among other documents, false and fraudulent gift affidavits and HUD Addendum.

259. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg submitted to
HUD numerous false records and certifications, including the appraisal report for
Newark Avenue Property B and the HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 7. Based
on those false certifications and records, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge
Defendants, and Goldberg obtained HUD mortgage insurance for HUD Loan No. 7.

260. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Citi, using
Interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and
certifications, including JJG’s appraisal report and the Settlement Statement and
HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 7. Based on those false certifications and
records, they caused Citi to purchase HUD Loan No. 7.

261. Buyers 7-A and 7-B, who never could have afforded Newark Avenue
Property B at the inflated price set by Cohen, defaulted on HUD Loan No. 7 within
five months of closing, exposing HUD and Citi potentially to more than $400,000 in
losses.

262. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants,

and Goldberg violated 12 U.S.C. § 1833a in connection with the origination and sale
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of HUD Loan No. 7 in that they engaged in a scheme to defraud HUD, in violation
of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014, and participated in a scheme to commit mail and
wire fraud affecting a financial institution, namely Citibank, in violation of 18
U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343.

H. HUD LOAN NO. 8: NEWARK AVENUE PROPERTY C

263. From in or about February 2007 to in or about June 2007, Cohen, the
Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, Premier, and Buckley conspired to
orchestrate the flip sale of a property located on Newark Avenue in Staten Island,
Richmond County, New York (“Newark Avenue Property C”) at an inflated price to
buyers who lacked the financial wherewithal to purchase the property.

264. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt
agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, Premier, and
Buckley obtained HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of $436,500
used to finance the fraudulent flip sale of Newark Avenue Property C (“HUD Loan
No. 8”), and sold HUD Loan No. 8 to Citi, by paying off the buyers’ personal debts to
induce them to purchase, obtaining an inflated appraisal for Newark Avenue
Property C, creating false records to omit inducements to purchase, falsely
certifying compliance with HUD requirements, and submitting false and misleading
records to HUD and to Citi.

265. Specifically, on or about February 5, 2007, Cohen, through Buy-a-
Home, contracted with Pearsal Builders to purchase Newark Avenue Property C for
approximately $345,000. Rather than closing on that property, Cohen immediately

sought to resell it to inexperienced home-buyers for $450,000.
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266. In or about June 2007, i.e., approximately four months after he
contracted to buy Newark Avenue Property C for $345,000, Cohen, through
Metropolitan and Buy-a-Home, induced two inexperienced, first-time home-buyers,
Buyers 8-A and 8-B, to buy that home for $450,000. Cohen concealed Buy-a-Home’s
contract to purchase Newark Avenue Property C by identifying Pearsal Builders as
the seller, without disclosing that Buy-a-Home stood to gain more than $100,000 in
gross profit from the flip sale.

267. Cohen referred Buyers 8-A and 8-B to Lapidus at Cambridge for
purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage from Cambridge, based on the
corrupt agreement or understanding between Cohen and the Cambridge Defendants
that Cambridge would endorse an application for HUD insurance irrespective of
whether Buyers 8-A and 8-B qualified for such insurance or whether Newark
Avenue Property C was worth $450,000.

268. On or about June 18, 2007, at Cohen’s direction, Buckley, through
Premier, issued an inflated appraisal of Newark Avenue Property C for Cambridge,
valuing the property exactly at the sale price, $450,000. Buckley’s appraisal report
inflated the value of Newark Avenue Property C by failing to account for a
significant external obsolescence — the fact that the property was located directly
across from and faced the stanchions of an elevated highway leading to the Bayonne
Bridge — that substantially decreased the value of that property. Buckley’s
appraisal report also inflated the value of Newark Avenue Property C by using as
sales comparisons two other properties that Cohen had sold in earlier flip sales, in

violation of a basic appraisal standard.
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269. On June 20, 2007, and in connection with originating HUD Loan No. 8,
Cambridge issued a commitment letter to Buyers 8-A and 8-B, which required, as a
condition that must be fulfilled prior to closing, that Buyers 8-A and 8-B pay off
certain personal debts that they owed to creditors such as AT&T and Plaza
Associates.

270. On dJune 21, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed HUD Loan
No. 8, which Kramer, acting as the underwriter, certified as meeting HUD’s
requirements, and which Hyman, certifying on behalf of Cambridge, endorsed for
HUD mortgage insurance.

271. Specifically, Cambridge certified to HUD on June 21, 2007, that all
closing conditions listed in the commitment letter had been met by the time of
closing. In fact, however, Cambridge knew that Buyers 8-A and 8-B had not paid off
their personal debts prior to closing, because those debts would not be paid off until
June 22, 2007, when Cambridge issued approximately $1,780 in checks to Buyers 8-
A’s and 8-B’s creditors, including AT&T and Plaza Associates. Hyman personally
signed those checks.

272. Cambridge also certified to HUD that the closing documents for HUD
Loan No. 8, including the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, were true and correct. In
fact, however, Cambridge knew that the HUD-1 was false and misleading because it
omitted the fact that Cohen had provided the funds for paying off Buyers 8-A’s and
8-B’s personal debts, which payment should have been reflected on the HUD-1 as an

inducement to purchase.
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273. Further, to conceal the fact that Cohen had provided the funds for
paying off Buyers 8-A’s and 8-B’s personal debts, the Cambridge Defendants
conspired with Cohen and the Cohen Entities to create records to assert falsely that
the funds for paying off those debts had come from Buyers 8-A and 8-B.

274. Cambridge, specifically Kramer, also falsely certified HUD Loan No. 8
to HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that that loan failed to comply

with HUD requirements in, among others, the following respects:

a. The MCAW form for HUD Loan No. 8 falsely understated Buyers
8-A’s and 8-B’s liabilities by not including the debts they owed,

which Cambridge would not pay off until weeks after the closing;

b. HUD Loan No. 8 had Qualifying Ratios (44.16% and 47.87%) that
significantly exceeded HUD thresholds (31% and 43%, respectively)

and did not have any applicable compensating factor; and

c. Buckley’s appraisal for Newark Avenue Property C contained an
inflated valuation for that property and had not been conducted in

accordance with HUD requirements.

275. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 8, Buyers 8-A and 8-B
contributed only a nominal amount to the down payment or closing costs associated
with purchasing Newark Avenue Property C. Instead, Cohen arranged for the
payment of $14,000 toward the down payment and $19,024.50 in closing costs, both
of which were paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 8. In other words,
Cohen also induced Buyers 8-A and 8-B to buy the property at an inflated price by

effectively paying the entire upfront cost of buying that home.
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276. On or about July 16, 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 8 to Citi,
pursuant to the Citi Loan Purchase Agreement and received more than $10,000 for
that loan.

277. Cohen gave Cambridge thousands of dollars to pay off Buyers 8-A and
8-B’s personal debts, and also arranged for the payments of nearly all of the down
payment and closing costs, to induce Buyers 8-A and 8-B to obtain HUD Loan No. 8
on the basis of an inflated valuation for Newark Avenue Property C. In connection
with that sale alone, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home and Wolf & Wolf, made more
than $48,000 in profits, from the disbursement of HUD Loan No. 8.

278. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the
Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of Newark Avenue Property C to Buyers 8-A
and 8-B at an inflated price, Cambridge received more than $21,000 in fees and
resale proceeds for originating HUD Loan No. 8.

279. Buckley, who provided an inflated appraisal for Newark Avenue
Property C based on a corrupt agreement or understanding with Cohen and the
Cambridge Defendants, not only was paid $450 for that appraisal, but also ensured
future appraisal referrals from Cohen. This included appraisals of two other
adjacent properties on Newark Avenue, both of which were sold by Cohen and both
of which Buckley appraised at inflated values. Buckley also further cemented the
corrupt and lucrative relationship between his business interests and Cohen’s. See
supra at g 88.

280. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent

flip sale of Newark Property C, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge
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Defendants, Premier, and Buckley used interstate mail carriers and interstate wire
to transmit documents that contained false and misleading information, including,
among other documents, false and fraudulent appraisal report and HUD
Addendum.

281. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants and Buckley submitted to
HUD numerous false records and certifications, including the appraisal report for
Newark Avenue Property C and the HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 8. Based
on those false certifications and records, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge
Defendants, Premier, and Buckley obtained HUD mortgage insurance for HUD
Loan No. 8.

282. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Citi, using
Interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and
certifications, including the HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 8. Based on those
false certifications and records, they caused Citi to purchase HUD Loan No. 8.

283. Buyers 8-A and 8-B, who never could have afforded Newark Avenue
Property C at the inflated price Cohen set, defaulted on HUD Loan No. 8 within 100
days of closing, exposing HUD and Citi potentially to more than $500,000 in losses.

284. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants,
Premier, and Buckley violated 12 U.S.C. § 1833a in connection with the origination
and sale of HUD Loan No. 8 in that they engaged in a scheme to defraud HUD, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014, and participated in a scheme to commit
mail and wire fraud affecting a financial institution, namely Citibank, in violation

of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343.
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I. HUD LOAN NO. 9: EAST TREMONT AVENUE, THE BRONX

285. From in or about May 2007 to in or about September 2007, Cohen, the
Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg conspired to orchestrate
the flip sale of a property located on East Tremont Avenue in Bronx County, New
York (the “East Tremont Avenue Property”) at an inflated price to buyers who
lacked the financial wherewithal to purchase the property.

286. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt
agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg
obtained HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of $459,700 used to
finance the fraudulent flip sale of the East Tremont Avenue Property (“HUD Loan
No. 9”), and sold HUD Loan No. 9 to Countrywide by paying off the buyers’ personal
debts to induce them to purchase, obtaining an inflated appraisal for the East
Tremont Avenue Property, creating false records to inflate a buyer’s income and
omit inducements to purchase, falsely certifying compliance with HUD
requirements, and submitting false and misleading records to HUD and to
Countrywide.

287. In or about May 2007, Cohen, through Gramercy, bought the East
Tremont Avenue Property for $312,700.

288. In or about August and September 2007, i.e., less than four months
later, Cohen induced two inexperienced, first-time home-buyers, Buyers 9-A and 9-
B, to purchase the East Tremont Avenue Property, for $474,000.

289. Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, referred Buyers 9-A and 9-B to Lapidus

at Cambridge for purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage from Cambridge,
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based on a corrupt agreement or understanding between Cohen and the Cambridge
Defendants that Cambridge would endorse an application for HUD insurance
irrespective of whether Buyers 9-A and 9-B qualified for such insurance or whether
the East Tremont Avenue Property was worth $474,000.

290. On or about August 30, 2007, JJG issued an appraisal report for the
East Tremont Avenue Property, valuing the property at $475,000 and the rental
income that Buyers 9-A and 9-B could expect to earn at $1,500 per month. That
appraisal report, which Goldberg personally reviewed, edited, approved, and sent to
Cambridge, contained an inflated valuation for the property and rental income, and
numerous other falsities.

291. Specifically, JJG relied on sales and rental comparisons that were not
truly comparable to the East Tremont Avenue Property. JJG’s appraisal report also
inflated the value of the property by significantly overstating the costs of the
renovations that had been made.

292. On August 27, 2007, and in connection with originating HUD Loan No.
9, Cambridge issued a commitment letter to Buyers 9-A and 9-B, which required, as
a condition that must be fulfilled prior to closing, that those buyers pay off certain
personal debts, such as child support arrears and state court judgments.

293. On September 6, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed HUD
Loan No. 9 to Buyers 9-A and 9-B. Kramer, acting as the underwriter, certified to
HUD that HUD Loan No. 9 met HUD’s underwriting requirements. Further,
Derrell, certifying on behalf of Cambridge, endorsed HUD Loan No. 9 to HUD for

mortgage insurance.
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294. Specifically, Cambridge certified to HUD on September 6, 2007, that
all closing conditions listed in the commitment letter had been met by the time of
closing. In fact, however, Cambridge knew that Buyers 9-A and 9-B had not paid off
their personal debts prior to closing, because those debts would not be paid off until
September 7 and September 19, 2007, when Cambridge issued approximately
$4,350 in checks to Buyers 9-A’s and 9-B’s creditors, including child support arrears
and state court judgments. Hyman personally signed those checks.

295. Cambridge also certified to HUD that the closing documents for HUD
Loan No. 9, including the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, were true and correct. In
fact, however, Cambridge knew that the HUD-1 was false and misleading because it
omitted the fact that Cohen had promised Buyers 9-A and 9-B that he would make
the first mortgage payment for them — a promise that should have been reflected in
the HUD-1 as an inducement to purchase.

296. In connection with endorsing HUD Loan No. 9 for HUD mortgage
insurance, Cambridge also certified to HUD that the Loan Applications and the
MCAW form for Buyers 9-A and 9-B were true and correct. In fact, however, the
Cambridge Defendants conspired with Cohen and the Cohen Entities to falsify
those records to inflate Buyer 9-B’s income.

297. Specifically, Buyer 9-B told Lapidus that his monthly salary was
$3,250. Cambridge, however, inserted $4,160 as Buyer 9-B’s monthly salary into
his final Loan Application and the MCAW form. By inflating Buyer 9-B’s monthly

income, Cambridge fraudulently lowered the Qualifying Ratios for HUD Loan No. 9.
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298. Further, Cambridge, through Derrell, also falsely certified HUD Loan
No. 9 to HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that HUD Loan No. 9 failed

to comply with HUD requirements in, among others, the following respects:

a. The MCAW form for HUD Loan No. 9 falsely overstated Buyer
9-B’s monthly income and also falsely understated the total
liabilities for him and Buyer 9-A by not including the personal
debts that Cambridge would not pay off until days after the closing;

b. HUD Loan No. 9 had Qualifying Ratios (47.54% and 49.24%) that
significantly exceeded HUD thresholds (31% and 43%, respectively),

and did not have any applicable compensating factor; and

d. JJG’s appraisal for the East Tremont Avenue Property had not
been conducted in accordance with HUD requirements and
contained an inflated valuation for the East Tremont Avenue

Property.

299. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 9, Buyers 9-A and 9-B
contributed only a minimal amount to the down payment or closing costs associated
with purchasing the East Tremont Avenue Property. Instead, Cohen, as the seller,
paid $18,140 toward the down payment and $16,468.12 in closing costs, both of
which were paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 9. In other words, Cohen
induced Buyers 9-A and 9-B to buy the property at an inflated price by effectively
paying the entire upfront cost of buying that home.

300. On dJuly 27, 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 9 to Countrywide,
pursuant to the Countrywide Loan Purchase Agreement and received more than

$14,000 for that loan.
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301. Cohen promised to make a mortgage payment for Buyers 9-A and 9-B,
and also paid for nearly all of the down payment and closing costs, to induce them
to obtain HUD Loan No. 9 based on an inflated price for the East Tremont Avenue
Property. In connection with that sale alone, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home and
Mark Wolf, made more than $101,000 in net profits, from the disbursement of HUD
Loan No. 9.

302. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the
Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of the East Tremont Avenue Property to
Buyers 9-A and 9-B at an inflated price, Cambridge received close to $28,000 in fees
and resale proceeds for originating HUD Loan No. 9.

303. Goldberg, who provided an inflated appraisal for the East Tremont
Avenue Property based on a corrupt agreement or understanding with Cohen and
the Cambridge Defendants, not only was paid $600 for that appraisal, but also
ensured that he would receive additional appraisal referrals from Cambridge.

304. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent
flip sale of the East Tremont Avenue Property, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the
Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg used interstate mail carriers and interstate
wire to transmit documents that contained false and misleading information,
including, among other documents, false and fraudulent loan applications, appraisal
report, MCAW form, and HUD Addendum.

305. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg submitted to
HUD numerous false records and certifications, including the appraisal report for

the East Tremont Avenue Property and the Settlement Statement and HUD
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Addendum for HUD Loan No. 9. Based on those false certifications and records,
Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg obtained HUD
mortgage insurance to HUD Loan No. 9.

306. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Countrywide,
using interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and
certifications, including JJG’s appraisal report and the Settlement Statement and
HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 9. Based on those false certifications and
records, they caused Countrywide to purchase HUD Loan No. 9.

307. Based on the false and fraudulent certifications and records created by
Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg, which
certification and records had been sent to HUD using interstate mail and by wire,
HUD agreed to insure HUD Loan No. 9. Further, based on those false and
fraudulent records, which had been sent to Countrywide using interstate mail and
by wire, Countrywide agreed to purchase HUD Loan No. 9 from Cambridge.

308. Buyers 9-A and 9-B, who never could have afforded the East Tremont
Avenue Property at the inflated price Cohen set, defaulted on HUD Loan No. 9
within five months of the closing, exposing HUD and Countrywide potentially to
more than $500,000 in losses.

309. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants,
and Goldberg violated 12 U.S.C. § 1833a in connection with the origination and sale
of HUD Loan No. 9 in that they engaged in a scheme to defraud HUD, in violation

of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014, and participated in a scheme to commit mail and

91



Case 1:10-cv-09280-LGS Document 96 Filed 02/15/12 Page 92 of 210

wire fraud affecting a financial institution, namely Countrywide Bank, in violation
of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343.

J. HUD LOAN NO. 10: BARKLEY AVENUE, BRONX

310. From in or about April 2007 to in or about May 2007, Cohen, the
Cohen Entities, and the Cambridge Defendants conspired to orchestrate the flip
sale of a property located on Barkley Avenue in the Bronx, New York (the “Barkley
Avenue Property”) at an inflated price to inexperienced home-buyers who lacked the
financial wherewithal to purchase the property.

311. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt
agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, and the Cambridge Defendants obtained
HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of $315,250 used to finance the
fraudulent flip sale of the Barkley Avenue Property (“HUD Loan No. 10”), and sold
HUD Loan No. 10 to Citi, by paying off the buyers’ personal debts and promising to
make mortgage payments on the buyers’ behalves to induce them to purchase,
obtaining an inflated appraisal for the Barkley Avenue Property, creating false
records to conceal inducements to purchase, falsely certifying compliance with HUD
requirements, and submitting false and misleading records to HUD and to Citi.

312. Specifically, in or about October 2005, Cohen, through Gramercy,
acquired the Barkley Avenue Property for $140,000. In or about March 2006, and
to conceal the extent to which he was inflating the price of the Barkley Avenue
Property for a subsequent resale, Cohen arranged for Gramercy to transfer that

home to him at the inflated amount of $340,000.
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313. In or about April and May 2007, Cohen, through Metropolitan and
Buy-a-Home, induced two inexperienced, first-time home-buyers, Buyers 10-A and
10-B, to buy the Barkley Avenue Property from him for $325,000, i.e., 130% more
than what Gramercy had paid for that home a year and half earlier.

314. To induce Buyers 10-A and 10-B to purchase the home, Cohen initially
promised to give them $10,000 immediately after the closing. Subsequently, Cohen
promised those buyers that, instead of giving them cash, he would make five
monthly mortgage payments for them and pay off their personal debts.

315. On or about May 3, 2007, Cohen referred Buyers 10-A and 10-B to
Lapidus at Cambridge for purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage — on a
“Super Super Rush” basis — from Cambridge, based on the corrupt agreement or
understanding between Cohen and the Cambridge Defendants that Cambridge
would endorse an application for HUD insurance irrespective of whether Buyers 10-
A and 10-B qualified for such insurance or whether the Barkley Avenue Property
was worth $325,000.

316. On or about April 4, 2007, Cambridge obtained an inflated appraisal
for the Barkley Avenue Property from Rapid, valuing the property exactly at the
price Cohen set, $325,000. Specifically, the Rapid appraisal ignored salient
differences between the Barkley Avenue Property and the properties that Rapid
used as “comparable sales.” For example, one of those comparable sales had
approximately 30% more living space than the Barkley Avenue Property. Rapid,
however, only attributed $7,680 in value, or less than 3% of the sales price, to that

significant difference.
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317. On May 10, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed HUD Loan
No. 10. Desiree Madison, acting as the underwriter, certified HUD Loan
No. 10 as meeting HUD’s requirements; further, Derrell, certifying on behalf of
Cambridge, endorsed that loan for HUD mortgage insurance.

318. Specifically, Cambridge certified to HUD that the closing documents,
including the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, for HUD Loan No. 10 were true and
correct. In fact, however, Cambridge knew that the HUD-1 was false and
misleading because it omitted (1) the fact that Cohen had promised Buyers 10-A and
10-B to make mortgage payments, worth thousands of dollars, on their behalves
and (i1) the fact that Cohen also gave Buyer 10-A several hundred dollars to give to
Cambridge, for purposes of paying off his personal debts. Both the funds that
Cohen gave to the buyers and promised to expend on their behalves should have
been reflected on the HUD-1 as inducements to purchase.

319. On or about May 15, 2007, Cambridge obtained approximately $600 in
money orders and sent those money orders to Buyers 10-A’s creditors, such as
Verizon, to pay off his personal debts.

320. To conceal the fact that Cohen had given funds to Buyers 10-A to pay
off his personal debts, the Cambridge Defendants conspired with Cohen and the
Cohen Entities to create false and fraudulent records. Specifically, Derrell inserted
a note into Cambridge’s loan file for HUD Loan No. 10, claiming that the funds for
the money orders had come from Buyers 10-A and 10-B. In fact, however, Cohen

was the source of those funds.
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321. In connection with originating HUD Loan No. 10, Cambridge also
falsely certified that loan to HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that
that loan failed to comply with HUD requirements in, among others, the following
respects:

a. The MCAW form for HUD Loan No. 10 falsely stated that Buy 10-A
had no personal liabilities at closing, whereas he in fact still owed

several hundred dollars in personal debts;

b. HUD Loan No. 10 had Qualifying Ratios (49.23% and 49.23%) that
significantly exceeded HUD thresholds (31% and 43%, respectively)

and did not have any applicable compensating factor; and

c. Rapid’s appraisal for the Barkley Avenue Property contained an
inflated valuation for that property and had not been conducted in

accordance with HUD requirements.

322. On or about May 25, 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 10 to Citi,
pursuant to the Citi Loan Purchase Agreement and received more than $7,500 for
that loan. After Citi purchased HUD Loan No. 10 from Cambridge, Cohen made
several mortgage payments on behalf of Buyers 10-A and 10-B.

323. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 10, Buyers 10-A and 10-B
contributed only a nominal amount to the down payment or closing costs associated
with purchasing the Barkley Avenue Property. Instead, Cohen arranged for the
payment of $9,750 toward the down payment and $13,040.18 in closing costs, both
of which were paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 10. In other words,
Cohen also induced Buyers 10-A and 10-B to buy the property at an inflated price

by effectively paying the entire upfront cost of buying that home.
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324. Cohen gave funds to Buyers 10-A to pay off his personal debts,
arranged for the payments of nearly all of the down payment and closing costs, and
made mortgage payments on behalf of Buyers 10-A and 10-B, to induce those
inexperienced home-buyers to obtain HUD Loan No. 10 on the basis of an inflated
valuation for the Barkley Avenue Property. In connection with that sale alone,
Cohen received more than $25,000 from the disbursement of HUD Loan No. 10.

325. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the
Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of the Barkley Avenue Property to Buyers
10-A and 10-B at an inflated price, Cambridge received more than $15,700 in fees
and resale proceeds for originating HUD Loan No. 10.

326. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent
flip sale of the Barkley Avenue Property, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, and the
Cambridge Defendants used interstate mail carriers and interstate wire to transmit
documents that contained false and misleading information, including, among other
documents, the HUD-1 Settlement Statement and the HUD Addendum.

327. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants submitted to HUD numerous
false records and certifications, including the HUD-1 Settlement Statement and the
HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 10. Based on those false records and
certifications, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, and the Cambridge Defendants obtained
HUD mortgage insurance to HUD Loan No. 10.

328. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Citi, using
Interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and

certifications, including the HUD-1 Settlement Statement and the HUD Addendum
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for HUD Loan No. 10. Based on those false certifications and records, they caused
Citi to purchase HUD Loan No. 10.

329. Buyers 10-A and 10-B, who never could have afforded the Barkley
Avenue Property at the inflated price Cohen set, defaulted on HUD Loan No. 10
within five months of closing, exposing HUD and Citi potentially to more than
$350,000 1in losses.

330. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, and the Cambridge
Defendants violated 12 U.S.C. § 1833a in connection with the origination and sale of
HUD Loan No. 10 in that they engaged in a scheme to defraud HUD, in violation of
18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014, and participated in a scheme to commit mail and wire
fraud affecting a financial institution, namely Citibank, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§
1341 and 1343.

K. HUD LOAN NO. 11: NEWARK AVENUE PROPERTY D

331. From in or about February 2007 to in or about May 2007, Cohen, the
Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg conspired to orchestrate
the flip sale of a property located on Newark Avenue in Staten Island, Richmond
County, New York (“Newark Avenue Property D”) at an inflated price to buyers who
lacked the financial wherewithal to purchase the property.

332. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt
agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg
obtained HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of $436,500 used to
finance the fraudulent flip sale of Newark Avenue Property D (“HUD Loan No. 117),

and sold HUD Loan No. 11 to Citi, by paying off the buyers’ personal debts to
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induce them to purchase, obtaining an inflated appraisal for Newark Avenue
Property D, creating false records to omit inducements to purchase, falsely
certifying compliance with HUD requirements, and submitting false and misleading
records to HUD and to Citi.

333. Specifically, on or about February 5, 2007, Cohen, through Buy-a-
Home, contracted with Pearsal Builders to purchase Newark Avenue Property D for
approximately $345,000. Rather than closing on that property, Cohen immediately
sought to resell it to inexperienced home-buyers for $450,000.

334. In or about May 2007, i.e., less than four months after he contracted to
buy Newark Avenue Property D for $345,000, Cohen, through Metropolitan and
Buy-a-Home, induced two inexperienced, first-time home-buyers, Buyers 11-A and
11-B, to buy that home for $450,000. To circumvent HUD rules regarding flip sales,
Cohen concealed Buy-a-Home’s contract to purchase Newark Avenue Property D by
identifying Pearsal Builders as the seller, without disclosing that Buy-a-Home stood
to gain more than $100,000 in gross profit from the flip sale.

335. Cohen referred Buyers 11-A and 11-B to Lapidus at Cambridge for
purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage from Cambridge, based on the
corrupt agreement or understanding between Cohen and the Cambridge Defendants
that Cambridge would endorse an application for HUD insurance irrespective of
whether Buyers 11-A and 11-B qualified for such insurance or whether Newark
Avenue Property D was worth $450,000.

336. On or about May 15, 2007, Cambridge obtained an inflated appraisal

for Newark Avenue Property D from JJG, valuing the property exactly at the sale
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price, $450,000. The JJG report, which Goldberg personally reviewed, edited,
approved, and sent to Cambridge, inflated the value of Newark Avenue Property D
by failing to account for a significant external obsolescence — the fact that the
property was located directly across from and faced the stanchions of an elevated
highway leading to the Bayonne Bridge — that substantially decreased the value of
that property. It also inflated the value of Newark Avenue Property D by using as
comparable sales other properties that Cohen had sold in flip sales and inflating the
monthly rental income that could be generated by Newark Avenue Property D.

337. Further, and in contravention of a basic tenet of HUD appraisal
standards, JJG complied with Cambridge’s demand to “hit the number” on Newark
Avenue Property D. Specifically, in a fax dated May 24, 2007, Derrell requested
that Goldberg email a “correct[ed]” version of his appraisal report for that property
to her. Derrell’s corrections included changing the estimated rental income from
$800 per month to $900 per month. JJG, without any justification and in
contravention of HUD rules, incorporated Derrell’s changes into his final appraisal
report. Relevant excerpts from Derrell’s May 24, 2007 fax are attached to this
Complaint as Exhibit 5.

338. On May 24, 2007, Cambridge issued checks, totaling approximately
$6,800, to creditors such as Capital One Auto and NCO Financial to pay off debts
owed by Borrower 11-B, which were wholly unrelated to his purchase of Newark
Avenue Property D.

339. On May 24, 2007, Cambridge also originated and processed HUD Loan

No. 11. Derrell, acting as the underwriter, certified as meeting HUD’s
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requirements. Further, Hyman, certifying on behalf of Cambridge, endorsed for
HUD mortgage insurance.

340. Specifically, Cambridge certified to HUD that the closing documents
for HUD Loan No. 11, including the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, were true and
correct. In fact, however, Cambridge knew that the HUD-1 was false and
misleading because it omitted the fact that Cohen had provided approximately
$7,000 to Buyers 11-A and 11-B to pay off Buyer 11-A’s personal debts, which
payment should have been reflected on the HUD-1 as an inducement to purchase.

341. Further, to conceal the fact that Cohen had provided funds to pay off
Buyer 11-A’s personal debts, the Cambridge Defendants created false records for
HUD Loan No. 11. Specifically, Derrell, on behalf of Cambridge, inserted a note
into Cambridge’s mortgage loan file, claiming that Buyers 11-A and 11-B had
brought funds to the closing to pay off Buyer 11-A’s debts. In fact, Cambridge knew
that Cohen had provided $7,000 to Buyers 11-A and 11-B to give to Cambridge
because a Cambridge employee had facilitated the transfer of the funds from Cohen
to the buyers.

342. Cambridge, specifically Derrell, also falsely certified HUD Loan No. 11
to HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that that loan failed to comply
with HUD requirements in, among others, the following respects:

a. The MCAW form for HUD Loan No. 11 falsely understated Buyers
11-A’s and 11-B’s liabilities by not including thousands of dollars of
debts they owed, which Cambridge would not pay off until weeks

after the closing;
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b. HUD Loan No. 11 had Qualifying Ratios (36.24% and 49.19%) that
significantly exceeded HUD thresholds (31% and 43%, respectively)

and did not have any applicable compensating factor; and

c. JJG’s appraisal for Newark Avenue Property D inflated the value of
that property and had not been conducted in accordance with HUD

requirements.

343. In or about July 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 11 to Citi,
pursuant to the Citi Loan Purchase Agreement and received more than $10,000 for
the loan.

344. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 11, Buyers 11-A and 11-B
contributed only a nominal amount to the down payment or closing costs associated
with purchasing Newark Avenue Property D. Instead, Cohen arranged for the
payment of $13,500 toward the down payment and $17,735.48 in closing costs, both
of which were paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 11. In other words,
Cohen also induced Buyers 11-A and 11-B to buy the property at an inflated price
by effectively paying the entire upfront cost of buying that home.

345. Cohen provided $7,000 to pay off Buyers 11-A’s personal debts, and
also arranged for the payments of nearly all of the down payment and closing costs,
to induce Buyers 11-A and 11-B to obtain HUD Loan No. 11 on the basis of an
inflated valuation for Newark Avenue Property D. In connection with that sale
alone, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home and Wolf & Wolf, made more than $80,000 in
profits from the disbursement of HUD Loan No. 11.

346. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the

Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of Newark Avenue Property D to Buyers 11-
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A and 11-B at an inflated price, Cambridge received more than $22,000 in fees and
resale proceeds for originating HUD Loan No. 11.

347. Goldberg conspired with the Cambridge Defendants to facilitate
Cohen’s flip sale of Newark Avenue Property D by inflating the valuation of that
property and by issuing an appraisal report that failed to comply with HUD
appraisal standards. In addition to being paid several hundred dollars for that
appraisal, Goldberg also ensured that JJG would receive hundreds of additional
appraisal assignments from Cambridge.

348. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent
flip sale of Newark Property D, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge
Defendants, and Goldberg used interstate mail carriers and interstate wire to
transmit documents that contained false and misleading information, including,
among other documents, false and fraudulent appraisal report, HUD-1 Settlement
Statement, and HUD Addendum.

349. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg submitted to
HUD numerous false records and certifications, including the appraisal report, the
HUD-1 Settlement Statement, and the HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 11.
Based on those false certifications and records, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the
Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg obtained HUD mortgage insurance to HUD
Loan No. 11.

350. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Citi, using
Interstate mail carrier and iInterstate wire, numerous false records and

certifications, including JJG’s appraisal report, the HUD-1 Settlement Statement,
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and the HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 11. Based on those false certifications
and records, they caused Citi to purchase HUD Loan No. 11.

351. Buyers 11-A and 11-B, who never could have afforded Newark Avenue
Property D at the inflated price Cohen set, defaulted on HUD Loan No. 11 within
one and half years of closing, exposing HUD and Citi potentially to more than
$450,000 1n losses.

352. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants,
and Goldberg violated 12 U.S.C. § 1833a in connection with the origination and sale
of HUD Loan No. 1 in that they engaged in a scheme to defraud HUD, in violation
of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014, and participated in a scheme to commit mail and
wire fraud affecting a financial institution, namely Citibank, in violation of 18
U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343.

L. HUD LOAN NO. 12: SOUTH 3RD AVENUE, MOUNT VERNON

353. From in or about March 2007 to in or about July 2007, Cohen, the
Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg conspired to orchestrate
the flip sale of a property located on South 34 Avenue in Mount Vernon (the “South
3rd Avenue Property”) at an inflated price to inexperienced home-buyers who lacked
the financial wherewithal to purchase the property.

354. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt
agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg
obtained HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of $460,750 used to
finance the fraudulent flip sale of the South 3rd Avenue Property (“HUD Loan No.

12”), and sold HUD Loan No. 12 to Citi, by misrepresenting the true cost of home
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ownership, paying off the buyers’ personal debts to induce them to purchase,
obtaining an inflated appraisal for the South 3rd Avenue Property, creating false
records to omit inducements to purchase, falsely certifying compliance with HUD
requirements, and submitting false and misleading records to HUD and to Citi.

355. Specifically, on or about March 15, 2007, Cohen, through Gramercy,
contracted to acquire the South 3t Avenue Property from an individual, Jonathan
King, for $357,000. Rather than closing on the property, Cohen immediately sought
to resell it through Metropolitan and Buy-a-Home to inexperienced home-buyers.

356. Less than three months after he contracted to buy the South 3vd
Avenue Property, Cohen induced two inexperienced, first-time home-buyers, Buyers
12-A and 12-B, to buy that home in June 2007 for $475,000, i.e., approximately
$120,000 more than what Cohen had contracted to pay. To circumvent HUD rules
regarding flip sales, Cohen concealed Gramercy’s contract to buy the South 3vd
Avenue Property by identifying King as the seller, without disclosing that Gramercy
stood to gain nearly $120,000 in gross profit from the flip sale.

357. Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, referred Buyers 12-A and 12-B to
Lapidus at Cambridge for purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage from
Cambridge, based on a corrupt agreement or understanding between Cohen and the
Cambridge Defendants that Cambridge would endorse an application for HUD
insurance irrespective of whether Buyers 12-A and 12-B qualified for such
insurance or whether the South 3rd Avenue Property was worth $475,000.

358. On June 27, 2007, Cambridge issued a commitment letter to Buyers

12-A and 12-B, which required, as a condition that must be fulfilled prior to closing,
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that those buyers pay off several thousand dollars in personal debts they owed to
creditors such as Bally Total Fitness and Capital One Bank.

359. On or about April 25, 2007, and again on or about June 28, 2007,
Goldberg issued an appraisal report for the South 3t Avenue Property. Goldberg
inflated the value of that property by valuing it — “as is” — at the exact price set by
Cohen, $475,000. Specifically, Goldberg inflated the value of the South 3rd Avenue
Property by (1) claiming that no major repairs were needed, when in fact the South
3rd Avenue Property required, among other things, replacement of both the
bathroom and the kitchen in the studio unit; (ii) ignoring the sale of the most
similar property in the neighborhood for $350,000, and instead selecting
“comparable sales” that were not actually comparable to the South 3rd Avenue
Property; and (ii1) basing the expected rental income for the studio unit at the South
3rd Avenue Property on the rent charged for one-bedroom apartments in the
neighborhood.

360. On June 28, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed HUD Loan No.
12 for Buyers 12-A and 12-B to purchase the South 3t Avenue Property. Derrell,
acting as the underwriter, certified to HUD that HUD Loan No. 12 met HUD’s
underwriting requirements. Further, Hyman, certifying on behalf of Cambridge,
endorsed HUD Loan No. 12 to HUD for mortgage insurance.

361. Specifically, Cambridge certified to HUD that all closing conditions
listed in the commitment letter issued by Cambridge had been met by the time of
closing on June 28, 2007. In fact, however, Cambridge knew that Buyers 12-A and

12-B had not paid off their personal debts prior to closing, because those debts
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would not be paid off until July 3, 2007, when Cambridge issued approximately
$3,100 in checks to Buyers 12-A’s and 12-B’s creditors, including Bally Total Fitness
and Capital One Bank. Hyman personally signed those checks.

362. Cambridge also certified to HUD that the closing documents, including
the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, for HUD Loan No. 12 were true and correct. In
fact, Cambridge knew that the HUD-1 was false and misleading because it omitted
the fact that Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, had provided approximately $6,000 in
funds to pay off Buyers 12-A’s and 12-B’s personal debts, which payment should
have been reflected on the HUD-1 as an inducement to purchase.

363. Further, to conceal the fact that Cohen had provided the funds to pay
off Buyers 12-A’s and 12-B’s personal debts, the Cambridge Defendants conspired
with Cohen and the Cohen Entities to create records to assert falsely that the funds
for paying off those debts had come from Buyers 12-A and 12-B.

364. Specifically, Derrell created a false note stating that, at closing,
Cambridge had received $6,000 in cash from Buyers 12-A and 12-B. According to
Derrell’s note, Buyers 12-A and 12-B had obtained $6,000 by cashing their 2006 tax
refund check. Derrell’s note provided Cambridge with an explanation for why
Buyers 12-A’s and 12-B’s bank account statements did not reflect their depositing
the tax refund check and then withdrawing cash to pay Cambridge. Derrell,
however, knew that her note was false because Buyers 12-A and 12-B did not give
any cash to Cambridge. In fact, one of Cohen’s employees and Lapidus specifically
promised Buyers 12-A and 12-B that they could purchase the South 3rd Avenue

Property without contributing any funds upfront.
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365. Further, Cambridge, through Hyman, also falsely certified HUD Loan
No. 12 to HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that HUD Loan No. 12

failed to comply with HUD requirements in, among others, the following respects:

a. The MCAW form for HUD Loan No. 12 falsely understated the
amount of personal liabilities for Buyers 12-A and 12-B, by leaving
out thousands of dollars of debts that they still owed at closing to
Bally Total Fitness, Capital One Bank, and other creditors;

b. HUD Loan No. 12 had Qualifying Ratios (38.15% and 47.48%) that
significantly exceeded HUD thresholds (31% and 43%, respectively),

and did not have any applicable compensating factor; and

c. Goldberg’s appraisal significantly inflated the value for the South
3rd Avenue Property and had not been conducted in accordance

with HUD requirements.

366. On July 27, 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 12 to Countrywide,
pursuant to the Countrywide Loan Purchase Agreement and received
approximately $11,000 for that loan.

367. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 12, Buyers 12-A and 12-B
contributed only a minimal amount to the down payment or closing costs associated
with purchasing the South 3rd Avenue Property. Instead, Cohen, as the seller, paid
$14,250 toward the down payment and approximately $15,017.62 in closing costs,
both of which were paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 12. In other
words, Cohen induced Buyers 12-A and 12-B to buy the property at an inflated price
by effectively paying the entire upfront cost of buying that home.

368. Cohen provided thousands of dollars to pay off Buyers 12-A’s and 12-

B’s their personal debts, and also paid for nearly all of the down payment and
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closing costs, to induce those buyers to obtain HUD Loan No. 12 based on an
inflated price for the South 3rd Avenue Property. In connection with that sale
alone, Cohen made more than $110,000 in profits, which flowed directly from the
disbursement of HUD Loan No. 12.

369. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the
Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of the South 3rd Avenue Property to Buyers
12-A and 12-B at an inflated price, Cambridge received approximately $17,500 in
fees and resale proceeds for originating HUD Loan No. 12.

370. Goldberg, who provided an inflated appraisal for the South 3rd Avenue
Property based on a corrupt agreement or understanding with the Cambridge
Defendants and Cohen, not only was paid $550 for that appraisal, but also ensured
that he would receive additional appraisal assignments from Cambridge.

371. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent
flip sale of the South 3rd Avenue Property, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the
Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg used interstate mail carriers and interstate
wire to transmit documents that contained false and misleading information,
including, among other documents, the MCAW form, the appraisal report, the
HUD-1 Settlement Statement, and the HUD Addendum.

372. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg submitted to
HUD numerous false records and certifications, including the appraisal report for
the South 3rd Avenue Property and the Settlement Statement and HUD Addendum

for HUD Loan No. 12. Based on those false certifications and records, Cohen, the
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Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg obtained HUD mortgage
insurance to HUD Loan No. 12.

373. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Countrywide,
using interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and
certifications, including Goldberg’s appraisal report and the Settlement Statement
and HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 12. Based on those false certifications and
records, they caused Countrywide to purchase HUD Loan No. 12.

374. Buyers 12-A and 12-B, who never could have afforded the South 3vd
Avenue Property at the inflated price Cohen set, defaulted on HUD Loan No. 12
within three months of the closing, exposing HUD and Countrywide potentially to
more than $450,000 in losses.

375. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants,
and Goldberg violated 12 U.S.C. § 1833a in connection with the origination and sale
of HUD Loan No. 12 in that they engaged in a scheme to defraud HUD, in violation
of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014, and participated in a scheme to commit mail and
wire fraud affecting a financial institution, namely Countrywide Bank, in violation
of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343.

M. HUD LOAN NO. 13: NEBRASKA AVENUE, BAY SHORE

376. From in or about April 2007 to in or about August 2007, Cohen, the
Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline conspired to orchestrate
the flip sale of a property located on Nebraska Avenue in Bay Shore, Suffolk
County, New York (the “Nebraska Avenue Property”) at an inflated price to buyers

who lacked the financial wherewithal to purchase the property.
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377. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt
agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline
obtained HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of $357,445 used to
finance the fraudulent flip sale of the Nebraska Avenue Property (‘HUD Loan No.
13”), and sold HUD Loan No. 13 to Countrywide, paying off the buyers’ personal
debts to induce them to purchase, obtaining an inflated appraisal for the Nebraska
Avenue Property, creating false records to inflate a buyer’s income and to omit
inducements to purchase, falsely certifying compliance with HUD requirements,
and submitting false and misleading records to HUD and to Countrywide.

378. Specifically, in or about April 2007, Valed Investors Group, Inc.
(“Valed”) acquired the Nebraska Avenue Property for $260,000. Valed then
retained Cohen and the Cohen Entities to arrange for a flip sale of that property at
an inflated price.

379. In or about August 2007, i.e., approximately four months after Valed
purchased the Nebraska Avenue Property, Cohen, through Metropolitan and Buy-a-
Home, induced three inexperienced, first-time home-buyers, Buyers 13-A, 13-B and
13-C, to buy that property for $368,500, i.e., approximately $110,000 more than
what Valed had paid four months earlier.

380. Cohen referred Buyers 13-A, 13-B and 13-C to Lapidus at Cambridge
for purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage from Cambridge, based on the
corrupt agreement or understanding between Cohen and the Cambridge Defendants

that Cambridge would endorse an application for HUD insurance irrespective of
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whether Buyers 13-A, 13-B and 13-C qualified for such insurance or whether the
Nebraska Avenue Property was worth $368,500.

381. On or about August 6, 2007, Micheline issued an appraisal report for
Nebraska Avenue Property, valuing the property at $370,000. That appraisal
report contained an inflated valuation for the property and numerous other
falsities.

382. Specifically, Micheline significantly inflated the value of the Nebraska
Avenue Property because he failed to reduce the value of the property based on the
existence of a significant external obsolescence — the fact that the Nebraska Avenue
Property was adjacent to commercial property and a parking lot. Micheline also
inflated the value of the appraisal by selecting for sales comparisons properties that
were not truly comparable to the Nebraska Avenue Property. Further, Micheline
falsely certified that his appraisal of the Nebraska Avenue Property had been
conducted in accordance with HUD appraisal standards. In fact, Micheline’s
appraisal failed to comply with numerous HUD standards, including, among others,
to select suitably comparable sales comparisons and to justify the purported 40%
appreciation during Valed’s three-month ownership.

383. On August 7, 2007, and in connection with originating HUD Loan No.
13, Cambridge issued a commitment letter to Buyers 13-A, 13-B and 13-C, which
required, as a condition that must be fulfilled prior to closing, that those buyers pay
off or pay down certain student loans and personal debts owed to creditors such as

Dish Network.
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384. On August 13, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed HUD Loan
No. 13, which Derrell, acting as the underwriter, certified as meeting HUD’s
requirements, and which Kramer, certifying on behalf of Cambridge, endorsed for
HUD mortgage insurance.

385. Specifically, Cambridge certified to HUD that all closing conditions
listed in the commitment letter had been met by the time of closing on August 13,
2007. In fact, however, Cambridge knew that the buyers had not paid off their
personal debts prior to closing, because those debts would not be paid off until
August 14, 2007, when Cambridge issued approximately $4,000 in checks to the
United States Department of Education and other creditors of Buyers 13-A, 13-B,
and 13-C. Hyman personally signed those checks.

386. Cambridge also certified to HUD that the closing documents for HUD
Loan No. 13, including the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, were true and correct. In
fact, however, Cambridge knew that the HUD-1 was false and misleading because it
omitted the fact that Cohen had provided funds to Buyers 13-A, 13-B and 13-C to
pay off Borrower’s personal debts, which payment should have been reflected on the
HUD-1 as an inducement to purchase.

387. In connection with endorsing HUD Loan No. 13 for HUD mortgage
insurance, Cambridge also certified to HUD that the Loan Applications and the
MCAW form for Buyers 13-A and 13-B were true and correct. In fact, however, the
Cambridge Defendants conspired with Cohen and the Cohen Entities to falsify

those records to inflate Buyer 13-A’s income.
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388. Specifically, Buyer 13-A told Lapidus that, as a seasonal employee, her
average monthly salary was $833, an amount that was corroborated by pay stubs
and a verification of employment that Cambridge obtained from Buyer 13-A’s
employer. Cambridge, however, inserted $2,392 as Buyer 13-A’s monthly salary
into her final Loan Application and the MCAW form. By inflating Buyer 13-A’s
monthly income, Cambridge fraudulently lowered the Qualifying Ratios for HUD
Loan No. 13.

389. Cambridge, through Kramer, also falsely certified HUD Loan No. 13 to
HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that that loan failed to comply with
HUD requirements in, among others, the following respects:

a. HUD Loan No. 13 had an MP/I ratio (36.24%) that significantly
exceeded HUD thresholds (31%) and did not have any applicable

compensating factor; and

b. Micheline’s appraisal for the Nebraska Avenue Property contained
an inflated valuation for that property and had not been conducted

in accordance with HUD requirements.

390. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 13, Buyers 13-A, 13-B,
and 13-C contributed only a nominal amount to the down payment or closing costs
associated with purchasing the Nebraska Avenue Property. Instead, Cohen
arranged for the payment of $11,055 toward the down payment and $12,586.77 in
closing costs, both of which were paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 13.
In other words, Cohen also induced Buyers 13-A, 13-B and 13-C to buy the property
at an inflated price by effectively paying the entire upfront cost of buying that

home.
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391. On or about August 28, 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 13 to
Countrywide, pursuant to the Countrywide Loan Purchase Agreement and received
approximately $11,000 for that loan.

392. Cohen gave thousands of dollars to pay off Buyers 13A’s, 13-B’s and 13-
C’s personal debts, and also arranged for the payments of nearly all of the down
payment and closing costs, to induce Buyers 13-A, 13-B and 13-C to obtain HUD
Loan No. 13 on the basis of an inflated valuation for the Nebraska Avenue Property.
In connection with that sale alone, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, made almost
$22,000 in fees, from the disbursement of HUD Loan No. 13.

393. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the
Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of the Nebraska Avenue Property to Buyers
13-A, 13-B and 13-C at an inflated price, Cambridge received approximately
$20,000 in fees and resale proceeds for originating HUD Loan No. 13.

394. Micheline, who provided an inflated appraisal for the Nebraska
Avenue Property based on a corrupt agreement or understanding with the
Cambridge Defendants, not only was paid a fee for that appraisal, but also ensured
that he would receive additional appraisal referrals from Cambridge.

395. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent
flip sale of the Nebraska Avenue Property, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the
Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline used interstate mail carriers and interstate
wire to transmit documents that contained false and misleading information,

including, among other documents, false and fraudulent gift affidavits, Loan

Application, MCAW form, and HUD Addendum.
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396. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants submitted to HUD numerous
false records and certifications, including the Loan Application, the MCAW form,
and the HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 13. Based on those false certifications
and records, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline
obtained HUD mortgage insurance to HUD Loan No. 13.

397. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Countrywide,
using interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and
certifications, including the Loan Application, the MCAW form, and the HUD
Addendum for HUD Loan No. 13. Based on those false certifications and records,
they caused Countrywide to purchase HUD Loan No. 13.

398. Buyers 13-A, 13-B and 13-C, who never could have afforded the
Nebraska Avenue Property at the inflated price Cohen set, defaulted on HUD Loan
No. 13 within five months of closing, exposing HUD and Countrywide potentially to
more than $400,000 in losses.

399. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants,
and Micheline violated 12 U.S.C. § 1833a in connection with the origination and
sale of HUD Loan No. 13 in that they engaged in a scheme to defraud HUD, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014, and participated in a scheme to commit
mail and wire fraud, affecting a financial institution, namely Countrywide, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343.

N. HUD LOAN NO. 14: SOUTH 8TH AVENUE, MOUNT VERNON

400. From in or about February 2007 to in or about May 2007, Cohen, the

Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg conspired to orchestrate
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the flip sale of a property located on South 8t%h Avenue in Mount Vernon,
Westchester County, New York (“the South 8th Avenue Property”) at an inflated
price to buyers who lacked the financial wherewithal to purchase the property.

401. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt
agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg
obtained HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of $460,750 used to
finance the fraudulent flip sale of the South 8th Avenue Property (‘HUD Loan No.
14”), and sold HUD Loan No. 14 to Citi, by paying off the buyers’ personal debts to
induce them to purchase, obtaining an inflated appraisal for the South 8th Avenue
Property, creating false records to omit inducements to purchase, falsely certifying
compliance with HUD requirements, and submitting false and misleading records
to HUD and to Citi.

402. In or about February 2007, Cohen, through Treuhold Capital Group
LLC (an entity that Cohen controlled in 2007), acquired the South 8th Avenue
Property for $227,500.

403. Less than a month later, Cohen, through Metropolitan and Buy-a-
Home, induced four inexperienced, first-time home-buyers — Buyers 14-A, 14-B, 14-
C, and 14-D — to purchase the South 8th Avenue Property for $475,000.

404. In March 2007, Cohen referred Buyers 14-A, 14-B, 14-C, and 14-D to
Lapidus at Cambridge for purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage from
Cambridge, based on the corrupt agreement or understanding between Cohen and

the Cambridge defendants that Cambridge would endorse an application for HUD
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insurance irrespective of whether Buyers 14-A, 14-B, 14-C, and 14-D qualified for
such insurance or whether the South 8th Avenue Property was worth $475,000.

405. On March 1, 2007, and in connection with originating HUD Loan No.
14, Cambridge issued a commitment letter to Buyers 14-A, 14-B, 14-C, and 14-D,
which required, as a condition that must be fulfilled prior to closing, that Borrower
14-A and 14-B pay off personal debts owed to creditors such as DirecTV and
Verizon.

406. On or about April 30, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed a
mortgage loan in the amount of $460,750 to Buyers 14-A, 14-B, 14-C, and 14-D,
which Kramer, certifying on behalf of Cambridge, endorsed for HUD mortgage
msurance (“HUD Loan No. 14”).

407. Specifically, Cambridge certified to HUD that it had obtained an
appraisal report valuing the South 8th Avenue Property at or above the contracted
sale price and that the appraisal report had been conducted in accordance with
HUD appraisal rules. In fact, however, Goldberg did not issue an appraisal report
for the South 8th Avenue Property until May 1, 2007. Further, Goldberg’s report
inflated the value of the South 8tt Avenue Property by failing to account for several
significant external obsolescence, including the property’s proximity to railroad
tracks and being adjacent to parking lots and commercial properties, which
substantially decreased its value. Goldberg also inflated the value of the South 8th
Avenue Property by selecting for comparison sales of properties that were not, in
fact, comparable. Finally, Goldberg falsely certified compliance with numerous

HUD appraisal standards, such as stating that he personally conducted the
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appraisal, whereas the appraisal had, in fact, been conducted by Mark Pitman,
another JJG appraiser.

408. Cambridge also certified that all closing conditions listed in the
commitment letter had been met by the time of closing. In fact, however,
Cambridge knew that Buyers 14-A and 14-B had not paid off their personal debts
prior to closing, because those debts would not be paid off until May 4, 2007, when
Cambridge issued checks totaling approximately $1,790 to DirecTV, Verizon, and
other creditors, to pay off debts owed by Buyers 14-A and 14-B.

409. Cambridge, specifically Kramer, also falsely certified HUD Loan No.
14 to HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that that loan failed to comply
with HUD requirements in, among others, the following respects:

a. The MCAW form for HUD Loan No. 14 falsely understated the
Liabilities of the buyers, including the personal debts that
Cambridge would pay off, post-closing;

b. HUD Loan No. 14 had Qualifying Ratios (33.44% and 46.18%)
that exceeded HUD thresholds (31% and 43%, respectively) —

and did not have any applicable compensating factor; and

c. Goldberg’s appraisal for the South 8th Avenue Property was
inflated and had not been conducted in accordance with HUD

appraisal standards.
410. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 14, Buyers 14-A, 14-B, 14-
C, and 14-D contributed only a nominal amount to the down payment or closing
costs associated with purchasing the South 8th Avenue Property. Instead, Cohen
arranged for the payments of $14,300 toward down payment and $15,415.42 in
closing costs, both of which were paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 14.
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In other words, Cohen induced Buyers 14-A, 14-B, 14-C, and 14-D to buy the
property at an inflated price by effectively paying the entire upfront cost of buying
that home.

411. On or about May 17, 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 14 to Citi,
pursuant to the Citi Loan Purchase Agreement and received approximately $11,000
for that loan.

412. Cohen arranged for the payments of nearly all of the down payment
and closing costs for purposes of inducing Buyers 14-A, 14-B, 14-C, and 14-D to
obtain HUD Loan No. 14 based on an inflated valuation for the South 8th Avenue
Property. In connection with that sale, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, made $95,330
in profits, which was paid directly from disbursement from HUD Loan No. 14.

413. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen, the
Cohen Entities, and Goldberg to consummate the sale of the South 8th Avenue
Property to Buyers 14-A, 14-B, 14-C, and 14-D at an inflated price, Cambridge
received more than $17,000 in fees and resale proceeds for originating HUD Loan
No. 14.

414. Goldberg conspired with the Cambridge Defendants to facilitate the
Cohen’s flip sale of the South 8th Avenue Property by inflating the valuation of that
property and by issuing an appraisal report that failed to comply with HUD
appraisal standards. In addition to being paid $650 for that appraisal, Goldberg
also guaranteed that JJG would receive hundreds of additional appraisal

assignments from Cambridge.
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415. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent
flip sale of the South 8th Avenue Property, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the
Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg used interstate mail carriers and interstate
wire to transmit documents that contained false and misleading information,
including, among other documents, the appraisal report and the HUD Addendum.

416. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg submitted to
HUD numerous false records and certifications, including the appraisal report for
the South 8th Avenue Property and the HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 14.
Based on those false reports and records, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge
Defendants, and Goldberg obtained HUD mortgage insurance to HUD Loan No. 14.

417. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Citi, using
Interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and
certifications, including Goldberg’s appraisal report and the HUD Addendum for
HUD Loan No. 14. Based on those false certifications and records, they caused Citi
to purchase HUD Loan No. 14.

418. Buyers 14-A, 14-B, 14-C, and 14-D, who never could have afforded the
South 8th Avenue Property at the inflated price that Cohen set, defaulted on HUD
Loan No. 14 within five months of closing, exposing HUD and/or Citi potentially to
more than $500,000 in losses.

419. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants,
and Goldberg violated 12 U.S.C. § 1833a in connection with the origination and sale
of HUD Loan No. 14 in that they engaged in a scheme to defraud HUD, in violation

of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014, and participated in a scheme to commit mail and
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wire fraud affecting a financial institution, namely Citibank, in violation of 18
U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343.

O. HUD LOAN NO. 15: TOMPKINS PLACE, STATEN ISLAND

420. In or about June 2007, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge
Defendants, and Micheline conspired to orchestrate the flip sale of a property
located on Tompkins Place in Staten Island, Richmond County, New York (the
“Tompkins Place Property”) at an inflated price to buyers who lacked the financial
wherewithal to purchase the property.

421. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt
agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline
obtained HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of $362,200 used to
finance the fraudulent flip sale of the Tompkins Place Property (“HUD Loan No.
15”), and sold HUD Loan No. 15 to Countrywide, by obtaining an inflated appraisal
for the Tompkins Place Property, falsely certifying compliance with HUD
requirements, and submitting false and misleading records to HUD and to
Countrywide.

422. In or about June and July 2007, Cohen, through Metropolitan and
Buy-a-Home, induced two inexperienced, first-time home-buyers, Buyers 15-A and
15-B, to buy the Tompkins Place Property and an adjacent property — each for
$373,500.

423. Cohen referred Buyers 15-A and 15-B to Lapidus at Cambridge for
purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage from Cambridge, based on the

corrupt agreement or understanding between Cohen and the Cambridge Defendants
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that Cambridge would endorse an application for HUD insurance irrespective of
whether Buyers 15-A and 15-B qualified for such insurance or whether the
Tompkins Place Property was worth $373,500.

424. Cambridge obtained an inflated appraisal for the Tompkins Place
Property from Micheline, valuing the property at, $378,000. Micheline’s appraisal
report inflated the value of the Tompkins Place Property by selecting for
comparison sales of properties that were not, in fact, comparable to the Tompkins
Place Property. Micheline also failed to conduct a “complete” appraisal, in violation
of a basic HUD appraisal requirement.

425. On dJuly 6, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed HUD Loan
No. 15, which Kramer, acting as the underwriter, certified as meeting HUD’s
requirements, and which Hyman, certifying on behalf of Cambridge, endorsed for
HUD mortgage insurance.

426. Cambridge also certified to HUD that the closing documents, including
affidavits stating that both Buyers 15-A and 15-B intended to use the Tompkins
Place Property as their residence, were true and correct. In fact, however,
Cambridge knew that Buyers 15-A and 15-B were purchasing two adjacent
properties simultaneously and intended to reside separately in each of those
properties.

427. Cambridge, specifically Kramer, also falsely certified HUD Loan No.
15 to HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that that loan failed to comply

with HUD requirements in, among others, the following respects:
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a. HUD Loan No. 15 had Qualifying Ratios (36.17% and 49.40%) that
significantly exceeded HUD thresholds (31% and 43%, respectively)

and did not have any applicable compensating factor; and

b. Micheline’s appraisal for the Tompkins Place Property contained an
inflated valuation for that property and had not been conducted in

accordance with HUD requirements.

428. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 15, Buyers 15-A and 15-B
contributed only a nominal amount to the down payment or closing costs associated
with purchasing the Tompkins Place Property. Instead, Cohen arranged for the
payment of $11,205 toward the down payment and $16,191.48 in closing costs, both
of which were paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 15. In other words,
Cohen also induced Buyers 15-A and 15-B to buy the property at an inflated price
by effectively paying the entire upfront cost of buying that home.

429. In or about August 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 15 to
Countrywide, pursuant to the Countrywide Loan Purchase Agreement, and received
more than $11,000 for that loan.

430. Cohen arranged for the payments of nearly all of the down payment
and closing costs to induce Buyers 15-A and 15-B to obtain HUD Loan No. 15 on the
basis of an inflated valuation for the Tompkins Place Property. In connection with
that sale alone, Cohen, personally and through Buy-a-Home and Mark Wolf,
received more than $22,000 in fees, from the disbursement of HUD Loan No. 15.

431. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the

Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of the Tompkins Place Property to Buyers
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15-A and 15-B at an inflated price, Cambridge received more than $20,000 in fees
and resale proceeds for originating HUD Loan No. 15.

432. Micheline, who provided an inflated appraisal for the Tompkins Place
Property based on a corrupt agreement or understanding with the Cambridge
Defendants, not only was paid a fee for that appraisal, but also ensured that he
would receive additional appraisal referrals from Cambridge

433. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent
flip sale of the Tompkins Place Property, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge
Defendants, and Micheline used interstate mail carriers and interstate wire to
transmit documents that contained false and misleading information.

434. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants and Micheline submitted to
HUD numerous false records and certifications, including the appraisal report for
the Tompkins Place Property and the HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 15.
Based on those false certifications and records, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, and the
Cambridge Defendants obtained HUD mortgage insurance for HUD Loan No. 15.

435. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Countrywide,
using interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and
certifications, including the HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 15. Based on those
false certifications and records, they caused Countrywide to purchase HUD Loan
No. 15.

436. Buyers 15-A and 15-B, who never could have afforded the Tompkins

Place Property at the inflated price Cohen set, defaulted on HUD Loan No. 15
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within 90 days of closing, exposing HUD and Countrywide potentially to more than
$400,000 1n losses.

437. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants,
and Micheline violated 12 U.S.C. § 1833a in connection with the origination and
sale of HUD Loan No. 15 in that they engaged in a scheme to defraud HUD, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014, and participated in a scheme to commit
mail and wire fraud affecting a financial institution, namely Countrywide Bank, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343.

P. HUD LOAN NO. 16: 155T™ STREET, JAMAICA

438. From in or about April 2007 to August 2007, Cohen, the Cohen
Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline conspired to orchestrate the flip
sale of a property located on 155th Street in Jamaica, New York (the “155th Street
Property”) at an inflated price to an inexperienced home-buyer who lacked the
financial wherewithal to purchase the property.

439. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt
agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline
obtained HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of $365,750 used to
finance the fraudulent flip sale of the 155th Street Property (‘HUD Loan No. 16”),
and sold HUD Loan No. 16 to Countrywide, by misrepresenting the true cost of
home ownership, paying off the buyer’s personal debts to induce them to purchase,
obtaining an inflated appraisal for the 155th Street Property, creating false records

to omit inducements to purchase, falsely certifying compliance with HUD
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requirements, and submitting false and misleading records to HUD and to
Countrywide.

440. Specifically, in or about July 2006, KR Management LLC, a business
affiliate of Cohen’s, acquired the 155th Street Property for $225,000. After
arranging for only limited renovations, KR Management retained Cohen and the
Cohen Entities in 2007 to arrange a flip sale of the 155th Street Property at a
significantly inflated price.

441. In June 2007, Cohen, through Metropolitan and Buy-a-Home, induced
Buyer 16, an inexperienced, first-time home-buyer, to buy the 155th Street Property
for $375,000, i.e., $150,000 more than what KR Management had paid less than a
year earlier. Specifically, sales agents at Buy-a-Home told Buyer 16 that her
monthly payments for purchasing the home would be less than $2,100, when in fact
the true cost of owning the property was approximately $2,950 per month. Further,
Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, also promised to pay off Buyer 16’s personal debts.

442. On or about June 20, 2007, Cohen and the Cohen Entities referred
Buyer 16 to Lapidus at Cambridge for purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured
mortgage from Cambridge, based on a corrupt agreement or understanding between
Cohen and the Cambridge Defendants that Cambridge would endorse an
application for HUD insurance irrespective of whether Buyer 16 qualified for such
insurance or whether the 155th Street Property was worth $375,000.

443. On or about July 23, 2007, Cambridge obtained an inflated appraisal
report for the 155th Street Property from Micheline, valuing it at the exact price

Cohen set, $375,000. Specifically, Micheline inflated the value of that home by
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selecting as “comparable sales” properties that were not actually comparable to the
155th Street Property, and by ignoring the fact that KR Management did not pay
for the amount of renovations that would have warranted a $150,000 increase in the
value of that home.

444. On August 10, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed HUD Loan
No. 16 for Buyer 16 to purchase the 155th Street Property. Kramer, acting as the
underwriter, certified to HUD that HUD Loan No. 16 met HUD’s underwriting
requirements. Further, Derrell, certifying on behalf of Cambridge, endorsed HUD
Loan No. 16 to HUD for mortgage insurance.

445. Specifically, Cambridge certified to HUD that the closing documents
for HUD Loan No. 16, including the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, were true and
correct. In fact, Cambridge knew that the HUD-1 was false and misleading because
it omitted the fact that the Cambridge Defendants had conspired with Cohen to pay
off Buyer 16’s personal debts, which payment should have been reflected on the
HUD-1 as an inducement to purchase. Specifically, Cambridge sent money orders,
totaling approximately $700, to Buyer 16’s creditors, post-closing.

446. Further, to conceal the fact that they had conspired with Cohen to pay
off Buyer 16’s personal debts to induce her to purchase, the Cambridge Defendants
created records to assert falsely that the funds for paying off those debts had come
from Buyers 16’s own funds.

447. Specifically, Cambridge inserted a note into its file for HUD Loan No.

16, falsely claiming that, at closing, Buyers 16 had given Cambridge approximately
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$700 in cash to pay off her debts. In fact, Buyer 16 did not give Cambridge any
money in connection with purchasing the 155th Street Property.

448. Further, Cambridge, through Derrell, also falsely certified HUD Loan
No. 16 to HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that HUD Loan No. 16
failed to comply with HUD requirements in, among others, the following respects:

a. The MCAW form for HUD Loan No. 16 falsely understated the
amount of personal liabilities for Buyer 16, by leaving out the debts

that she still owed at closing;

b. HUD Loan No. 16 had Qualifying Ratios (37.92% and 43.32%) that
significantly exceeded HUD thresholds (31% and 43%, respectively),

and did not have any applicable compensating factor; and

c. Micheline’s appraisal significantly inflated the value for the 155th
Street Property and had not been conducted in accordance with

HUD requirements.

449. On August 27, 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 16 to
Countrywide, pursuant to the Countrywide Loan Purchase Agreement and received
approximately $11,000 for that loan.

450. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 16, Buyer 16 did not
contribute anything to the down payment or closing costs associated with
purchasing the 155th Street Property. Instead, Cohen arranged for payment of all
down payment and closing costs, which were paid using disbursement from HUD
Loan No. 16. In other words, Cohen also induced Buyer 16 to buy the 155th Street
Property at an inflated price by effectively paying the entire upfront cost of buying

that home.
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451. Cohen conspired with the Cambridge Defendants to pay off Buyer 16’s
personal debts, and also arranged for payment of all the down payment and closing
costs, to induce Buyer 16 to obtain HUD Loan No. 16 based on an inflated price for
the 155th Street Property. In connection with that sale alone, Cohen received,
through Buy-a-Home, more than $17,500 in fees from the disbursement of HUD
Loan No. 16.

452. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the
Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of the 155th Street Property to Buyer 16 at
an inflated price, Cambridge received approximately $5,300 in fees for originating
HUD Loan No. 16.

453. Micheline, who provided an inflated appraisal for the 155th Street
Property based on a corrupt agreement or understanding with the Cambridge
Defendants, not only was paid $450 for that appraisal, but also ensured that he
would receive additional appraisal referrals from Cambridge.

454. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent
flip sale of the 155th Street Property, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge
Defendants, and Micheline used interstate mail carriers and interstate wire to
transmit documents that contained false and misleading information, including,
among other documents, the MCAW form, the appraisal report, the HUD-1
Settlement Statement, and the HUD Addendum.

455. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants and Micheline submitted to
HUD numerous false records and certifications, including the appraisal report for

the 155th Street Property and the Settlement Statement and HUD Addendum for
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HUD Loan No. 16. Based on those false certifications and records, Cohen, the
Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline obtained HUD mortgage
insurance to HUD Loan No. 16.

456. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Countrywide,
using interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and
certifications, including Micheline’s appraisal report and the Settlement Statement
and HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 16. Based on those false certifications and
records, they caused Countrywide to purchase HUD Loan No. 16.

457. Buyer 16, who never could have afforded the 155th Street Property at
the inflated price Cohen set, defaulted on HUD Loan No. 16 within four months of
the closing. As result of that default and the subsequent foreclosure on and
conveyance of the 155th Street Property, HUD paid out $262,101 in mortgage
insurance on HUD Loan No. 16.

458. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants,
and Micheline violated the FCA, specifically 33 U.S.C. §3729(a)(1)(A)—(C), in
connection with the origination of HUD Loan No. 16 in that they knowingly, or with
reckless disregard for the truth, (1) caused a false claim for mortgage insurance to
be presented to, and paid by, HUD; (i1) caused false records and false statements to
be used or made in connection with the presentation of a claim for mortgage
insurance to HUD; and (ii1) conspired to cause a false mortgage insurance claim for
be presented to HUD and to cause false records and false statements to be used or

made in connection with the presentation of a mortgage insurance claim to HUD.
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Q. HUD LOAN NO. 17: BEACH 88TH STREET, FAR ROCKAWAY

459. From in or about June 2007 to September 2007, Cohen, the Cohen
Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, Premier and Buckley conspired to orchestrate
the sale of a property located on Beach 88th Street in Far Rockaway, New York (the
“Beach 88th Street Property”) at an inflated price to inexperienced home-buyers who
lacked the financial wherewithal to purchase the property.

460. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt
agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, Premier and
Buckley obtained HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of $421,950
used to finance the fraudulent sale of the Beach 88th Street Property (“HUD Loan
No. 177), and sold HUD Loan No. 17 to Countrywide, by paying off the buyers’
personal debts to induce them to purchase, obtaining an inflated appraisal for the
Beach 88th Street Property, creating false records to omit inducements to purchase,
falsely certifying compliance with HUD requirements, and submitting false and
misleading records to HUD and to Countrywide.

461. Specifically, in or about June 2007, Cohen and the Cohen Entities were
retained by a business associate of Cohen’s to arrange a sale of the Beach 88th
Street Property at a significantly inflated price.

462. On or about August 13, 2007, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, induced
inexperienced, first-time home-buyers, Buyers 17-A, 17-B, and 17-C, to buy the
Beach 88th Street Property for $435,000.

463. On or about June 20, 2007, Cohen and the Cohen Entities referred

Buyers 17-A, 17-B and 17-C to Lapidus at Cambridge for purposes of obtaining a
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HUD-insured mortgage from Cambridge, based on a corrupt agreement or
understanding between Cohen and the Cambridge Defendants that Cambridge
would endorse an application for HUD insurance irrespective of whether Buyers 17-
A, 17-B, and 17-C qualified for such insurance or whether the Beach 88th Street
Property was worth $435,000.

464. On or about July 23, 2007, at Cohen’s direction, Buckley, through
Premier, issued an inflated appraisal report for the Beach 88th Street Property,
valuing it at $435,000. Specifically, Buckley inflated the value of that home by
ignoring significant differences between the Beach 88th Street Property and the
properties that Buckley had selected as “comparable sales.” For example, one of
those comparable sales, a home on the same street as the Beach 88th Street
Property, had twice the amount of living space, i.e., 2,200 square feet vs. 1,100
square feet. Buckley, however, only attributed $12,000 in value, or less than 3% of
the sales price, to that difference. Buckley also issued multiple other appraisals for
the Beach 88th Street Property, each with the same value inflation and each at the
direction of Cohen.

465. On August 22, 2007, Cambridge 1ssued a commitment letter to Buyers
17-A, 17-B, and 17-C, which required, as a condition that must be fulfilled prior to
closing, that those buyers pay off several thousand dollars in child support arrears
and debts they owed to creditors such as Con Edison and the Dish Network.

466. On August 24, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed HUD Loan
No. 17 for Buyers 17-A, 17-B, and 17-C to purchase the Beach 88th Street Property.

Derrell, acting as the underwriter, certified to HUD that HUD Loan No. 17 met
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HUD’s underwriting requirements. Further, Kramer, certifying on behalf of
Cambridge, endorsed HUD Loan No. 17 to HUD for mortgage insurance.

467. Specifically, Kramer, on behalf of Cambridge, certified to HUD that all
closing conditions listed in the commitment letter issued by Cambridge had been
met by the time of closing on August 24, 2007. In fact, however, Cambridge knew
that Buyers 17-A, 17-B, and 17-C had not paid off their personal debts prior to
closing, because those debts would not be paid off until September 17, 2007, when
Cambridge issued approximately $4,300 in checks to pay off the buyers’ child
support arrears and other debts. Hyman personally signed those checks.

468. Cambridge also certified to HUD that the closing documents for HUD
Loan No. 17, including the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, were true and correct. In
fact, Cambridge knew that the HUD-1 was false and misleading because it omitted
the fact that Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, had provided funds to Buyers 17-A, 17-B,
and 17-C to pay off their personal debts, which payment should have been reflected
on the HUD-1 as an inducement to purchase.

469. Further, to conceal the fact that Cohen had given $5,000 to Buyers 17-
A, 17-B, and 17-C to induce them to purchase, the Cambridge Defendants created
fraudulent gift affidavits to assert falsely that the funds for paying off the buyers’
personal debts had come from their relatives.

470. In addition, Cambridge falsely certified HUD Loan No. 17 to HUD for
mortgage insurance. In fact, the underwriter at Cambridge initially assigned to
underwrite HUD Loan No. 17 refused to approve that mortgage loan because it did

not meet HUD requirements. Instead of ensuring compliance with HUD rules and
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regulations, Kramer simply reassigned the loan to Derrell, with specific direction to
approve it for HUD mortgage insurance, even though that loan did not meet HUD
requirements in, among others, the following respects:

a. The MCAW form for HUD Loan No. 17 falsely understated the
amount of personal liabilities for Buyers 17-A, 17-B and 17-C, by
leaving out the debts that she still owed at closing;

b. HUD Loan No. 17 had Qualifying Ratios (562.34% and 52.34%) that
significantly exceeded HUD thresholds (31% and 43%, respectively),

and did not have any applicable compensating factor; and

c. The Premier appraisal issued by Buckley significantly inflated the
value for the Beach 88th Street Property and had not been

conducted in accordance with HUD requirements.

471. On or about September 20, 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 17 to
Countrywide, pursuant to the Countrywide Loan Purchase Agreement and received
more than $14,000 for that loan.

472. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 17, Buyers 17-A, 17-B and
17-C contributed only a minimal amount to the down payment or closing costs
associated with buying the Beach 88th Street Property. Instead, Cohen arranged
for payment of $12,900 in down payment and approximately $13,000 in closing
costs, which were paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 17. In other words,
Cohen also induced Buyers 17-A, 17-B and 17-C to buy the Beach 88th Street
Property at an inflated price by arranging for the payment of nearly the entirety of
the upfront cost of buying that home.

473. Cohen provided funds to Buyers 17-A, 17-B and 17-C, and also
arranged for payment of all the down payment and closing costs, to induce those
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buyers to obtain HUD Loan No. 17 based on an inflated price for the Beach 88th
Street Property. In connection with that sale alone, Cohen received, through Buy-a-
Home and his partner Mark Wolf, more than $24,000 in fees from the disbursement
of HUD Loan No. 17.

474. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the
Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of the Beach 88th Street Property to Buyers
17-A, 17-B and 17-C at an inflated price, Cambridge received more than $28,000 in
fees and resale proceeds for originating HUD Loan No. 17.

475. Buckley, who, through Premier, provided an inflated appraisal for the
Beach 88th Street Property, based on a corrupt agreement or understanding with
Cohen and the Cambridge Defendants, not only was paid $450 for that appraisal,
but also ensured future appraisal referrals from Cohen and further cemented the
corrupt and lucrative relationship between his business interests and Cohen’s. See
supra at g 88.

476. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent
flip sale of the Beach 88th Street Property, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the
Cambridge Defendants, Premier, and Buckley used interstate mail carriers and
Iinterstate wire to transmit documents that contained false and misleading
information, including, among other documents, the MCAW form, the appraisal
report, the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, and the HUD Addendum.

477. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants, Premier, and Buckley
submitted to HUD numerous false records and certifications, including the

appraisal report for the Beach 88th Street Property and the Settlement Statement
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and HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 17. Based on those false certifications and
records, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, Premier, and
Buckley obtained HUD mortgage insurance to HUD Loan No. 17.

478. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Countrywide,
using interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and
certifications, including Buckley’s appraisal report and the Settlement Statement
and HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 17. Based on those false certifications and
records, they caused Countrywide to purchase HUD Loan No. 17.

479. Buyers 17-A, 17-B and 17-C, who never could have afforded the Beach
88th Street Property at the inflated price Cohen set, defaulted on HUD Loan No. 17
within three months of the closing. As result of that default and the subsequent
foreclosure on and conveyance of the Beach 88th Street Property, HUD has been
presented with a claim for mortgage insurance on HUD Loan No. 17 in the amount
of $482,470.

480. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants,
Premier, and Buckley violated the FCA, specifically 33 U.S.C. §3729(a)(1)(A)—(C), in
connection with the origination of HUD Loan No. 17 in that they knowingly, or with
reckless disregard for the truth, (1) caused a false claim for mortgage insurance to
be presented to HUD; (i1) caused false records and false statements to be used or
made in connection with the presentation of a claim for mortgage insurance to
HUD; and (ii1) conspired to cause a false mortgage insurance claim for be presented
to HUD and to cause false records and false statements to be used or made in

connection with the presentation of a mortgage insurance claim to HUD.
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AFTER 2007, COHEN, BUY-A-HOME, AND BUCKLEY CONTINUED TO
ORCHESTRATE FRAUDULENT FLIP SALES USING HUD-INSURED LOANS

481. In late 2007, Cambridge ceased to originate mortgage loans for flip
sales arranged by Cohen and Buy-a-Home. Cohen and Buckley, however, continued
to orchestrate the mortgage fraud scheme that Cohen perpetrated in connection
with HUD Loans Nos. 1-17.

482. In 2010, for example, Cohen used two other entities that he had
created — Your First Home, LLC (“YFH”) and Tower Wealth Management, LLC
(“Tower”) — to acquire dozens of residential properties. After he acquired these
properties, Cohen had superficial renovations done on these homes by contractors,
including, frequently, IDU Renovations, Inc. (“IDU Renovations”), a construction
business Buckley controls.

483. Through Buy-a-Home, Cohen sought out inexperienced, financially
unsophisticated home-buyers who were eligible for HUD-insured mortgage loans.
To lure these inexperienced home-buyers into agreeing to buy his properties at
inflated prices, Cohen understated the true costs of home-ownership, and gave or
promised a variety of inducements to purchase, including giving funds to buyers for
their down payments, paying off buyers’ personal debts, and promising to make
mortgage payments for buyers.

484. To obtain financing for his fraudulent flip sales, Cohen cultivated
relationships with HUD direct endorsers (other than Cambridge) that would
originate HUD-insured mortgage loans, including, in 2010, First Residential

Mortgage Services Corp. (“First Residential”). Further, to justify the inflated prices
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that Cohen set for his properties, Buckley had a Premier employee set up an
appraisal management business, A+ Appraisal Management Corp. (“A Plus”),
through which Cohen and Buckley obtained fraudulent appraisals.

485. Through these fraudulent means, and as illustrated by the four sample
transactions described in more detail below, Cohen conspired with Buckley and
others to orchestrate more than thirty-five flip sales in 2010.

2010 Cohen Flip Sale No. 1

486. From in or about March 2010 to in or about June 2010, Cohen, Buy-a-
Home, and Buckley conspired to orchestrate the flip sale of a house on Prospect
Avenue in the Bronx (the “Prospect Avenue Property”) at an inflated price, by
fraudulently obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage loan.

487. In or about March 2010, Cohen, through Tower, acquired the Prospect
Avenue Property for approximately $215,000. Cohen then had IDU Renovations,
Buckley’s construction business, install new fixtures and appliances and make
superficial repairs at that property to create the impression that it had been fully
renovated. In fact, however, Buckley failed to make certain basic repairs to the
Prospect Avenue Property, including to repair or replace the chimney, which was
leaning and not properly secured, and to repair the roof, sections of which were
sagging and accumulating water.

488. In May 2010, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, found two inexperienced
home buyers for the Prospect Avenue Property (“2010 Buyers 1-A and 1-B”). To
convince these buyers to purchase the property from him at an inflated price, Cohen

promised to make major repairs to the property before and after the closing.
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Further, to induce these buyers to purchase, Cohen had his sales agent Mohammed
Ibrahim, and manager Erin Davis, provide $10,000 in cash to 2010 Buyers 1-A and
1-B for their down payment.

489. On or about June 10, 2010, Cohen sold the Prospect Avenue Property
for $480,000, i.e., more than twice what he had paid for the home in March 2010, to
2010 Buyers 1-A and 1-B, who obtained a HUD-insured mortgage loan from First
Residential in the amount of $463,200. At the closing, Cohen caused to be executed
a false HUD-1 settlement statement indicating that no inducement to purchase had
been made in connection with the sale, whereas, in fact, Cohen had given the
buyers $10,000 for down payment.

490. Further, to obtain the HUD-insured mortgage loan, Cohen and
Buckley, through A Plus, obtained an appraisal from Peter Sarafian, an appraiser
who had worked for Buckley at Premier, that misstated the condition of the
Prospect Avenue Property and inflated its value. Among other things, Sarafian’s
appraisal falsely described the Prospect Avenue Property as being “in an above
average maintained condition with no inadequacies for repairs,” and falsely
certified that the appraisal was based on suitably comparable sales comparisons.

491. Through their fraudulent devices, Cohen and Buckley each earned tens
of thousands of dollars in connection with the sale of the Prospect Avenue Property.
2010 Buyers 1-A and 1-B, however, were left with a home in need of numerous
repairs, as well as mortgage payments that they could barely afford.

492. In January 2011, 2010 Buyers 1-A and 1-B defaulted on their mortgage

loan. Although these buyers subsequently were able to catch up on their mortgage

139



Case 1:10-cv-09280-LGS Document 96 Filed 02/15/12 Page 140 of 210

payments, HUD remains exposed to the risk of substantial loss on its mortgage
insurance for the Prospect Avenue Property.

2010 Cohen Flip Sale No. 2

493. From in or about May 2010 to in or about August 2010, Cohen, Buy-a-
Home, and Buckley conspired to orchestrate the flip sale of a house on 165th Street
in Queens (the “165th Street Property”) at an inflated price, by fraudulently
obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage loan.

494. In or about May 2010, Cohen, through YFH, acquired the 165t Street
Property for approximately $126,000. Cohen then had IDU Renovations, Buckley’s
construction business, install new fixtures and appliances and make superficial
repairs at that property to create the impression that it had been fully renovated.
In fact, however, Buckley failed to make certain fundamental repairs to the 165th
Street Property, such as to address a serious termite infestation.

495. In July 2010, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, found two inexperienced
home-buyers for the 165th Street Property (“2010 Buyers 2-A and 2-B”). To induce
these buyers to purchase the home from him at an inflated price, Cohen promised to
make the first two mortgage payments. Further, to create the appearance that the
buyers received a $8,500 gift from a family member for the down payment, Cohen
also had his sales agents deposit, and then withdraw, $8,500 from the bank account
of 2010 Buyer 2-A’s brother, and then create a false gift affidavit from the brother.

496. On or about August 26, 2010, Cohen sold the 165th Street Property for
$327,500, i.e., more than two and half times what he had paid for the home in May,

to 2010 Buyers 2-A and 2-B, who obtained a HUD-insured mortgage loan from First
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Residential in the amount of $323,147. At the closing, Cohen caused to be executed
a false HUD-1 settlement statement indicating that no inducement to purchase had
been made or promised in connection with the sale, whereas, in fact, Cohen had
given the buyers $8,500 for down payments and also promised to make the first two
mortgage payments on their behalf.

497. Further, to obtain the HUD-insured mortgage loan, Cohen and
Buckley, through A Plus, obtained from Peter Sarafian an appraisal that misstated
the condition of the 165th Street Property and inflated its value. Among other
things, Sarafian’s appraisal ignored the costs required to cure the termite
infestation at the 165th Street Property, underestimated the costs of other repairs
that were needed for the property, and falsely certified that it was based on suitably
comparable sales comparisons.

498. Through their fraudulent devices, Cohen and Buckley each earned tens
of thousands of dollars in connection with the sale of the 165t Street Property.
2010 Buyers 2-A and 2-B, however, were left with a home in need of urgent repairs,
as well as mortgage payments that they could barely afford.

499. In December 2010, 2010 Buyers 2-A and 2-B defaulted on their
mortgage loan. Although these buyers subsequently were able to catch up on their
mortgage payments, HUD remains exposed to the risk of substantial loss on its
mortgage insurance for the 165th Street Property.

2010 Cohen Flip Sale No. 3

500. From in or about May 2010 to in or about September 2010, Cohen,

Buy-a-Home, and Buckley conspired to orchestrate the flip sale of a house on
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Olmstead Avenue in the Bronx (the “Olmstead Avenue Property”) at an inflated
price, by fraudulently obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage loan.

501. In or about May 2010, Cohen, through YFH, acquired the Olmstead
Avenue Property for approximately $207,000. Cohen then had IDU Renovations,
Buckley’s construction business, install new fixtures and appliances and make
superficial repairs at that property to create the impression that it had been fully
renovated. In fact, however, Buckley failed to make certain fundamental repairs to
the Olmstead Avenue Property, such as to repair the basement to prevent flooding.

502. In August 2010, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, found an inexperienced
home-buyer for the Olmstead Avenue Property (“2010 Buyer 3”). To induce that
buyer to purchase the home from him at an inflated price, and to enhance the
buyer’s credit history, Cohen paid $3,000 to reduce 2010 Buyer 3’s personal debts.

503. On or about September 29, 2010, Cohen sold the Olmstead Avenue
Property for $460,000, i.e., more than twice what he had paid for that home in May,
to 2010 Buyer 3, who obtained a HUD-insured mortgage loan from First Residential
in the amount of $453,887. At the closing, Cohen executed a false HUD-1
settlement statement indicating that no inducement to purchase had been made or
promised in connection with the sale, whereas, in fact, Cohen had paid $3,000 to
reduce the personal debts of 2010 Buyer No. 3.

504. Further, to obtain the HUD-insured mortgage loan, Buckley issued an
appraisal that misstated the condition of the Olmstead Avenue Property and
inflated its value. Among other things, Buckley falsely certified to HUD that he

had no personal interest in either the Olmstead Avenue Property or any participant
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in the sale, whereas, in fact, Cohen paid Buckley’s business, IDU Renovations,
$60,000 in connection with the sale. In addition, Buckley’s appraisal for the
Olmstead Avenue Property also ignored the insufficient repairs to the basement
and falsely certified that it was based on suitably comparable sales comparisons.

505. While Cohen and Buckley, through their fraudulent devices, each
earned tens of thousands of dollars in connection with the sale of the Olmstead
Avenue Property, their fraudulent scheme, which caused HUD to provide mortgage
msurance for that property at an inflated value, has exposed HUD to the risk of
substantial loss.

2010 Cohen Flip Sale No. 4

506. From in or about February 2010 to in or about August 2010, Cohen,
Buy-a-Home, and Buckley conspired to orchestrate the flip sale of a house on East
167tk Street in the Bronx (the “East 167tk Street Property”) at an inflated price, by
fraudulently obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage loan.

507. In or about February 2010, Cohen, through YFH, acquired the East
165tk Street Property for approximately $210,000. Cohen then had Felix Soto, one
of his agents, install new fixtures and appliances and make superficial repairs at
that property to create the impression that it had been fully renovated. In fact,
however, Soto failed to make certain fundamental repairs, such as to address a
serious vermin infestation or properly repair the home’s foundation.

508. In dJuly 2010, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, found an inexperienced
home-buyer for the East 167th Street Property (“2010 Buyer 4”). After determining

that 2010 Buyer 4’s income was insufficient to obtain a HUD-insured mortgage
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loan, Cohen had the buyer enlist her mother to seek the loan as a co-occupant of the
home, even though the mother of 2010 Buyer 4 told Cohen that she had no intention
of residing at that property.

509. On or about August 13, 2010, Cohen sold the East 167th Street
Property for $345,000, i.e., more than 50% above what he had paid for the home in
May, to 2010 Buyer 4, who obtained a HUD-insured mortgage loan from First
Residential in the amount of $340,415. In connection with that sale, Cohen caused
the mother of 2010 Buyer 4 to falsely seek a HUD-insured mortgage loan as a
borrower, even though she had no intention of residing at the property.

510. Further, to obtain the HUD-insured mortgage loan, Cohen and
Buckley, through A Plus, obtained from Peter Sarafian an appraisal that misstated
the condition of the East 167tk Street Property and inflated its value. Among other
things, Sarafian’s appraisal understated the costs of repairs that were needed for
conditions affecting the East 167th Street Property, such as the vermin infestation,
and falsely certified that it was based on suitably comparable sales comparisons.

511. While Cohen and Buckley, through their fraudulent devices, together
earned tens of thousands of dollars in connection with the sale of the Olmstead
Avenue Property, their fraudulent scheme, which caused HUD to provide mortgage
insurance for that property at an inflated value, has exposed HUD to the risk of
substantial loss.

Cohen’s and Buckley’s Conduct Since December 2010

512. In December 2010, the United States sought and obtained a temporary

restraining order, and then a preliminary injunction (the “Injunction”), against

144



Case 1:10-cv-09280-LGS Document 96 Filed 02/15/12 Page 145 of 210

Cohen and Buy-a-Home. In the absence of such injunctive relief, Cohen, together
with Buckley, would have consummated numerous other flip sales in December
2010 and early 2011 (attached as Exhibit 6 is a copy of a November 15, 2010 e-mail
from Cohen, identifying eleven more flip sales to be consummated in December
2010 and January and February 2011).

513. In 2011, and notwithstanding the imposition of the Injunction against
Cohen, Cohen and Buckley continued to attempt to orchestrate flip sales using
HUD-insured mortgage loans. Specifically, Cohen, through three businesses
controlled by his wife Marcia Kaufman, acquired approximately a dozen residential
properties in early 2011. Buckley, in turn, contracted with Cohen to provide
superficial renovations on several of the properties, so that Cohen could then try to
resell these homes at inflated prices to inexperienced buyers who would seek HUD-
insured mortgage loans. In December 2011, Cohen was held in contempt by the
Court on account of his willful violation of the Injunction in 2011.

514. Moreover, even after the United States put Cohen on notice in June
2011 that he had violated the Injunction by participating in residential real estate
sales transactions involving HUD-insured financing, Cohen resorted to yet another
mortgage fraud scheme using Fixing Houses, Inc. — a business controlled by his
long-time contractor Louis Astuto — as a conduit. Specifically, from October to
December 2011, and through Fixing Houses, Cohen attempted to orchestrate
additional fraudulent flip sales targeting inexperienced home-buyers eligible for

HUD-insured loans. Put simply, absent permanent injunctive relief against Cohen
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and Buckley, they can be expected to continue their fraudulent schemes to profit
from flip sales, at the expense of HUD and inexperienced home-buyers.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

FoRr CiviL PENALTIES UNDER FIRREA IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LOAN No. 1
(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, CFG, Buckley,

Buckley Consulting, and Micheline)

515. Allegations in paragraphs 1-514 are realleged and incorporated herein
by reference.

516. For purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for
HUD Loan No. 1, which was used to finance the flip sale of the 116th Street
Property, the Cambridge Defendants, CFG, Buckley, Buckley Consulting (formerly
Premier), and Micheline unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly created false and
fraudulent records, prepared a false and inflated appraisal, made false
certifications, and submitted or intended to be submitted such false and fraudulent
records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA, in violation of 18 U.S.C.
§§ 1006 and 1014.

517. In connection with orchestrating the flip sale of the 116th Street
Property, at an inflated price, Cohen and the Cohen Entities unlawfully, willfully,
and knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed with the Cambridge Defendants,
CFG, Buckley, Buckley Consulting, and Micheline to violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and
1014. Specifically, it was a part and an object of the conspiracy that the Cambridge
Defendants, Buckley, Buckley Consulting, and Micheline would unlawfully,
willfully, and knowingly create false and fraudulent records, prepare false and

inflated appraisals, make false certifications, and submit such false and fraudulent
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records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA. Moreover, in
furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, the Cambridge
Defendants, Buckley, Buckley Consulting, and Micheline committed numerous
overt acts, including, among other acts, the creation of false records omitting the
payment that Cohen made to Buyers 1-A and 1-B to induce them to purchase, the
preparation of an inflated appraisal for the 116ttt Street Property, the making of
false certifications regarding HUD Loan No. 1, and the submission of such false
records, appraisal, and certifications to HUD and FHA.

518. Further, for purposes of obtaining financing for the fraudulent flip sale
of the 116th Street Property and for continuing their mortgage fraud conspiracy,
Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, CFG, Buckley, Buckley
Consulting, and Micheline unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly executed a scheme
and artifice to defraud, using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343. Specifically, Cohen, the Cohen Entities,
the Cambridge Defendants, CFG, Buckley, Buckley Consulting, and Micheline
fraudulently induced or intended to induce Citi to purchase HUD Loan No. 1 from
Cambridge by sending to Countrywide false, fraudulent and misleading records,
appraisal, and certifications, using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire.
Further, as HUD Loan No. 1 defaulted within months of its being purchased by
Citi, this scheme to defraud has affected Countrywide Bank, a financial institution.

519. Accordingly, each of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge
Defendants, CFG, Buckley, Buckley Consulting, and Micheline is liable for civil

penalties to the maximum amount authorized under 12 U.S.C. § 1833a.
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SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

FoR C1viL PENALTIES UNDER FIRREA 1IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LOAN NoO. 2
(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, and the Cambridge Defendants)

520. Allegations in paragraphs 1-519 are realleged and incorporated herein
by reference.

521. For purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for
HUD Loan No. 2, which was used to finance the flip sale of Newark Avenue
Property A, the Cambridge Defendants unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly created
false and fraudulent records, made false certifications, and submitted such false
and fraudulent records and certifications to HUD and to FHA, in violation of 18
U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014.

522. In connection with orchestrating the flip sale of Newark Avenue
Property A at an inflated price, Cohen and the Cohen Entities unlawfully, willfully,
and knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed with the Cambridge Defendants to
violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014. Specifically, it was a part and an object of the
conspiracy that the Cambridge Defendants would unlawfully, willfully, and
knowingly create false and fraudulent records, make false certifications, and submit
such false and fraudulent records and certifications to HUD and to FHA. Moreover,
in furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, the
Cambridge Defendants committed numerous overt acts, including, among other
acts, the creation of false records inflating Buyer 2-A’s income and omitting the

payment that Cohen made to Buyers 2-A and 2-B to induce them to purchase, the
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making of false certifications regarding HUD Loan No. 2, and the submission of
such false records and certifications to HUD and FHA.

523. Further, for purposes of obtaining financing for the fraudulent flip sale
of Newark Avenue A and for continuing their mortgage fraud conspiracy, Cohen,
the Cohen Entities, and the Cambridge Defendants unlawfully, willfully, and
knowingly executed a scheme and artifice to defraud, using interstate mail carriers
and interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343. Specifically, Cohen,
the Cohen Entities, and the Cambridge Defendants fraudulently induced Citi to
purchase HUD Loan No. 2 from Cambridge by sending to Citi false, fraudulent and
misleading records and certifications, using interstate mail carrier and interstate
wire. Further, as HUD Loan No. 2 defaulted within months of its being purchased
by Citi, this scheme to defraud has affected Citibank, a financial institution.

524. Accordingly, each of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, and the Cambridge
Defendants is liable for civil penalties to the maximum amount authorized under 12
U.S.C. § 1833a.

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF

FoOR C1viL PENALTIES UNDER FIRREA IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LOAN NoO. 3
(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants,
Buckley Consulting, and Buckley)

525. Allegations in paragraphs 1-524 are realleged and incorporated herein
by reference.

526. For purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for
HUD Loan No. 3, which was used to finance the flip sale of the York Avenue

Property, the Cambridge Defendants, Buckley Consulting (formerly Premier), and
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Buckley unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly created false and fraudulent records,
prepared a false and inflated appraisal, made false certifications, and submitted
such false and fraudulent records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to
FHA, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014.

527. In connection with orchestrating the flip sale of the York Avenue
Property at an inflated price, Cohen and the Cohen Entities unlawfully, willfully,
and knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed with the Cambridge Defendants,
Buckley Consulting, and Buckley to violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014.
Specifically, it was a part and an object of the conspiracy that the Cambridge
Defendants, Buckley Consulting, and Buckley would unlawfully, willfully, and
knowingly create false and fraudulent records, prepare false and inflated
appraisals, make false certifications, and submit such false and fraudulent records,
appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA. Moreover, in furtherance of the
conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, the Cambridge Defendants,
Buckley Consulting, and Buckley committed numerous overt acts, including, among
other acts, the creation of false records omitting the payment that Cohen had made
to Buyers 3-A and 3-B to induce them to purchase, the preparation of an inflated
appraisal for the York Avenue Property, the making of false certifications regarding
HUD Loan No. 3, and the submission of such false records, appraisal, and
certifications to HUD and FHA.

528. Further, for purposes of obtaining financing for the fraudulent flip sale
of the York Avenue Property and for continuing their mortgage fraud conspiracy,

Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, Buckley Consulting, and
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Buckley unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly executed a scheme and artifice to
defraud, using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C.
§§ 1341 and 1343. Specifically, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge
Defendants, Buckley Consulting, and Buckley fraudulently induced Countrywide to
purchase HUD Loan No. 3 from Cambridge by sending to Countrywide false,
fraudulent and misleading records, appraisal, and certifications, using interstate
mail carriers and interstate wire. Further, as HUD Loan No. 3 defaulted within
months of its being purchased by Countrywide, this scheme to defraud has affected
Countrywide Bank, a financial institution.

529. Accordingly, each of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge
Defendants, Buckley Consulting, and Buckley is liable for civil penalties to the
maximum amount authorized under 12 U.S.C. § 1833a.

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

For CiviL PENALTIES UNDER FIRREA IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LOAN No. 4
(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg)

530. Allegations in paragraphs 1-529 are realleged and incorporated herein
by reference.

531. For purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for
HUD Loan No. 4, which was used to finance the flip sale of the Beach 46th Street
Property, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg unlawfully, willfully, and
knowingly created false and fraudulent records, prepared a false and inflated

appraisal, made false certifications, and submitted such false and fraudulent

151



Case 1:10-cv-09280-LGS Document 96 Filed 02/15/12 Page 152 of 210

records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA, in violation of 18 U.S.C.
§§ 1006 and 1014.

532. In connection with orchestrating the flip sale of the Beach 46th Street
Property at an inflated price, Cohen and the Cohen Entities unlawfully, willfully,
and knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed with the Cambridge Defendants
and Goldberg to violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014. Specifically, it was a part and
an object of the conspiracy that the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg would
unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly create false and fraudulent records, prepare
false and inflated appraisals, make false certifications, and submit such false and
fraudulent records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA. Moreover, in
furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, the Cambridge
Defendants and Goldberg committed numerous overt acts, including, among other
acts, the creation of false records inflating the incomes of Buyers 4-A and 4-B, the
preparation of an inflated appraisal for the Beach 46t Street Property, the making
of false certifications regarding HUD Loan No. 4, and the submission of such false
records, appraisal, and certifications to HUD and FHA.

533. Further, for purposes of obtaining financing for the fraudulent flip sale
of the Beach 46t Street Property and for continuing their mortgage fraud
conspiracy, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg
unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly executed a scheme and artifice to defraud,
using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341
and 1343. Specifically, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and

Goldberg fraudulently induced Citi to purchase HUD Loan No. 4 from Cambridge
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by sending to Citi false, fraudulent and misleading records, appraisal, and
certifications, using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire. Further, as HUD
Loan No. 4 defaulted within months of its being purchased by Citi, this scheme to
defraud has affected Citibank, a financial institution.

534. Accordingly, each of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge
Defendants and Goldberg is liable for civil penalties to the maximum amount
authorized under 12 U.S.C. § 1833a.

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

For CiviL PENALTIES UNDER FIRREA IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LOAN No. 5
(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg)

535. Allegations in paragraphs 1-534 are realleged and incorporated herein
by reference.

536. For purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for
HUD Loan No. 5, which was used to finance the flip sale of the Nicholas Avenue
Property, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg unlawfully, willfully, and
knowingly created false and fraudulent records, prepared a false and inflated
appraisal, made false certifications, and submitted such false and fraudulent
records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA, in violation of 18 U.S.C.
§§ 1006 and 1014.

537. In connection with orchestrating the flip sale of the Nicholas Avenue
Property at an inflated price, Cohen and the Cohen Entities unlawfully, willfully,
and knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed with the Cambridge Defendants

and Goldberg to violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014. Specifically, it was a part and
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an object of the conspiracy that the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg would
unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly create false and fraudulent records, prepare
false and inflated appraisals, make false certifications, and submit such false and
fraudulent records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA. Moreover, in
furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, the Cambridge
Defendants and Goldberg committed numerous overt acts, including, among other
acts, the creation of false records omitting the payment that Cohen had made to
Buyers 5-A and 5-B to induce them to purchase, the preparation of an inflated
appraisal for the Nicholas Avenue Property, the making of false certifications
regarding HUD Loan No. 5, and the submission of such false records, appraisal, and
certifications to HUD and FHA.

538. Further, for purposes of obtaining financing for the fraudulent flip sale
of the Nicholas Avenue Property and for continuing their mortgage fraud
conspiracy, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg
unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly executed a scheme and artifice to defraud,
using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341
and 1343. Specifically, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and
Goldberg fraudulently induced Citi to purchase HUD Loan No. 5 from Cambridge
by sending to Citi false, fraudulent and misleading records, appraisal, and
certifications, using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire. Further, as HUD
Loan No. 5 defaulted within months of its being purchased by Citi, this scheme to

defraud has affected Citibank, a financial institution.
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539. Accordingly, each of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge
Defendants, and Goldberg is liable for civil penalties to the maximum amount
authorized under 12 U.S.C. § 1833a.

SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

FoR C1viL PENALTIES UNDER FIRREA 1IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LOAN NoO. 6
(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, CFG,

Buckley Consulting, and Buckley)

540. Allegations in paragraphs 1-539 are realleged and incorporated herein
by reference.

541. For purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for
HUD Loan No. 6, which was used to finance the flip sale of the Alaska Street
Property, the Cambridge Defendants, CFG, Buckley Consulting (formerly Premier),
and Buckley unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly created false and fraudulent
records, prepared a false and inflated appraisal, made false certifications, and
submitted such false and fraudulent records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD
and to FHA, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014.

542. In connection with orchestrating the flip sale of the Alaska Street
Property at an inflated price, Cohen and the Cohen Entities unlawfully, willfully,
and knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed with the Cambridge Defendants,
CFG, Buckley Consulting, and Buckley to violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014.
Specifically, it was a part and an object of the conspiracy that the Cambridge
Defendants, Buckley Consulting, and Buckley would unlawfully, willfully, and
knowingly create false and fraudulent records, prepare false and inflated

appraisals, make false certifications, and submit such false and fraudulent records,

155



Case 1:10-cv-09280-LGS Document 96 Filed 02/15/12 Page 156 of 210

appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA. Moreover, in furtherance of the
conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, the Cambridge Defendants,
Buckley Consulting, and Buckley committed numerous overt acts, including, among
other acts, the creation of false records omitting the payment that Cohen had made
to Buyers 6-A and 6-B to induce them to purchase, the preparation of an inflated
appraisal for the Alaska Street Property, the making of false certifications
regarding HUD Loan No. 6, and the submission of such false records, appraisal, and
certifications to HUD and FHA.

543. Further, for purposes of obtaining financing for the fraudulent flip sale
of the Alaska Street Property and for continuing their mortgage fraud conspiracy,
Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, CFG, Buckley Consulting,
and Buckley unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly executed a scheme and artifice to
defraud, using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C.
§§ 1341 and 1343. Specifically, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge
Defendants, CFG, Buckley Consulting, and Buckley fraudulently induced Citi to
purchase HUD Loan No. 6 from Cambridge by sending to Citi false, fraudulent and
misleading records, appraisal, and certifications, using interstate mail carriers and
interstate wire. Further, as HUD Loan No. 6 defaulted within months of its being
purchased by Citi, this scheme to defraud has affected Citibank, a financial
institution.

544. Accordingly, each of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge
Defendants, CFG, Buckley Consulting, and Buckley is liable for civil penalties to

the maximum amount authorized under 12 U.S.C. § 1833a.
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SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

FoR C1viL PENALTIES UNDER FIRREA IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LoAN No. 7
(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg)

545. Allegations in paragraphs 1-544 are realleged and incorporated herein
by reference.

546. For purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for
HUD Loan No. 7, which was used to finance the flip sale of Newark Avenue
Property B, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg unlawfully, willfully, and
knowingly created false and fraudulent records, prepared a false and inflated
appraisal, made false certifications, and submitted such false and fraudulent
records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA, in violation of 18 U.S.C.
§§ 1006 and 1014.

547. In connection with orchestrating the flip sale of Newark Avenue
Property B at an inflated price, Cohen and the Cohen Entities unlawfully, willfully,
and knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed with the Cambridge Defendants
and Goldberg to violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014. Specifically, it was a part and
an object of the conspiracy that the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg would
unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly create false and fraudulent records, prepare
false and inflated appraisals, make false certifications, and submit such false and
fraudulent records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA. Moreover, in
furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, the Cambridge
Defendants and Goldberg committed numerous overt acts, including, among other

acts, the creation of false records omitting the payment that Cohen had made to
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Buyers 7-A and 7-B to induce them to purchase, the preparation of an inflated
appraisal for Newark Avenue Property B, the making of false certifications
regarding HUD Loan No. 7, and the submission of such false records, appraisal, and
certifications to HUD and FHA.

548. Further, for purposes of obtaining financing for the fraudulent flip sale
of Newark Avenue Property B and for continuing their mortgage fraud conspiracy,
Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg unlawfully,
willfully, and knowingly executed a scheme and artifice to defraud, using interstate
mail carriers and interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343.
Specifically, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg
fraudulently induced Citi to purchase HUD Loan No. 7 from Cambridge by sending
to Citi false, fraudulent and misleading records, appraisal, and certifications, using
Interstate mail carriers and interstate wire. Further, as HUD Loan No. 7 defaulted
within months of its being purchased by Citi, this scheme to defraud has affected
Citibank, a financial institution.

549. Accordingly, each of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge
Defendants, and Goldberg is liable for civil penalties to the maximum amount
authorized under 12 U.S.C. § 1833a.

EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

FoR C1viL PENALTIES UNDER FIRREA IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LOAN No. 8
(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants,

Buckley Consulting, and Buckley)
550. Allegations in paragraphs 1-549 are realleged and incorporated herein
by reference.
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551. For purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for
HUD Loan No. 8, which was used to finance the flip sale of Newark Avenue
Property C, the Cambridge Defendants, Buckley Consulting (formerly Premier), and
Buckley unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly created false and fraudulent records,
prepared a false and inflated appraisal, made false certifications, and submitted
such false and fraudulent records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to
FHA, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014.

552. In connection with orchestrating the flip sale of the East Tremont
Avenue Property at an inflated price, Cohen and the Cohen Entities unlawfully,
willfully, and knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed with the Cambridge
Defendants, Buckley Consulting, and Buckley to violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and
1014. Specifically, it was a part and an object of the conspiracy that the Cambridge
Defendants, Buckley Consulting, and Buckley would unlawfully, willfully, and
knowingly create false and fraudulent records, prepare false and inflated
appraisals, make false certifications, and submit such false and fraudulent records,
appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA. Moreover, in furtherance of the
conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, the Cambridge Defendants,
Buckley Consulting, and Buckley committed numerous overt acts, including, among
other acts, the preparation of an inflated appraisal for Newark Avenue Property C,
the making of false certifications regarding HUD Loan No. 8, and the submission of
such false records, appraisal, and certifications to HUD and FHA.

553. Further, for purposes of obtaining financing for the fraudulent flip sale

of Newark Avenue Property C and for continuing their mortgage fraud conspiracy,
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Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, Buckley Consulting, and
Buckley unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly executed a scheme and artifice to
defraud, using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C.
§§ 1341 and 1343. Specifically, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge
Defendants, Buckley Consulting, and Buckley fraudulently induced Citi to purchase
HUD Loan No. 8 from Cambridge by sending to Citi false, fraudulent and
misleading records, appraisal, and certifications, using interstate mail carriers and
interstate wire. Further, as HUD Loan No. 8 defaulted within months of its being
purchased by Citi, this scheme to defraud has affected Citibank, a financial
institution.

554. Accordingly, each of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge
Defendants, Buckley Consulting, and Buckley is liable for civil penalties to the
maximum amount authorized under 12 U.S.C. § 1833a.

NINTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

For CiviL PENALTIES UNDER FIRREA IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LOAN No. 9
(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg)

555. Allegations in paragraphs 1-554 are realleged and incorporated herein
by reference.

556. For purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for
HUD Loan No. 9, which was used to finance the flip sale of the East Tremont
Avenue Property, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg unlawfully, willfully,
and knowingly created false and fraudulent records, prepared a false and inflated

appraisal, made false certifications, and submitted such false and fraudulent
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records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA, in violation of 18 U.S.C.
§§ 1006 and 1014.

557. In connection with orchestrating the flip sale of the East Tremont
Avenue Property at an inflated price, Cohen and the Cohen Entities unlawfully,
willfully, and knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed with the Cambridge
Defendants and Goldberg to violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014. Specifically, it was
a part and an object of the conspiracy that the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg
would unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly create false and fraudulent records,
prepare false and inflated appraisals, make false certifications, and submit such
false and fraudulent records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA.
Moreover, in furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof,
the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg committed numerous overt acts, including,
among other acts, the creation of false records omitting the payment that Cohen
had made to Buyers 9-A, 9-B, and 9-C to induce them to purchase, the preparation
of an inflated appraisal for the East Tremont Avenue Property, the making of false
certifications regarding HUD Loan No. 9, and the submission of such false records,
appraisal, and certifications to HUD and FHA.

558. Further, for purposes of obtaining financing for the fraudulent flip sale
of the East Tremont Avenue Property and for continuing their mortgage fraud
conspiracy, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg
unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly executed a scheme and artifice to defraud,
using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341

and 1343. Specifically, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and
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Goldberg fraudulently induced Citi to purchase HUD Loan No. 9 from Cambridge
by sending to Citi false, fraudulent and misleading records, appraisal, and
certifications, using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire. Further, as HUD
Loan No. 9 defaulted within months of its being purchased by Citi, this scheme to
defraud has affected Citibank, a financial institution.

559. Accordingly, each of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge
Defendants, and Goldberg is liable for civil penalties to the maximum amount
authorized under 12 U.S.C. § 1833a.

TENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

For CiviL PENALTIES UNDER FIRREA IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LOAN No. 10
(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, and the Cambridge Defendants)

560. Allegations in paragraphs 1-559 are realleged and incorporated herein
by reference.

561. For purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for
HUD Loan No. 10, which was used to finance the flip sale of the Barkley Avenue
Property, the Cambridge Defendants unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly created
false and fraudulent records, made false certifications, and submitted such false
and fraudulent records and certifications to HUD and to FHA, in violation of 18
U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014.

562. In connection with orchestrating the flip sale of the Barkley Avenue
Property at an inflated price, Cohen and the Cohen Entities unlawfully, willfully,
and knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed with the Cambridge Defendants to

violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014. Specifically, it was a part and an object of the
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conspiracy that the Cambridge Defendants would unlawfully, willfully, and
knowingly create false and fraudulent records, make false certifications, and submit
such false and fraudulent records and certifications to HUD and to FHA. Moreover,
in furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, the
Cambridge Defendants committed numerous overt acts, including, among other
acts, the creation of false records omitting the inducements to purchase that Cohen
had provided to Buyers 10-A and 10-B — namely, paying off their personal debts and
promising to make mortgage payments on their behalves, the making of false
certifications regarding HUD Loan No. 10, and the submission of such false records
and certifications to HUD and FHA.

563. Further, for purposes of obtaining financing for the fraudulent flip sale
of the Barkley Avenue Property and for continuing their mortgage fraud conspiracy,
Cohen, the Cohen Entities and the Cambridge Defendants unlawfully, willfully, and
knowingly executed a scheme and artifice to defraud, using interstate mail carriers
and interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343. Specifically, Cohen,
the Cohen Entities, and the Cambridge Defendants fraudulently induced Citi to
purchase HUD Loan No. 10 from Cambridge by sending to Citi false, fraudulent
and misleading records and certifications, using interstate mail carriers and
interstate wire. Further, as HUD Loan No. 10 defaulted within months of its being
purchased by Citi, this scheme to defraud has affected Citibank, a financial

institution.
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564. Accordingly, each of Cohen, the Cohen Entities and the Cambridge
Defendants is liable for civil penalties to the maximum amount authorized under 12
U.S.C. § 1833a.

ELEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

For CiviL. PENALTIES UNDER FIRREA IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LOAN No. 11
(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg)

565. Allegations in paragraphs 1-564 are realleged and incorporated herein
by reference.

566. For purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for
HUD Loan No. 11, which was used to finance the flip sale of Newark Avenue
Property D, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg unlawfully, willfully, and
knowingly created false and fraudulent records, made false certifications, issued an
inflated appraisal, and submitted such false and fraudulent records, certifications,
and appraisal to HUD and to FHA, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014.

567. In connection with orchestrating the flip sale of Newark Avenue
Property D at an inflated price, Cohen and the Cohen Entities unlawfully, willfully,
and knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed with the Cambridge Defendants
and Goldberg to violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014. Specifically, it was a part and
an object of the conspiracy that the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg would
unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly create false and fraudulent records, make false
certifications, issue an inflated appraisal, and submit such false and fraudulent
records, certifications, and appraisal to HUD and to FHA. Moreover, in furtherance

of the conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, the Cambridge Defendants
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and Goldberg committed numerous overt acts, including, among other acts, the
creation of false records omitting the payment that Cohen had made to Buyers 11-A
and 11-B to induce them purchase, the making of false certifications regarding
HUD Loan No. 11, the issuance of an inflated appraisal, and the submission of such
false records, certifications, and appraisal to HUD and FHA.

568. Further, for purposes of obtaining financing for the fraudulent flip sale
of Newark Avenue Property D and for continuing their mortgage fraud conspiracy,
Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg unlawfully,
willfully, and knowingly executed a scheme and artifice to defraud, using interstate
mail carriers and interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343.
Specifically, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg
fraudulently induced Citi to purchase HUD Loan No. 11 from Cambridge by
sending to Citi false, fraudulent and misleading records, certifications, and
appraisal using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire. Further, as HUD Loan
No. 11 defaulted within months of its being purchased by Citi, this scheme to
defraud has affected Citibank, a financial institution.

569. Accordingly, each of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge
Defendants, and Goldberg is liable for civil penalties to the maximum amount

authorized under 12 U.S.C. § 1833a.
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TWELFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

FoR C1viL PENALTIES UNDER FIRREA IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LOAN NoO. 12
(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, and the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg)

570. Allegations in paragraphs 1-569 are realleged and incorporated herein
by reference.

571. For purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for
HUD Loan No. 12, which was used to finance the flip sale of the South 3rd Avenue
Property, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg unlawfully, willfully, and
knowingly created false and fraudulent records, prepared a false and inflated
appraisal, made false certifications, and submitted such false and fraudulent
records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA, in violation of 18 U.S.C.
§§ 1006 and 1014.

572. In connection with orchestrating the flip sale of the South 3rd Avenue
Property at an inflated price, Cohen and the Cohen Entities unlawfully, willfully,
and knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed with the Cambridge Defendants
and Goldberg to violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014. Specifically, it was a part and
an object of the conspiracy that the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg would
unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly create false and fraudulent records, prepare
false and inflated appraisals, make false certifications, and submit such false and
fraudulent records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA. Moreover, in
furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, the Cambridge
Defendants and Goldberg committed numerous overt acts, including, among other

acts, the creation of false records omitting the funds that Cohen had provided to
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induce Buyers 12-A and 12-B to purchase, the preparation of an inflated appraisal
for the South 3rd Avenue Property, the making of false certifications regarding HUD
Loan No. 12, and the submission of such false records, appraisal, and certifications
to HUD and FHA.

573. Further, for purposes of obtaining financing for the fraudulent flip sale
of the South 3 Avenue Property and for continuing their mortgage fraud
conspiracy, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg
unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly executed a scheme and artifice to defraud,
using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341
and 1343. Specifically, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and
Goldberg fraudulently induced Countrywide to purchase HUD Loan No. 12 from
Cambridge by sending to Countrywide false, fraudulent and misleading records,
appraisal, and certifications, using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire.
Further, as HUD Loan No. 12 defaulted within months of its being purchased by
Citi, this scheme to defraud has affected Countrywide Bank, a financial institution.

574. Accordingly, each of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge
Defendants, and Goldberg is liable for civil penalties to the maximum amount
authorized under 12 U.S.C. § 1833a.

THIRTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

FoR C1viL PENALTIES UNDER FIRREA IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LOAN NoO. 13
(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline)

575. Allegations in paragraphs 1-574 are realleged and incorporated herein

by reference.
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576. For purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for
HUD Loan No. 13, which was used to finance the flip sale of the Nebraska Avenue
Property, the Cambridge Defendants and Micheline unlawfully, willfully, and
knowingly created false and fraudulent records, prepared a false and inflated
appraisal, made false certifications, and submitted such false and fraudulent
records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA, in violation of 18 U.S.C.
§§ 1006 and 1014.

577. In connection with orchestrating the flip sale of the Nebraska Avenue
Property at an inflated price, Cohen and the Cohen Entities unlawfully, willfully,
and knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed with the Cambridge Defendants
and Micheline to violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014. Specifically, it was a part and
an object of the conspiracy that the Cambridge Defendants and Micheline would
unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly create false and fraudulent records, prepare
false and inflated appraisals, make false certifications, and submit such false and
fraudulent records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA. Moreover, in
furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, the Cambridge
Defendants and Micheline committed numerous overt acts, including, among other
acts, the creation of false records disguising the funds that Cohen provided to
induce Buyers 13-A, 13-B, and 13-C to purchase, the preparation of an inflated
appraisal for the Nebraska Avenue Property, the making of false certifications
regarding HUD Loan No. 13, and the submission of such false records, appraisal,

and certifications to HUD and FHA.
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578. Further, for purposes of obtaining financing for the fraudulent flip sale
of the Nebraska Avenue Property and for continuing their mortgage fraud
conspiracy, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline
unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly executed a scheme and artifice to defraud,
using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341
and 1343. Specifically, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and
Micheline fraudulently induced Countrywide to purchase HUD Loan No. 13 from
Cambridge by sending to Countrywide false, fraudulent and misleading records,
appraisal, and certifications, using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire.
Further, as HUD Loan No. 13 defaulted within months of its being purchased by
Countrywide, this scheme to defraud has affected Countrywide Bank, a financial
institution.

579. Accordingly, each of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge
Defendants, and Micheline is liable for civil penalties to the maximum amount
authorized under 12 U.S.C. § 1833a.

FOURTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

FOR C1viL PENALTIES UNDER FIRREA IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LoAN No. 14
(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg)

580. Allegations in paragraphs 1-579 are realleged and incorporated herein
by reference.

581. For purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for
HUD Loan No. 14, which was used to finance the flip sale of the South 8t Avenue

Property, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg unlawfully, willfully, and

169



Case 1:10-cv-09280-LGS Document 96 Filed 02/15/12 Page 170 of 210

knowingly created false and fraudulent records, prepared a false and inflated
appraisal, made false certifications, and submitted such false and fraudulent
records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA, in violation of 18 U.S.C.
§§ 1006 and 1014.

582. In connection with orchestrating the flip sale of the South 8t Avenue
Property at an inflated price, Cohen and the Cohen Entities unlawfully, willfully,
and knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed with the Cambridge Defendants
and Goldberg to violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014. Specifically, it was a part and
an object of the conspiracy that the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg would
unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly create false and fraudulent records, prepare
false and inflated appraisals, make false certifications, and submit such false and
fraudulent records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA. Moreover, in
furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, the Cambridge
Defendants and Goldberg committed numerous overt acts, including, among other
acts, the preparation of an inflated appraisal for the South 8th Avenue Property, the
making of false certifications regarding HUD Loan No. 14, and the submission of
such false records, appraisal, and certifications to HUD and FHA.

583. Further, for purposes of obtaining financing for the fraudulent flip sale
of the South 8t Avenue Property and for continuing their mortgage fraud
conspiracy, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg
unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly executed a scheme and artifice to defraud,
using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341

and 1343. Specifically, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and
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Goldberg fraudulently induced Citi to purchase HUD Loan No. 314 from Cambridge
by sending to Citi false, fraudulent and misleading records, appraisal, and
certifications, using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire. Further, as HUD
Loan No. 14 defaulted within months of its being purchased by Citi, this scheme to
defraud has affected Citibank, a financial institution.

584. Accordingly, each of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge
Defendants, and Goldberg is liable for civil penalties to the maximum amount
authorized under 12 U.S.C. § 1833a.

FIFTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

For C1viL. PENALTIES UNDER FIRREA IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LOAN No. 15
(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline)

585. Allegations in paragraphs 1-584 are realleged and incorporated herein
by reference.

586. For purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for
HUD Loan No. 15, which was used to finance the flip sale of the Tompkins Place
Property, the Cambridge Defendants and Micheline unlawfully, willfully, and
knowingly created false and fraudulent records, prepared an inflated appraisal,
made false certifications, and submitted such false and fraudulent records,
appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006
and 1014.

587. In connection with orchestrating the flip sale of the Tompkins Place
Property at an inflated price, Cohen and the Cohen Entities unlawfully, willfully,

and knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed with the Cambridge Defendants
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and Micheline to violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014. Specifically, it was a part and
an object of the conspiracy that the Cambridge Defendants and Micheline would
unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly create false and fraudulent records, prepare
false and inflated appraisals, make false certifications, and submit such false and
fraudulent records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA. Moreover, in
furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, the Cambridge
Defendants and Micheline committed numerous overt acts, including, among other
acts, the creation of false records claiming that Buyers 15-A and 15-B both intended
to use the Tompkins Place Property as their primary residence, the preparation of
an inflated appraisal for the Tompkins Place Property, the making of false
certifications regarding HUD Loan No. 15, and the submission of such false records,
appraisal, and certifications to HUD and FHA.

588. Further, for purposes of obtaining financing for the fraudulent flip sale
of the Tompkins Place Property and for continuing their mortgage fraud conspiracy,
Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline unlawfully,
willfully, and knowingly executed a scheme and artifice to defraud, using interstate
mail carriers and interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343.
Specifically, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline
fraudulently induced Countrywide to purchase HUD Loan No. 15 from Cambridge
by sending to Countrywide false, fraudulent and misleading records, appraisal, and
certifications, using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire. Further, as HUD
Loan No. 15 defaulted within months of its being purchased by Countrywide, this

scheme to defraud has affected Countrywide Bank, a financial institution.
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589. Accordingly, each of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge
Defendants, and Micheline is liable for civil penalties to the maximum amount
authorized under 12 U.S.C. § 1833a.

SIXTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

FOR TREBLE DAMAGES AND C1VIL PENALTIES UNDER THE FCA
IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LoAN NO. 16

(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline)

590. Allegations in paragraphs 1-589 are realleged and incorporated herein
by reference.

591. The United States seeks treble damages and civil penalties against
Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline because they
fraudulently obtained HUD insurance for HUD Loan No. 16 for the sale of the 155th
Street Property to Buyer 16, in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(1)(A)—(C).

592. Specifically, as set forth above, see supra at 49 438 — 458, Cohen, the
Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline knowingly, or with
reckless disregard for the truth, caused a false claim for mortgage insurance
coverage for HUD Loan No. 16 to be presented to an officer, employee, or agent of
the United States, namely HUD, in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(1)(A).

593. Further, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and
Micheline knowingly, or with reckless disregard for the truth, caused false records
and false statements to be made or used to get a false claim for mortgage insurance
coverage for HUD Loan No. 16 paid by HUD, in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(1)(B).

594. In addition, and in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(1)(C), Cohen, the

Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline conspired to cause a
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false claim mortgage insurance coverage for HUD Loan No. 16 to be presented to
HUD, or to cause false records and false statements to be made or used to get a
false claim for mortgage insurance coverage for HUD Loan No. 16 paid by HUD.

595. By reason of the fraudulent conduct of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the
Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline in connection with obtaining HUD insurance
for HUD Loan No. 16, the United States has sustained $262,101 in damages to
date, and such further damages in an amount to be determined at trial.

SEVENTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

FOR TREBLE DAMAGES AND C1VIL PENALTIES UNDER THE FCA
IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LoAN NO. 17

(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants,
Buckley Consulting and Buckley)

596. Allegations in paragraphs 1-595 are realleged and incorporated herein
by reference.

597. The United States seeks treble damages and civil penalties against
Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, Buckley Consulting
(formerly Premier), and Buckley because they fraudulently obtained HUD
insurance for HUD Loan No. 17 for the sale of the Beach 88th Street Property to
Buyers 17-A, 17-B, and 17-C, in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(1)(A)—(C).

598. Specifically, as set forth above, see supra at 9 459-480, Cohen, the
Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, Buckley Consulting, and Buckley
knowingly, or with reckless disregard for the truth, caused a false claim for

mortgage insurance coverage for HUD Loan No. 17 to be presented to an officer,
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employee, or agent of the United States, namely HUD, in violation of 31 U.S.C. §
3729(1)(A).

599. Further, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants,
Buckley Consulting, and Buckley knowingly, or with reckless disregard for the
truth, caused false records and false statements to be made or used to get a false
claim for mortgage insurance coverage for HUD Loan No. 17 paid by HUD, in
violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(1)(B).

600. In addition, and in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(1)(C), Cohen, the
Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, Buckley Consulting, and Buckley
conspired to cause a false claim mortgage insurance coverage for HUD Loan No. 17
to be presented to HUD, or to cause false records and false statements to be made or
used to get a false claim for mortgage insurance coverage for HUD Loan No. 17 paid
by HUD.

601. By reason of the fraudulent conduct of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the
Cambridge Defendants, Buckley Consulting, and Buckley in connection with
obtaining HUD insurance for HUD Loan No. 17, the United States has sustained
$482,470 in damages to date, and such further damages in an amount to be
determined at trial.

EIGHTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

FOR AN INJUNCTION UNDER THE FRAUD INJUNCTION STATUTE
(Against Cohen and Buckley)

602. Allegations in paragraphs 1-601 are realleged and incorporated herein

by reference.
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603. Cohen and Buckley knowingly and intentionally devised, and
participated in, schemes to defraud the United States, specifically HUD, of money
and property, by abusing the HUD mortgage insurance program; and to commit
frauds that affected home-buyers, financial institutions, and HUD.

604. For the purpose of executing their schemes to defraud, Cohen and
Buckley sent or delivered, or caused to be sent or delivered, to HUD and to financial
institutions false and misleading statements and information in Loan Applications,
HUD-1 Settlement Statements, MCAW forms, and appraisal reports, and other
documents, by interstate mail carriers and interstate wire, in violations of 18 U.S.C.
§§ 1341 and 1343.

605. As set forth above, see supra at §9 481-514, Cohen and Buckley have
been, and can be expected to continue, devising, and participating in, schemes to
defraud HUD by fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for sales of
residential properties at inflated valuations, and to commit mail and wire fraud
that affect home-buyers, financial institutions, and HUD. Specifically, in 2010,
Cohen and Buckley orchestrated more than thirty-five such fraudulent flip sales. In
connection with those frauds, Cohen and Buckley sent, or caused to be sent, false
statements and information to HUD and to financial institutions, by interstate mail
carriers and interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343.

606. Further, in 2011, and notwithstanding the entry of an injunction
against Cohen in December 2010, Cohen and Buckley continued to attempt to
orchestrate fraudulent flip sales using HUD-insured mortgage loans. Accordingly,

it is highly probable that Cohen and Buckley will continue to devise schemes to
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commit fraud on HUD and financial institutions, using interstate mail carriers and
interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343.

607. Cohen’s and Buckley’s ongoing mortgage fraud scheme poses the
prospect of a continuing and substantial injury to the United States, its citizens, its
financial institutions, and the secondary marketplace for mortgage loans.

608. Accordingly, Cohen’s and Buckley’s ongoing fraudulent conduct should

be enjoined pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1345.

WHEREFORE, the United States prays for judgment against defendants as
follows:

(a) With respect to each claim for civil penalties under FIRREA (Claims
Nos. 1-15), a judgment imposing civil penalties against each defendant charged
under each claim, up to the maximum amount of $1,000,000 allowed by law;

(b) With respect to the FCA claim arising from HUD’s payment of a
mortgage insurance claim for HUD Loan No. 16 (Claim No. 16), a judgment against
Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline, holding
them jointly and severally liable to the United States for the amount of $786,303,
plus such appropriate civil penalties to be determined by the Court;

(¢) With respect to the FCA claim arising from a claim on HUD for
mortgage insurance coverage for the default of HUD Loan No. 17 (Claim No. 17), a
judgment against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, Buckley
Consulting, and Buckley, holding them jointly and severally liable to the United
States for the amount of $1,447,410, plus such appropriate civil penalties to be

determined by the Court;
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(d) With respect to the Fraud Injunction Claim (Claim No. 18), the entry of

a preliminary injunction and a permanent injunction against Cohen and Buckley:

1.

1ii.

1v.

Enjoining Cohen and Buckley, and any of their employees, agents,
assigns, or any persons acting on their behalf, from (1) participating
in any real estate transaction that involves any request or
application for mortgage insurance from HUD or FHA; and (2)
advertising, marketing to the public, otherwise soliciting business
that involve the origination of any federally-insured home mortgage
loans;

Ordering Cohen and Buckley to identify to the United States, within
seven (7) days of the entry of the preliminary injunction, all business
entities in which any of them holds a greater than 10% interest or
over which either exercises any control;

Ordering Cohen and Buckley to notify the United States within three
(3) days of any of them having acquired a greater than 10% interest
in a business or having acquired any control over a business;
Directing Cohen and Buckley, and any of their employees, agents,
assigns, or any persons acting on their behalf, to notify the United
States within 48 hours of the following events: (1) the execution of
an agreement for the purchase of a residential property in any real
estate transaction in which any of them participates in any capacity;
(2) the making of an application to obtain a mortgage loan to finance

the purchase of a residential property, or to refinance a residential
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V1.

vil.

property, in connection with a real estate transaction in which any of
them participates in any capacity; (3) the disbursement of a mortgage
loan in connection with a residential real estate transaction in which
any of them participates in any capacity; and (4) the default by one or
more buyers on a mortgage loan originated in connection with a
residential real estate transaction in which any of them participates
In any capacity;

Directing each of Cohen and Buckley to submit, within ten days after
the end of quarter following the entry of the preliminary and
permanent injunction, sworn statements to the United States that
set forth, for the preceding quarter, the following information: (1)
Cohen’s or Buckley’s total income for that quarter, including, but not
limited to, any income derived from any business in which Cohen or
Buckley has any ownership interest or control; (i) the sources of
Cohen’s or Buckley’s income during that quarter; and (ii1) all
business entities or real estate properties in which Cohen or Buckley
held any interest during the quarter;

Ordering Cohen and Buckley to show a copy of the preliminary
injunction and, if extant, the permanent injunction to all their
employees, agents, and any other persons acting on their behalf, as
well as to all prospective home-buyers to whom Cohen or Buckley
seeks to sell a property; and

Ordering Cohen and Buckley to file with the Court, and serve upon
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the United States, a written report, within fourteen (14) days of the
entry of the preliminary and the permanent injunction, in which
report each shall set forth, under oath, the manner of its compliance

with each provision of each injunction.

(e) With respect to the FIRREA Claims and the FCA Claims (Claims Nos.

1- 17), a preliminary injunction and a permanent injunction against the Cambridge

Defendants:

1.

1i.

Enjoining the Cambridge Defendants, and any of their employees,
agents, assigns, or any persons acting on their behalf, from (1)
obtaining mortgage insurance fraudulently from HUD; (2) using the
mail or write transmissions, or causing the use of the mail or wire
transmissions, to defraud HUD or to execute a scheme to defraud
that affects a financial institution; (3) destroying, altering, disposing
of or in any other fashion failing to maintain business, financial,
accounting, real estate and legal records; (4) originating, processing,
or preparing any application for mortgage insurance from HUD; and
(5) advertising, marketing to the public, or otherwise soliciting
business to originate, or otherwise handle, any federally-insured
home mortgage loans;

Ordering the Cambridge Defendants to identify to the United States,
within seven (7) days of the entry of the preliminary injunction, all
business entities in which any of them holds a greater than 10%

interest or over which any exercises any control;
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1ii.

1v.

Ordering the Cambridge Defendants to notify the United States
within three (3) days of any of them having acquired a greater than
10% interest in a business or having acquired any control over a
business; and

Ordering the Cambridge Defendants to file with the Court, and serve
upon the United States, a written report, within fourteen (14) days of
the entry of the preliminary and the permanent injunction, in which
report each shall set forth, under oath, the manner of its compliance

with each provision of each injunction.

(f) With respect to the FIRREA Claims and the FCA Claims, a preliminary

injunction and a permanent injunction against Goldberg and Micheline:

1.

11.

Enjoining Goldberg and Micheline, and any of their employees,
agents, assigns, or any persons acting on their behalf, from (1)
preparing, reviewing, approving or submitting appraisal reports in
connection with a real estate sale or refinancing to be financed
through a HUD-insured mortgage loan; (2) advertising, marketing to
the public, or otherwise soliciting business to provide appraisal
services in connection with any federally-insured home mortgage
loans; and (3) destroying, altering, disposing of or in any other
fashion failing to maintain business, financial, accounting, real estate
and legal records;

Ordering Goldberg and Micheline to identify to the United States,

within seven (7) days of the entry of the preliminary injunction, all
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business entities in which any of them holds a greater than 10%
interest or over which any exercises any control;

iii.  Ordering Goldberg and Micheline to notify the United States within
three (3) days of any of them having acquired a greater than 10%
interest in a business or having acquired any control over a business;
and

iv.  Ordering Goldberg and Micheline to file with the Court, and serve
upon the United States, a written report, within fourteen (14) days of
the entry of the preliminary and the permanent injunction, in which
report each shall set forth, under oath, the manner of its compliance
with each provision of each injunction.

(g) For costs of suit;
(h) For reasonable attorneys fees; and,

(1) For such further relief that the Court deems just.

Dated: February 15, 2012
New York, New York

PREET BHAHARA
United States Attorney
Southern District of New York

By:ﬂuﬁgé'@%

CrisTINg )
CRISTINE IRVIN PHILLIPS

Assistant United States Attorneys
Attorneys for Plaintiff the United States
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Erin Davis

From: Erin Davis

Sent: Wednesday, April 25, 2007 1:15 PM

To: : '‘Wendy Perkins'

Subject: RE: Morales

Hi Ms. Wendy, .

| want to help you. Mitch will be there shortly and hopefully we can get this all resolved. | am so soory that youare
stressed over this. | appreciate everything you have done.

From: Wendy Perktns {mallto WPerklns@HomeCap com]
Sent: Wednesday, April 25, 2007 12:48 PM

To: Erin Davis

Cc: Jackie Derrell

Subject: Morales

Hi Erin,

As per our conversation yesterday regarding the certified bank check in the amount of $3,363.00 from Northfork bank. Did
you get a chance to speak with Mitch regarding this error. .

1. The First check in the amount of $9,000.00 from WAMU savings account # 936-30818850 came from the borrowers
Dad. The additional $3,363.00 must come out of this account as well.

2. | need an additional gift letter completed and signed reflecting the $3,363.00 came from the WAMU savings account #
936-30818850 which is the Dad's account. Please prepare a letter from the Dad stating that he did not realize he needed
to give his son a gift totalling 12,363.00 and this is why he took out an additional gift of $3,363.00. | need this letter in my
loan file because of the different dates of the withdrawals from the Dads Savings account.

3. | need you to confirm with me how you would like to retrieve the incorrect bank certified check for $3,363.00 froh'l North
Fork, is Mitch going to pick this up? Please Make him hurry up.... (LOL) as | need to get this file QC'd and shipped out.

E | already reworked the loan to show that Leonardo's accounts are being paid off and not Jannettes, it worked out | told
Leonardo that He and Jannette will have to come in to resign the 1003's reflecting this. He said no problem. | also
prepared a letter of explanation for Jannette stating that she is disputing the WFNB Express act # 518189000538 from
10/01 with a balance of $579.00 she has to sign this letter. (This change is do to her credit now not being paid) | needed
to make the DT work and stay the same as the 1st approval.

Call Me when you get this.

Thanks

Wendy

BAH 00244
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Mouthly lncome

3 3
PosiienTitle Tvpe of Business Husiness Fhone imcl area codel PosiuenTude Ty pe of Business Business Phone (inel area code}
Name & Address ol Employer O Seif Emploved Dates {from - L2} Hame & Address of Emplover O Seir Employed

Muonthly Income Monthly Income
] 3
PosmonTilleType of Busimess Business Phone (inel area code) Posttion Title Type of Businzss Business Phone (el area coden
Freddio Mac Form 65 7705 Fage 1 of 4 Fanole Mar Form 1003 7705
Residentlal Loan Application FC62903 2

RA 05 LEG Rev. 2/06




Grasa

Momihly Income Harrower

NS LI
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(AT RS ERE AN

{ombined Monthly
Housing Fipease

Base Empl. Income* 5‘}3 5\‘ 3 m N H ,"‘\,’ <L.J|"I Remt | J' 1&‘. ’
Uverue = Fust Morigage (P&I) 229D
Bonuses i Other Financing (P&l) |
ST TERTTELTY Hazard [nan
] s | —— 1 VA

DwvidedsInerest

Real Estle Tanes

Met Rettal Income

Morgage hustoance

Dilier {bofare completg, sre
e suvtsce i “descnbe ather
meaine.” below )

Homeowner Assn Dues |

QOther

Total

£ fHAN],

| EINRYY2

Youi RN

]

* Sell Employed Barrower{s) may be required to provide sdditionsl documentation such »s tax refuras snd financisl stafemenis.

Montlily Arneagn

Describe OGiher Tncome Naricer  Alimony, child support, or separate maintensnce iocome need ot be revealed
if the Barrower (B} or Ce-Barrower ({7 does not chooae Lo have it considered
lar repaying this kan.
BC
]
VEOASS[I S PIAARELDLN ~
This 5 and iy appheable sppostung scl mey be 1 jountly by both mamed wnod usamed Co-Borrowers of ther assets aud labalities e sufficiently joned 2o that the Statement can be
by and Frly d om0 bued basis. oih separnie S and Schedutes we required 16 the Co-By seclion was pleted abowt o non-apphicant spowse o other parson. ths
and supporiuy schadules sl be P £ abonst llul spouse o olher person also
Completed [ fously [ Not Joutl
ASSETS Cush or Lishilities und Pledged Assets. List the creditor's nume, address, and account manber for all outstuding debts, uieludisg
Market Value aulumebile loans. revely mg ege accotits, real estale loans, elumony, cluld suppon, stock pledges. ete  Use contunstion sheet of

Desenplion

necessAy

Cash deposit toward E]
Purcluase held by

i

jraperty

List checking and savings accounts below

Inducate by (") lhmc linbiistres, which will be sansfied upon sale of real estate owred o upen refivancing of the subject

LIABILITIES

Monthly Payment & |
Months |2t to Pay

Unpaid Halamee

Manie and address of Bank. S&L. or Credit Umion Naaue and addgess of Conpany § PaymentMonths g
' o nL [ “THt
il 127 J ) 4
(LA .
Acut tio s Jl-<¢ -amu:né 5‘)/ f"r"»’f
I\alne achdress L. l  Uions Name mul address af’“mupum 3 Payment/hontl s | 5
Y% %E fnvuw L L REL
{ bw)r.
Acet. o [ Acel no 2— £ -7 "( .
Namie and anddress of Sl o mn Uiion Name and gddress of Company % Paymesi/Montas $
2.9 b, /I/ L“LVI,/L . Lo = 3,
M 17 r‘\l
Accl no § Acel 0o 7 / } ).
Name and acdress of Bank. S&L. v Credit Unicn Name and address of Company § PaymentMonilu = L]
/ i/t ~Tihe ,?m-i /) { 55
. hEC
Accl e } o 5 Acct no 2 E"'_y | /oa 7 -
Stocks & Tonds (Compay e § Name and addeess of Conppany 5 Peyunent/Moriha 5
manber & descnpion) 1 o — -
Uiy Tlened | 7175 Gerc.
S
i ¢ 11
Life insurance net cash value 5 Nm’.e aund acdibress of Compeny § PayuienMoniha §

Face amewnt §

F¢

Subtotal Liquid Assets 5

AN .

Reai estate owned fenter mackel value | 8
from scheduls of real estate ewned)

At (817 Tk g

¢9
e o

167¢ .
My~
2

Vested interest i retwement fid | § = (7
et worth of brasnseses | owned 5 Acct Do

atach fimnesal statestent)

Amcmobiles vwned (make and H Alumocy Cluld Suppon/Sepate 5

year) Mamntenance Payments Owed to

Crcbver Azsels (itemize) g Job-Relaled Expense (eluld vare, union dues, aie ) 1

])le/;ljw_ \5(,///“’/

: A

Total Monthly Payments
Totat Assets v, | Net Warth 3 Yital Lisbilities b. | 5
{a mims b)
Freds.r Muc Form 65 7/05 Page2of4 Fumnic Mae Form 1043 705

FC62900]
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Schedule of Heal Estute Owned [l addilonal properties are owned, tse contuwation sheet |

Property Address fevter 3 1F sold, 15 of pending sale ve 8 Amount of [istre, 5
rental Leing held [oe ineonie) Type of Property P“"T::l:::k" Mortgages & L}rﬁ::ﬁ;ﬂul M“:‘:i: Mairvenance, N:’ :il:nlnl
| Lious Faym Taves & Misc gl
| 3 | 3 5 5 5 5
L
, Toaals H 5 H 3 5 5
List woy additional names under which eredit has previowsly been received and indicate appropriate creditor same(s) and sceeunl aumber{s}:
Alwerizate Nane Creditor Naue Acoott Nuibes
YR I AHE SO TR ANS A IO VIHL DT AR AL IONS
i Puschase price 5 l::’:ll: ::rur ’j‘l’cn“ o l:!mq::i“l- [ Ih’ruugh Iy Borromer Co-Borrower
Ty L Ves N | Ye Ne
B Alleratios, iniprovenenls, repais / @ Are there any jidaments agaunst vou® m] ﬁ/ ] ﬁ-’-ﬂ
Lamed (uF secuured sepasately ) b Have you been declared barbanpt wathun the st 7 years” (m] ﬂ"‘— (] H..—.—
1 Refireus o Uebaa 1 Be paid off o Have you lmd property foreclosed upou or give ool s g
5 chtege (MK ik o or deed ut Liew thereo! i the last 7 yeass? = H =
¢ Fstumated prepard stems d Are vot s party toa lawant® m] .B'ﬁ (m] /E"-‘
f Esumnted elowng vosts e Have you duectly or wdwrectly been obligated on any
T ML MIP Freadios E. Toan wiveh resulted i forecionive. o E”_ a /D"‘
# PML MIF Funding Fee ut e of foreulosize. or jidgmient
Tt Duscount (O Bomawer will eyl (This would mciude such louss a3 home mortgage loans, SBA loans, home
- unprovewent loans, educational lows. iwaoulaciured (mobile) lome loans, any
el cets gadd e s tseugh ) . financinl oblig bord. or loen U Yex,” provide details,
|uc|||d1_\g date, parue. and wddress of Lender. FHA or VA case number, of any, and
2 veasos for the nction |
5 I Are you prasently deluguent or m defoudt o any Federal debe or mw other a D’—-‘-\ O t‘g
i rekinate fuancug loam, morigage, finaneisd obligation, bosd, or loan guacaiee®
1 Yes,” give detanls a8 daseribed i the preceding question
& Are you obligated to pay aliwneny, child suppart, < te mauitenance” D/-H
& Boanower's g conts i by Sellor ? o . . * EplEpe SHurance = } A A
b s any pan of the down pvinent borrowed® o r ] g
s v Age you a comaker of endorser o a e 0 ﬂ/-' O B/r-
| Cither Credas fexplami
e Loan am okt exe]ude PM] MID.
Frncang Fee fuanced) 1 Areyounlf§ cinzen® -E""-_ =] Bb— 0

n Phil MIF, Funding Fee furanced

YL
I\

k Are vou a permenent residen ahen” o

1 Do youintend to occupy the property us your primary residence?
If " Ves " complete question m beluw

oy st add m & o)

Have you lud an ownerslup uiterest 11 a property u the Jast tiree yeaz™ (=]

(1) What type o property did vou own - prmeipal residence (PR,

*ash from'to Borrower (subTact |, k. |
& o fron: 1)

Ej)m-'"

second honee (SH ). or wwestonent propesty (189
(23 How did you Lald title e the home - solely by voursell 18],
Jountly walli your spouss (5P), or jomtly with an

Each of the vowdersigned specifically represents to Lender and to Leneer's sctusl or potential agernits, imokers, processors, atfommeys. s urers, servacers
the wnfornatcn provided o s application s troe and correct as of e date set forl) oppesite my sgeanue and et any uentional or negligent

may result i ewal hatuliny,

morfgage o desd of mist on the property de
prposs of oiamng a residenial morgage Joan, (5 the |lup¢ﬂ} wall ke pied as wudi

of tus appheation, whetie:

pu\ru:ma emathe |
it to ome or more
1ot 115 ager

eribed 2 this applieattor. (31 the propey

not the Loan s approved, (Tythe Lewder and it ageirs. 'br.\krl: ATISNEIS, SETYLCETS, $1ICCESONs, And ASSLANS Ay
nend andion supplement the mformation provaded o this applentio
saet becomne Jeluwguent. the Lender. 1hs servicers, succesion or assip)

repurling agenoies, (9] ownershap of the Luoan and:
. Ivokers, zswen, sy #13. SlCoEson ot assigna lins made any representation oF wartuiity, expross of unplied, (o me regarding the property or the condiion or value of e property, wd (111 my

v ARSI E G ENTENT

ASMD AGREEATIEN

of this

. sitccessars ind assizns and aprees and acknowledges tal (1]

Usnted States Code. Sec. 1001, @ seq., (2 e loan Led prosiit bo tus

contaned i tlus apphcaion

Inding monetary dunages, %o any person who way sulfer any loss doe (o reliance upon any misrepresentanion thet [ hove made on fus spplhoation, wndior m ormml penalties
weludig. bt ol limited to, fine or imprsemauent or both under the provuions of Title 13

(e “Loan™) will be seeured by a

it |

d i lus app

will not be used for ay illegal or profubited puarpose or use; (4) ell statements made 1 Yus npplu.a( s are wnade for the
. 16) the lender, its services, successom ar BISIRIS T relaus the ongina. mdos u elecens resond

liciy 1z the appheation. and

of muy of e mateswl

cia thot 1 have represented herewns b
may, w addition toary olher rights and remedies dul o
acdmanst

atvem of T Leoar accows may be mansferred with such notice as mey be

al ths applention ws an

Tnesimile iransmassion of ths application contaming 8 fesule ut'J:.ly signature, shall be
wigustie

i of the vt

Taetratuc record”

4

my el signatze,”

a3 affective. ewloroesble and valid a5 il & japer version of ths apphcation were del:

Laing 1o the Lom_ﬁy{uﬁ

te tusiness purpess through anmy scurce, weluding 3 soance pamed i dus appheation o 8 consiumner sepoetug ageney

et wry owner of e Loun, i1s servicers, suecessors mnd assigrs, may venfy or reverify any

dd clu\lva e 1o closang of the Loain, (8} n the event that my
Tewe relatmg to such delmquercy. repo my name and accming

requared Iy law, (101 newher Lender

" us those terms are defined w applcable federal andior state lows (exciuding udie and videe recordugs), of my

vered contamang my engmal writlen

o als

d 11 thus appl by

boa below

The Tollwwisg wfomation s requested by (e Federal Goverunent for certauw rypes of loans related 1o 2 dwelling nr
mortgage disclosurs faws  You are jof requured 1o furmush tus infon
won chwose to fumesh o, 18 vou fush the udoemation, plesse provide both ethnic:
regnlationa, s lender s requured 1o note the mformation on the basis of visul ehaervation and sumawe (F you have wade dus spplication in person I vo
(Lender must review the above waterial to assiwe that

__BORROWER [ do nct wish 10 Furrush thas informiation

IMPORM A CLON FOR GOA |

iioe bt e el

eurwed (o doso The law provides thae a lender may not diseriminare erlher on the basis
nd race  For mce, you

F b momter e onder's mmyllmwn with equal credit oppomuaty, faur howing and heine

check more (han one designation 1§ you de oot furush etbuneny,

of s mfomation. or oo whether
ace. or sex, inder Federal

2 nat wish o Dimish e aformaion, please check the
chsclosures satafy all roquuements to which the Yender 12 subject wider applicable state law for the parhicudar tvpe of loan epphed for

[ Funale

be Completed by Intervi
application wis taken by

‘g‘.‘ace-m-[w:e sy Iew
Mal

[ Teiephene
0O Linernier

Freddie Mac Form 65 7/05
Residential Loen Application
RA 05A LEG Rev. 3/06

T L ndy

Intervizwer s Sipnatie

Intery |¢mﬂ§ Plwne ‘hnub& finzl area code)

1629~

5

CO-BORROWER [J ! do not wishh to furush thas mioraanion
c or Latuio Ethnicity: _g‘)'{lsiﬁlm: wr Latis O Not Hispanic or Lt
O Asian OBk or Alncan Amencan Race: O American I of Asiin O Black or Afncan Avierican
Aleska Matve
lute 0O Native Hawainn of Wliie
J N Cther Pacific |slesder
Hex: [Ngoale

TAL, LLC

etz ME GAPT
ERMILL ROAD, SUITE 408

LY. 11021

ST 7007

Papel of 4

FC629

e Moz Form 1003 7105
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CONTINE CTEON STHCEATRESIDENS TS 100N AP i ai

Ulse 1lus conlunmbian sheet if you need
inore 3pace to complete the Resuderial
Loan Applcatin Mark B fior Borrower or
€ for o-Howower

Bewrower Agency Case Number:

erBorrower | Lenicer Case Ninber

AL
i <. =1 = .
. - FUe AV I
\ AT k i
] i . - -
/ \ T ’
[ Vo [ [[ J 4‘[
— ] U Jr
¢ [ )
—
[Wf@d fr/ o Tl e
by ceerstand that 11 14 g Federal enzne p le by fine or ung or bath, to keawirgly o slatements concenmung axy of the above lazis as applicable inder 1he provisiews of Title 18,
citnd Nates Codde, Sectoon 1001, o seq
owel's Signnee Drate Co-Barr Signaltre Dale
X X
Freddie Mic Mfm 65 7105 - Page 4 of 4 Fannie Mae Form L3 7/05

FC62906
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Uniform Residential Loan Application

This epplication is designed 1o be completed by the applicant{s| with the Lender's assistance.
"Borrower" or ‘Co-Borrower”®, as applicable, Co-Borrower information must alse be provided (ant| the appropriate box checked) when

income or sssets of a person other than the Borrowver f{inclucing the

as
the

Applicants shouid complete mis&ﬂn
Borrower's spouse) will be used as a basis for loan gualification or

the income or assets of the Borrower's spouse or other parson who has community praperty rights pursuant to state law will not Le used
as ¢ basis for loan qualification, but his or her Habilities must be considered because the spouse ar other person has community property rights
oursugnt o applicabl: law end Borrower resides in @ communily property stale, the secusity prege:ty 1s iocated in & community oreperty state,

)

1& Borrower is relying gn other property located in a community property stale as a basis for repayment of the loan.
A hint crgdit, Borrower and Co-Borrower sach agree thet we intend to apply for joint credit (sign delow!:

Co-Borrower

. TYPE OF MORTGAG

E AND TERMS OF LOAN ]

Lender Case Number

Mortgage VA Conventional [_]Cther:(explain)| Agency Case Number
Applied for: FHA USDA/Rural
Housing Service 374-4600200 03076514
Amuount Interest Rate  [No. of Months | Amertization L Fixed Rate Other (exslaing:
s 364250.00 6.250 % 360 AP gPM__ [ 1ARM tiype:

Il. PROPERTY INFDRMATICII\TEND PURPOSE OF LOAN

Subiect Property Address (strest, city, state & ZiP)
37 NEWARK AVENUE, STATEN ISLAND, RICHMOND NY

No. of Units

1

10302

Legal Description of Subject Property (attach dascription if necessary}
DISTRICT: SECTION: BLOCK: LOT:

Year Built

- : :
urpose of Loan: ¥ ayrchase [ ] Construction
[JRefinance [_]Construction-Permanent

DO‘ther {explain):

| Property will be:

;m Brimary :]

; Secondary
Residence

Rasidance

E:} invastmunt

Complste this line if construction or construction-permanent loan.
xzar !L"é |Or|g|nal Cost Amount Existing Liens | (a) Present Value of Lot | (b} Cost of improvements |Total (a + 13)
quire
K] 53 S $ S
Complete this line if this /s a refinance loan.
Xz::.uired Original Cost Amount Existing Liens | Purpose of Refinance Describe Improvements :l nade D to be made
] 3 Cost: 5

Title wil' be held in what Name(s]
LEONARDO AND JANNETTE MORALES

Manner in which Title will be ne'd
Joint Tenancy

[Estate will be held in:
[K Fee Simple

Source of Down Payment.Settiement Charges and/or Subordinate Financing (explain}

SAVINGS, NEHIEMIAH, AND SELLERS CONCESSION

: Leasehoid

ishow expration daisl

[ Borrower |Il. BORROWER INFORMATION Co-Borrower H
Borrower's Name (include Jr. or Sr. if applicasle) Co-Borrower's Name (include Jr. or Sr. if applicable)
LEONARDO MORALES
Social Security Numbar | Kome Phore {incl. area codel | DOB IMMDDYYYY} ¥r5. School | Soclel Seconiy Nomber | Homa Phuse fine, aren cuce) | COB [MMODYYYY) | Yes. Schocl
051-68-8151 718-234-1432 05/15/1978 16 |
Farrind :i-‘:’;ur‘-ﬂr:o:-_x:ﬂ:]si‘glu. Dependents [nct listed by CoBorrower] Marriad :] l&"::r?;.i-j'u:;lﬂvﬂ::in“' D panients {nnt lister: by Borrow es)

Sepereted ' 2 |we 16, 20MTHS

|
Skparatad no. | s

Fresent Adcoress (street, city, state, ZIP) Qwn Aent No. Yrs:
72-19 19TH AVENUE - m 1YR 10M
BROOKLYN, NY 11204

Prasent Address (street. city, state, 2IP) DDWH Drml Mo, Yrs

Maiiing Address, if d'fferent from Present Address

Mailing Address, if different from Present Address

/f residing at present address for less than two years, complete the following:

Forrer Address (street, city, state, ZIP) :lown Rar.: Na. ‘rs:

324 56TH STREET 4YRS W
BROOKLYN, NY 11220

Formar Address (sicaet, nily, state, ZIP) |:|:>wn Clnum Na, ¥rs

l_ Borrower

V. EMPLOYMENT INFORMATION

Co-Borrower

¥rs. gn this joo

gyzam

Tra. mmpioyed o Uns ling
of word/professon

Hame & Address of Empioyer Self Employed

HAVAS NORTH AMERICA
ATTN: HUMAN RESOURCES
359 HUDSON STREET

NEW YORK, NY 10014

Mame % Address of Employer [:' Selt Empioyed | < o this ok

vra. amplayed in tis ine
ol work/pratessnn

Buzingss Phone [ingl ar-a coge)

212-886-3967

“esitionTile/Type uf Business
FACILITIES operations

PositionTitle/Type of Brsmess Buiness. i sl 2248 rastle]

If employed in current position for less than two years or if currently empioyed in more than one position, complete the followmng:

Name & Addrass of Employer [:I Salf Employed | Dates thain - 10/

Manthiy Incarms
%

Name & Address of Employer D Self Empluyed | Cirt. {from - ted

Munthly inoams
H

PositionTitle/Type of Business Business Phona [incl. erea code)

Pasition/Title/Type of Business | Bukiness oo inel, gren wots)
i

Name & Address of Employer D Self Employed | Dates tfrom . 1)

Montn'y Income

Name & Address of Employer [ self Emsloyed | Datae tfrom - 11

San by Ineime

]

Positicni Title/Type of Business Business Phong fing, area code]

Pasition/Title/Type of Busmess Business Phoue (incl ara (oewl

Fragde Mac Furm 65 07705
1003PG1 105

Paga

1ol 4 Fannim Max Form 1003 07408

Printed by The Loan Handle: from Elim Mas, Inc = wivw alismae sore

FC62192
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V. MONTHLY INCOME AND COMBINED HOUSING EXPENSE INFORMATION

Gross Monthly Income Borrewur Co-Borrowe: Tetal Em:n:'g:::::“ Present Proposed

Baso Er. ncome * s 362570 [s +_ 3625.70]hem ; 1300.00 |
Dvnrtinw Forst Morigage rbleu 5 224275
Bonuses Othes Financng (PRI
Ceimmissions Hazard Ingurance 96.33
Dividends/Interest Reai Estate Taxes 125.00
Nl Awntal Incame Merigags Inswrance 148.73
g;!?%‘bﬁ?m%n%?:%m :EW Assn. Dues

Total s 3625.70 |s . 5 3625.70 | voul s 1300.00 s 2612.81

* Self Employed Borrowerls' may be required to provide sdditional documantation such ss 1ax roturns snd finsndal statements.

Describe Other income  Notfce: Alimeny, cuild support, or separsts maimanance incoms need nat oe revealed il the
BiC Hum’!« [8! or Co-Borrower [C| doas not choose to have it consideed for ropaying this Loan. Moninly Ameun
5
VI, ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Tius & ang any i supparting sehedules ray be jeinily by both mernied and whmainied Co-Burrowens if U assats snd habiblies are sofficently poneo sa ihat ihe Steienang

&1 be moaningluly and fasly p 18d un &

bamis,

is6, SAparalk

anil

atitef parsan, (his Sialement and 5 pporling Schedulss musl be comploTed gbout That spouss or ather prrson alRo

Carplerad

arw raguwad. W the CoBirmwe: seclion wos famplaied 20000 8 fON-apuScan spraises b

DJnull\.

EE] Nt Jomtly

Cash or Market |Lisbillties snd Fledged Assets. Lt ine crudiior & navne, aderess and aemment ~umber far al

anding debts, incluring

" - ASSETS automabila loans. revolving chargs accounts, real extale loans. ey, child suppors, b pledias, B, Uuse
Bges b inuption sheel iF nacessary. Inibcate By 1*] thore labilities, which witl e satslied ubor =ale ul redl g%l owned or
Cush depasil toward porchase held ty: 5 upon reiinaneng of the subjeet pragerty,

Monthly Payment & .
SELLER'S ATTORNEY ' LIABILITIES p Lnpaid Balance
List chackivg o 2o batow Name aid address of Cumpany § Paymen Munihs 5
Hame and acdress of Bark, S&L. o' Credil Unien TARGET
COMMERCE BANK *132.00 *4882.00
37
et e 435237670435
i ' Name and addrnss of Campany 5 Payment Taonihs 5
il 0o £ 12 gﬁ 21
Neme and address of Bank, S8L, o Creait Uniga GEMB/PCR
*58.00 *1954.00
34
pans: fo. 601817032577
Neme ad address of Crmpany S Payment/Months H
Rt oo, 5 PC RICH/GEMB
Name and address of Bank S&L, or Credi Urion 1—52 00 *q 739.00
34
fuct v 501917032217
Meme and pddreis of Cimaany 5 Paymmt *Mant s 5
A-cl ro, [= SHase
N and aderess of Bane. S&L, o Cerdd Union *20.00 *796.00
40
Acct . 182000000918
Name and addregs (f Company 5 Payment’Munths 5
ZALES / CBSD
Acct e, g *20.00 *476.00
Siocks & Bo c ¥ Pamnymy
&::w-inmrn“l O ANy RamEnumoe 5 24
tAcet. ne.
Mama and address of Campany 5 PaymentManihs 5
MACYS
- -
Lite insurance net cagh valie s ’ 'gg 1300
Foce amouni; §
Subtotal Liquid Assets $ 1245.21 |Gt 485960
Narna sind addrass of Compeny 1S Payment/Mintls 3
R r my o %
isaresiglepeb iy s See Sch Of Liabilities
15.00 808.00
Wesied interest (s retiramant fung H
Nat 1 al Busessies) cwneg .
:H:I;"‘u;lﬂ:ﬂﬂﬂ :t:l::‘n:ﬂ‘: " i s L
oy (Child SupsortSeparate Manteaance &3
Automatiles owned |make and yaar) 5 Paymenits Cwved tu
Other Assels |tamize] £ [Jeb-Relsled Excense ((hild care, union dus, alc | 5
[Total Monthiy Payments s 304.00
|
Total Assets a. |§ 1246.21 .“;“;1}:’3;:2, s -9545.79 Total Lisbilities b.| ¢ 10792.00

Fraddie Maz 85 07,05
1003PG2 10/05

LEONARDO MORALES

] Page 2 of 4
Printed by Tha Loan Handlur from Ellie Mae, Inc, = werw, elliemae, com

FC62193
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VI, ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (com) 1
Schedule of Real Estate Owned (i asdnunnt ienoerias sre mwned, Us4 cantinuatiun shedt} i
¢ Hrament 2 Giruss Mot Mamtanane, Fal
it S Pty Pty Marust Valas oot S O e o R ol iy - S 7O
$ 3 5 ] § 5
]

Towls  [S ‘5 $ ] g | §

List any additional names under which credit has previously been received and indicate appropriate creditor name(s) and account number(s):
Altarnaia M Crocilor Name A Nambar
L VIil. DETAILS OF TRANSACTION Wl DECL:HAT]UN&
; If you answer "Yes® to any questions a through i, please

e i 5 370000.00 us‘; i ion shaet 'lor"e;lplann‘tinn. ?

b Altratons, (mprovements, repairs

L {if acquired sepacniely; @ Arm ther any o istanding eoigments against you?

b Hawve you peen declarad baokrupt withe the pint 7 yanrs?

©.Antinonoe (gl cebts to b paid of}

¥ © Have vou nad peoparty forscinsed upun or Given [t or desd n
B 285213 iau (herwof in e st 7 pearsT
T Estuneted dosing costs 22335.08‘ 4 Ara voua pely (0B iawE?
9. PML MIP. Funding Fen 33.50 & Have you ety or ingirertky buan uBagited o0 any laan wehich resille in foehsura, G ansfer of B in
liew of forwcdosure, ar judgoient? (This soubd mnziede sueh loans a8 hemo mirigsge iens, SBAIan ., hime
f Biscownt §if Borroweer vl uay] i oans, wdocational fours. manulaciueed [moliel oM lusns, aay muirigage, nancia

- i Yes. ! urovite details, incluging date, name ang arldress 5f Lendar,
' il e e b : gal bond, ar oan i

te costs ladd teme s Srough hl 32§_2_21 ;1 B A roa e ARl i B e I:l E | : D

j.Subordvista Roancing { 1. Ase you presently dulingumnt or in cefanll on aqy Federal dabil ur a7y utie
& Burruwer's dosing custs i by Suller 18746 _5_9_] fene, mortgage, finencial olis gation, bod, o loan Luarantee? It “Yes,* giva
detaity 88 describwd |0 tha preceding cuwes o,

tated prepdid items

L Ciher Credits (explatn

NEHIEMIAH

11225.00 & Are you chilgatad Lo pay alanony, child s, w sssarste maintenange?
no TRany part of the dunwn payimeng borroved?

down payment 1000.00 -

1= Arayou B LS, oligen?

k. Armyou a permanent resdent alen?

Do you intend 10 ocetpy the preperty as your primary residence?
I *¥rs,” compiute Juestion i Balow,

M. Luan mnount 358900‘00

fexcluda PAMI, MIP, Funding Fa- fineniec m, Have you had on ownership (nteessl o A4 utaoerty 0 the last
n_ PMI, MIP, Funding Fae fonccet 1.5 5350.00: Three vearsT ! _
(1) What type of waparty gid yim o - - princ el residence
> Lusan amaunt [add m & o 364250.00| iPRI, sicand heme (SH), or investnma: prosetty (P17
12} Huw did you ho'd ede (o e henme nhasly tay yooarsell (51
o Cask Trom 1o Borrows u nz wintly with your guouse (5P, ur ety with anotlisr gerson
| Lioit]

Asublract |, k, | & o froin i)

IX. ACKNOWLEDGMENT AND AGREEMENT

Each of the untimesignad sueciicaly represents 0 Lender and te Lender's aclugl er patantial ngenls, brokers, [Focessars, BUUMMEYR RGeS, SEOVICES, Slocessors nd assiyre and agrees and
Acknowladges 1nal (1) U biformation yravided 0 1hs auplication is true and cosceut ps ol the dace set farly aoposite ™y signatiue aed thal any ntentonsl o regligi=ol misepraseniaion of (his
aformiding contained in this apglicolion may rasull in gl akdity, including monelany camages, to ary persen whn may sufle any loss due 1o relisnce upon any msreesaalalion thal | have mads un
thas aualative, andior in ciminal pengllies mcluging, but not imitkd to, fine ar mprisanmant o goth under the provisans of Tite 18, Untes Stales Cude, See (001, af se. (21 the loan reyusstad
Hufsuanl i this auphealion [the "Luan”| will be secured oy 8 murigage o deed al rust un the progerty describag in s Guslication; (30 the Hewapiear by will nart Dee el Toe any dlegal or prokinieg gurpdms
at ) af stalemants imade 0 Lhes BRACALion are madd B [he porpose of ultaining & residential mortgage lian: 18, (e argpnrey will e secumed a5 ingi 1 i thie appkcation; (B) the Lender, s
FROVICRIS, SUCCESEORS Gl @5Sgns may ratan the origingl andiur wiectronic record of thix application, whalber & not the Lusn < & oy, 71 e Lender and it6 agenis nary, 0SUCBTS. RervinErs,
JuEcHsie s 3Nd ARSGNE May Lanlinaeusly rely o The afonmation contaned in the Spgilucatiun, and | am sbiigated to anend andfon supderent thi nfsemalion wavided in ¢is apul v il @iy of the
matera Lacts that | hava ragessenied heren should change priur ta closing of 1na Loan: 18) in the event (hal my paymenis on the Lois Lissane delirguent, the Lender, ils Sereiuers, successon o assgns
™ay, o pdditios 1o sny othe ughts and cemedes 181 11 mey & FeiElNg 1o sush dulinguency, repart my name and sccounl FGETALG [ Sl GF MO COS.TE redl opPorlng sy-nes (3
wwenarshly af the: Loan andlon adeinistranon ol the Luan account may be iransfered with such notice Bs may be reaiond by e (18] oither Lender nor v YRS, NURETS, ELEers, WinHrs,
SUCCERRITE Lf assigns hos male any reprsentatiun or waranty, wpress or imylied, 10 me regarding he gropsety ur the congitien o vaive ol the progarly; and [11] my tramsmisscn of this apal stiun a5
@7 “almstronis recoed eontming my T decironic signatwe,” 35 thisa terms aw defined in apolicabh: facarsl andiir stale aws |exriuding audio and vides regardling.|, ar nve (2esinife rassmisaion of hig
applicanon cemaining a lacsimile of iny signature, hall be as effective, enforceable and valld a¢ Il a vaper versin af this aiplination v dw'ivared containing my orgnal wrilan signalire.

rowdgemint. Each of the Uncersighd haraby acknowisdges that any owner of e Loan, ts senvicers, suzcassors il asgigha, imay varify o reverify any Infurmation enstaoed in this agplivation or
aiaigin any information or daa reating 1o the Laan, for any lagitimatn busicess vurpose Uircugh any source, including @ sulrce mamea in this agplication of & conse e repurling agency.

Burrofoal's Signatura Jate ]C:\-Berrumf'l Signoture ! Datn
‘ Ouds— U l ( %10’1 X
A X. INFORMATION FOR GOVERNMENT MONITORING FURPOSES ]

The lollowing in!amation |5 regussied by 1w Federal Gavernmant for cerlain typas of luprs reimted 10 8 Gwalling in oroar 10 Mendor e lager s Campianes will e qual aredit aupariunily, fair hausing
and hume morigage disclosura faws  You ate nol required [o fumish this infrmstion, but are encuursged |i o 50, Th L pruvides that s tundar vy el HECEMINaL e 08 the Bosk ol this
nformatiun, or on whether yuu chonse to furnisa 4, if you furnish the infarmation, pleass providy both athnicity and race. For race, vou may check more than one devignation. |l you do no: fursish
Ainmicily, fece, iof Sex, under Feders raguatinns, this lender is required to nole the information on the s 0 viewsl pbeervalion sadl surnama |y Save made 1o Aphatan n persan. I you do not
wish I fuenish e infarmation, gease check e box below. (Lands L] raview the Shova material 1o assure Ut tha discinsur=s salisly all foguiremants 1o whicl i (B % subjRct unde &alicaie
<iate law for the partcwar tyox of loan agyileo for.)

BORROWER D Uee npz sh s Bormisie this infosmatian, CO-BORRAWER D 1 oke zeat wwasly tue Tuersh thes mli m i

Ethnicity E Hisgani o Laling l:l No| Higpanie or Lating Ethnicity E Hisparwe v Laling D Nuwt Hespari: o Lyiion

Race: Aunarizan |ndign o Asian Block or . Bineigan Indian ur Asian Black ar
Alagcn Natve m Alrcan Amwrican Race Hiarha Native E ) Alricon Amaricen
Magrew Hawanisi ar . L= Hiwgs nr ”
Ot Facific Inander m Wiihe i l'):‘I‘\-‘q"r"’armI :L"“r : ———

Sex: ] feme X Jmae Sex: ) eemate s

To be Completed by Interviswer | erviews's Rame (3ot o tyoe — ot 300 Sacr < ST TR s Bt
Tins auplication was Laken Ly SETHMUS \(ﬂ@ CAMERIDGE HOME CAPITAL LLC
(] Frewtotara v Luerviewegl Sigraiurs " Touw B0 CUTTERMILL ROAD, STE #4068
DM.lil !GREAT NECK, NY 11021

E Tetephon Intgfviews:’s Phene NuMnu. ey code !

[ imerve |/ 516-829-5700

Fraddie Mar 63 0706 Page Jul 4 Feotni- Man Fores 1003 0708
T003PGY 10/0%5 Printad by The Lasn Headler from Eilin Mae, e, = www, <llimaie, com

LEONARDO MORALES
FC6290
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Continuation Sheet/Residential Loan Application

Burrowar: Agency Case Nunber
e e rohens Tea | LEONARDO MORALES 2744600200
Ay b Mhark B fo Bosrower ar C (o [ Co-Domawer; Lunder Case Nuiber
Co-Bomower.
03076514
LIABILITIES ADDENDUM
Creditor's Name Account Number Payment Months Left Balance
Address/City/State/Zipcode To Pay
CAPTITAL ONE BANK 51780523 *15.00 4 *59.00
AFNI COLLECTION ACCOUNT 101174 0.00 0 *74%.00
TOTAL: 15.00 B08.00
::i':l Fully ::!Q_u‘rl:li"ad 3'_?:!2 é.;‘:q:udu;:" gr;l:lr:‘l 105!,“.: :,\:I‘.'rﬁe ur i ar buth, o b aly miaky any lalse siolements conssnng any of the sbuve facls an apiplicobls under Lie
Date

Ul ldto],

Fradde Mac Ferm 65 07105 \J Paged of @
Printed by The Loan Hand'er from Ellia Mar, Ine. = wiwa alinmag. com

FC62(90]

Fannie Maa Form 1003 €705
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EXHIBIT 3
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EXHIBIT 4
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BUY A HOME LLC

PAY

Wme AT T IPE

1261

; i f/;’{/ﬁ? sO-791/284 ’!
| $ Fszo

ShH Ty § oers e it

B

DOLLARS ﬁi .

N% psiorth Forlt Bank

www.northforkbank.com

on (2N R

OO0 LZB k" 1OZ2bLO7TS & 200 2OELwOL F 58w it
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Uniform Residential Loan Application

This application is designed 1o be cor
Romrower information must also be provided (and the appropriate box checked) when Oibe

cted by the applicanis) with the Lender's assistance.
me or assets of 3 person other than the Borrower (including the Borrower's spousel will be used as

REMEMBER:
?uﬂrl .‘\ersmﬁ.. re
see this “Check.

Applicans should complere this form as “Romower”

or “Co-lHorrowes

as applicable. Co-

a basis for loan qualifivation or Oihe income or assets of the Borrewer's spouse or other person who has communsts propeny rights pursuant Lo state law will not be used as a basis for loan

qualifica

but his or her liabilities must be considered because the spouse or olher person has community propery rights pursuani to applicable law and Borrower resides i a communny

property state, the sceurily property is located in a community property state, or the Borrower is relying on other property located in o coinmunity propenty siate as 2 hasis for repayment of the

Joan,

[T chis is an applicarion for joint credic. Borrower and Uv-Bonower cach agree thal we intend 10 apply for joint credst (sign below i:

o~ Haorower

Horrower

LTYPE OF MORTGAGE |

AND TERMS OF LOAN

O unventional O e
O usoARural

Vousing Service

Mortgage ar (explain).

Applied for:

Agenay Caae Numnbuer

Lener Case Number

Amaount Tnlerest Rate Mo of Manths
s o 61 %

Amorlication Type: el Raw DOker (explainy
O tirm O ARM

el

IL PROPERTY INFORMATION AND PURPOSE OF LOAN

‘uh

et Emp‘ crly Ad lncss islreed. city, 1Iaylt & 20y S }

(o

Uzwc_ J)W é /’lf\/

Nu of Thins

Leg,nl Desenpion nf bulum': Propeny (auach descripton 1F neeessary)

Wear Bl

B Forchase

Purpose of Loan O Construction ] Other (explain). Mroperty will het

[ kefinance O Construction- Peomanent | L Brusary Resience O Secondary Residence O lns estment
Complete this fine if construction or comstroction-permament loan
Year Lol Onginal Cost Anwoun Existing Lizns {0} Prescm Value of Lo bt Cust = [mprovements Toual fa+h)
Acquired

$ b3 3 5 5

Complete this line if this is @ refinamce loan, .
Year Orgmal Cost Amownnl Exising Liens Purpose ol Relinance Drezerihe Improvements 0 iniade O o be mae
Acquired

Cosi: §

Aammer in “T"ZI Title yy’ held

i |cm||b:1:!.i.n hat Hamy I 4[
L!HWV{. /e wfﬂ f'g i J:;'Y"l-f jﬂdyﬁ //._” )}/
ln Pl

1L BORROWER INFORMATION

free of Down Payment, Seitlem

A\

Tharges. andear :m'hon]mau Fmal;!ﬂ,..lﬂ ain)

Ll les

W O

1 an Sl npﬁ:p/l‘m

ver's Mame (incl

o A

wer's annl‘ﬁlb‘ 3 IS
2Lty A

Bt will he held o
OrFeeimple
O Lessehuld ishow

expuation daiel

Co-Borrower

Wrs. School

1.|| Sgcunh Number Home Phone 7 ’I/ DB (gnfddiv vy
i rea cod

L‘L“‘H’Mrl- Cor-on | felif/ 1.

Z | po |'.'|'.r|}d-lyy_\}:
;”’)?L 1&

Yra School

O Marricd Jnmarmicd (include Diependents towt liaicd by Co-Bomrower)

O Separned

ceuniy Muniber zf‘
12M-LCSLY)
O Marricd married (include
O Separsied gt dnorced, widowad) |

Drependents (ot o] by Boemowor)

mges

>m=lr divoreed, widowed) l:s
Present Address fsireet, ey, stane,

S AR JéAﬂJH, e

'n. Wi

JMM

Prosen Addsesgdanieet, vy staie, £IF)

O own

Owen: 3 No s £ }

Mailing Address. it dilferent from Prosent Acklress

i1l — ¢} q}".d")\l

e Adidrass, of differenn o Prescnt Adire,

NN g

If residing ar present address for fras than pwo pears, compleie the following:
O wn Orem

No Y

Former Addiess (sireet. city, stake, 210

Former Addiess isirees, cily, e, 210 [m}

Lran O ke Mo, Vs,

Namie & Address of Emplayer

SCTES--
Abb SEL ¢/4v..

O Self Employed

Wen emiploved in this line
ol warkiprelession

'\l.lm: n Addresy o1 E

wj
(@]

[ T‘(JJ § -
A

1 €A

V. ?:f !f‘z(.

¥ow, on i jub

A
¥es. employed i this hne
ol work/profession

Enpliyed

1LY M) IACE

Pmition/Titke Typ, uruuﬂTu Husiness Phone {incl. area cude)

Poutic m‘TnI\ Type of Busineps
AL, o p. /A J

Dusimess Mone (inel area code)

Tl Ll MR
L= ~

7 17 *5\err‘1\

I mg.ropr in current position for less tha two years or if curreatly e

in mrore Hhan e position, mmp}ﬁp Har fuJun‘lr_E

Name & Address of Empaner O Sclf Empleyed Dates (from - w)

Maonthly Income

3

Nume & Address of En

Fanplored Lkates (o = 10}

Memhly lecome

5

PusitemTileType ul Busingss Buniness Phone {incl. area code)

PusitionTuleType of Basincss

Husinuess Phone nc] area code)

Marne & Address of Employer O self Emplrved Lates (from - ta) Manmwe & Addreas of Emplover O Seli Lmplayed Dhates {from - )
Menrihly Income Monihly lrcome
5 B
PositionTitle/ Type of Business Business Phoe [inel. arca code) Position Tele/Type of Busmess Business Ploae tincl ana code)
Freddie Mac Form 65 T/0% Page l of 4 Fannie Mae Form 1003 7105
Residential Loan Application . .
RA 05 LEG Rev. 306
e

r~
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| Case 1:10-cv-09280-LGS Document 96 Filed 02/15/

V, MONTHLY INCOME AND COMBINED HOUSING EXPE S INFORMATION
Camhined Muathh
Manthly Income Housing Eapenst Present Froposed .

- Borrower l__(il—ﬁn:mwr_ Total
Base Eaipl. Income® 3 hﬁ\ )_ 3 '}}”l\ . J| [ “ﬁiﬂ R s yLi | . ]

Dventi Firsl Morlgags (M&1)

Honnses L Other Financiog (&1 L

| Gross

Lonimissivns Hazard Insnrance }»
Irvidendsilnienst ]— Real Frjare Taces |
Mel Remalb Income Mongape Insurance L

ittt — — B - - .
hther {belire comphoimg. sce Homeownsr Asst Lyt
The pea n “descnbi olner J -

ancome,” below) | Cither, ! |
Total s oy U N | EENTES Y Total |s BE
L A ——— ——r
* Sell Employ ed Borrower{s) miay be reguired te provide sdditional documenlation such @< inx relnrns and Onancial slatements,

Deterite Diher Income Noticre: Alimony, cRild support, or sepsrate Mointenance ienme necd nu be resealed
irihe Boreower (B or Co-Borrower (C) does not chawie fo have it considered
for repaying this loan,

a8 Mumihiy Armoam

e stllicrenshy joneil s tha the Sriement
ol @ non applicant spouse é wlher peisa

This Swtement and any applicable supporting schedries may be complewd jontly by both mamed and wiinarriced o Bosrowers i pesels and liakilies
wneaninglly and faely presentzd on a combined Sases: viberwise, soparmie Stalemenis and Schedales are regmead 10 he Lo Burmower sechun was caliple
Sratement and snppening schedules mnst be conipleted abonl that spunse ar uther person also

Comphted 0 Juintly O Mot Jomnily

ASSETS Hl Cash or —[ Lishilities and Pledged Assers, Fal the crediors nmne. address, ard acconnt aumber for all owtstanding debis, meludug
Mrlurhet Vatue automabile lepns, revolving charge ac. 14, real o ng, alimomy, chdd suppawt, stock pledecs, e, Use vonlinuadion sheer il
Deseripion necessary. Indicate by (*) these liabilmes, which will be ~atstivd upsan zale ol mesl eabawe awared v wpon elinansing of the subjoct
= —_— — - - = — popeny
Cash deposie iowan! 5

Purchase held

| LIABIL Muonthly Fayvment & | Unpaid Balance

Liss checking and savings accaunts below Months Left 1o Pay

MNane and address of Bank, S&L. v Crodit Umen | Name and addeess of Company 5 Payment/Mon:lis 5 \ S }

MO 1

_Acel o [ s Acct no.
Nanw and address of Bank, S&L. o+ Credit Union Name and address of Cempany 5 Muanent Mo 13
‘ Acctow. 3 | Acclno . _ . . i .
Name and address of Bank, S&L. o I Name anid address of § VaymentMerths 3
|
‘ Accl, 1, T B .Ac cl. no
T Is T Theam s R R
Name and address of Company £ Payment/Maaths 5

Mame m.dadd;cisol' nk, S&L., ar I:mdllrion
ALy (!l/ ( it

_ Acet o 5 ACCl me).
:—I § Payniea/Munths i3

Stocks & Bonds {Company naine’ 5 Name and ndiiess of Comy
nnmber & descriprionh

AvcL po.
Lile insurunce net cosh value < Manke and address of Company 5 Paymeni‘Months 5

Face smount: § |

Subiotal Liguid Asses

el esiale owned (enler markes valne %

Treun schedule f real estaty au ned)

Vestod interest in etirement tund | § J

Net worth of busiucysies] owned ¥ | Acct nw

tattach fiancial statermen) B . _ N - _

Astpmhiles owoed (make dod 5 | AbmonyiChitd SupporySeparmn: 3 i
year] | Mainienants Favments Owed 1o ‘

Oither Assels (icemize| 3 JiptsmBee faved Eapense (ohild vare, union duss, e

. o | Total Menthiy Paymenms 1 —— .
Total Assersa. | § ML Worth i i'ﬂh! Liahilitiva b | 5
S _ in minus b} - I

Freddie Mac Formi 65 705 ‘ Page 2 ol4 -l:- Fannic Mae Furm 1003 75
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Case 1:10-cv-09280-LGS Document 96 Filed 02/1 Page 201 of 210

VICASSETS AND LIABILIVIES {cont"d)

Schedule of Real Estsie Owned (17 addinanzl propenies sie owned, use continuativn sheet )

- it
Civges Kemial Morgage Marnien Met
[neomme Paymenms Taves & Blise, Invwane

Propenty Address (eater S il sald, PS il pending salc ar R i’
rental b held for income) Type of Prupeny

Fresenl Markel
Value

‘ Tutals 11 £ 5 s l % 3

List any additional names unader which ercdit hus previowsly been received and indicate appreprigie ereditor nameis) and accounl numberisk

Alenzane Name: Credion Name Avcouyt Numbses

VIl DETAILS OF TRANSACTION VIIEL DECLARATIONS
" 5 1M vau amswer “Yes™ lo any questinns & through i, Borrower Co-Borromer
: —\‘ji (Lo | please use continuation sheet for expl Yo ™ Y o
- 4 ! —_—
b, Aliesuions, improvements, repairs J 3 Are there any judgmems agaimst you" m} B [u] ™
¢, Laml (i acquired scparaicly) | b Hase you been declarcd bankeas wihi the past 7 vears O = ] R
o - ey A . . v. Have you had propeny fareclosed wpon o given mle
i Befinance (inel debis 1o be paid all) | ot doed s Tiew theteat 1 the last 7 years’ o B (m] = o
¢, Estmated peepaid inems d. Are you a pany 102 lawsuin? o £ g ] ]
£, Estimaned ¢losing costs & Have you direcily or mdiravely been obhgated on any
- | Vean which resulied in Jeretlusure. translio of ke O & m} =
g PML MIP. Funding Fee | i lica of fureclosnee, of judgmenl”
h. Dhscoun i1 Burrower will pay) ( This would smclude such loans . fome 1nagae lusins, & ame
R I luans, educanonal loens, manniaowced Gnobile) home sy
1 Total cost (add 1ieins & throngh by inustgage, financial eligativn, 'c-oml.. o luan guelenlrcl. Y provide ditiails.
e luding date, nomie, and addrez of Lender, FILA o1 VA dise nuals any, and
eeasons for the acton. )
) . 1 Arc you presently delingnent or in delaull on ar eral deht o e other =] ] =] BT
| Soburdmaie financing loan. mengage, Gnarvial eblieacon, Bem), 1Y Enarane )
M Yen." grve dolails ax described modie g imge questin,
] 1 Are yan obligated o pay alimony, child suppon, ur sepcale maicmsne: ! o T 3 0O “a
k  Honower's closig coats pad by 5
I 12any pan of the down payinent borraa el ! ] = O AT
i Ade yun a eo-miaker un endoren o g e a EI"— m} Oo—
1. Oiher Credits {explamg
m. Loan amount texclude M1 MIP, X .
Fonding Fee finared) M 5"_() i Are youna U S citieen? o O O
[P
k. Ave you i permanent resident alicn ! a (m] m]
/ youay
i Fee aneel 5‘\_1
E L I Do vou intend (o petups the propertd as veur prigart vesidence?
_ 1 Yes complete question m below ’U_._ [m] H— (m]

o. Loan amoun yadd m & n) ‘B{/{‘;‘}J b m Have yru had an ownersbip mlesest n o property in the Lt il sears© [u] o—-— 0 L

p. Cash fronio Bomower (subuact ik, |
& o from i1

_ (1) What iype of prapeny did you own - proseipal ressderee (MR E
| 1 home (SH), or investment property (11
tothe onie = solely by yu

WSk
T sl O

Eack of the u

der's actual or potential agents, broke
reet us of the d212 set fonh apposite my sygnalure and i

may result i civil liahaiy, including monetary damages, o any persen wle may suller any loss diee w relianee wpun ary nosrepeeseniation et @ bae o
inelnding, bul nes timited to, (e of WmpRsenment o Bl under the peovicions of Title | niled Stanes Code, See, 1L en 90 (20 e hoan requested parsoa 1o this app
mongsee of deed of Iman an the propeny desgiibed o this applicaten: (30 the propeny will not be used for any illegs] o prohibited parpsose of dse (31 all “aemenl
ul chiainging a resadential mosigage fnan, (5) the mapety well enpicd as imdicated in this applcai
n s approvesd, (7] 1he Lender and s agents, broker,

el my

s cieainal penalies,
Lavant™p wall B setcniredd by a
application ane niade B i
electronic weeanl

continusly |
wn shoaeld vhang vl Loan. (5 m the
UEY. EPUT My fan| wini
an b reguired by lawe (100 newher Lender
nean or salue of e properts, and (111w

3 t TR
Ferzed wuh 2ugh potice as

trangmission of this application as an e cluding sudir and ssdew regondingst, ar iy
Facsimnile v sion of this nppll Farecablhe wnd volil 2 6 peper version of (s applicamen were delsered vonlzmng sy o 1 winiew
s,

Acknom ) ach of the undursigned heecb

infisrmation o1 Tating w the [ o, for any legr

The follow ing infermativn is requestad by the Federal Governinent fur cenaim pes ol luar
meongage dicloure lss, You are nolb required to Tnmish this atlon, bl are encouraged bodhe wo The das prasdes dhat -
you chonse to frmesh L 10 vou Inensh the infommation. plesse provide both cthiiei i
regnlations. thes lender is required to note the infurmanen on the basis of viseal shservation and sumame if yon bay
box below. (T.cnder must review the sbove malenal to assune thut the disclosunes sausly all reguirermems 1 which the leader B by

w Ihe lendker' s connnlince with equal eredit upportimy
erler may ol disernmiaaie cither on e basis ol s
1 o des . furesls etlniciy

eck e e

vour e nsa wish o iuroish the infonuanm y
o Taw for the partenlsn 1y e of hoan applied for)

ROBROWER O 1 dn nat wish to Fumi‘l'.fhl) infisrmation COBORROWER [ 1 o 2t wish 1o fighmsd thes mfomian: .
: [ Hisparic or Latine \ﬂ] Nut Eispanic o Laung v: 0 Hispanic en Lanne Mol Hispanse or Lating
Roce: O Amencan Indian or ian

Alazka Malive

Aldska MNalive

[ awne Hawsmn o L whaie
o~ Ciher Pacilic lshyder J

:[:'(‘n be ('umn\uf— . B T | Intervigwer's Nume (prind or type) \/ﬂ — 2 Mﬂ\" ol e, feae - dannly o

This, ;\;';Irl:a[.l.l\\ w:\:‘l‘nkt. ny | ‘/’),..' ) m;;_/;rp}/’ J; ' mngﬁAPITAL, LLC

a h::;u-mﬁ fmene Imersiewer’s Signature Dawe CUTTERMILL HOAD. SUITE 4OE
i | _ EAT NECK, N.Y, 11

: YECETVE K. 021

A 15 -

O A e Indina or | O Asan Difilack or Afiiun American

Mhte g }/ﬂ |
t

APR 13 2007
Freddie Mac Form 65 7108 ra Fannic Mae Form 1003 708
Residentiel Loan Application .

RA 05A LEG Rev, 3/06

CONF\DENTIAL CAMBRIDGE 5.28.10 015194



s this conlinuation sheet if you need Burmower: Agency Case Numiher
mare space Lo complatz the Residzantial 1% - . l :
Loan Application. Mack B for Borrower or A
€ for Co-Borrower. Co-Bomruwer. K Lender Caae Number
- . i . .
[ e LR T AP
. . 1 o
-
["We Tully understand that it is @ Federal erime penishuble by fine or impri . o belk. ingly make any lalse conceming any of the above Facts az appliesbie wnder the provisons of Title 19,
Uinited Siates Code, Section 1001, &1 seq.
Daie Co-Lormoweer™s Slgnstune Daie

Barrower’s Sigmature

X

X

Freddie Mae Form 65 7005

Fage4ol4 Fannir Mav Form 1003 705

CONFIDENTIAL CAMBRIDGE 5.28.10 015195



|
Case 1510“3"'09%"-@‘%,«98&}6%%?& cﬂﬁ%@%{_gﬁ i Page 203 of 210
Uniform Residential Loan Application

“Borrower* or

*Co-Borrower*®, as applicable. Co-Borrower information must also be provided (and the appropriate box checked) when

This application is designed to be completed by the applicant{s) with the Lender's assistance. Applicants should complete this 'fﬂom as
the

income or assets of a person other than the Borrower (including the Borrower's spouse) will be used as a basis for loan gualification or
the income or assets of the Borrower's spouse or other person who hes community property rights pursuant to state law will not be used

as a basis for loan quaiification, but his or her liabilities must be considered because the spouse or other person has community property rights

pursuant to applicable law and Borrower resides in @ community property state, the security pmperty is located in a community properly state,

or the Borrower is relying on other property located in a community property state as a basis for repayment of the loan,

If this is an application for joint credit, Borrower and Co-Borrower each agree that we intend to apply for joint credit (sign below):

Bomower Lo-Hamowes
. I.. TYPE OF MORTGAGE AND TERMS OF.LOANT
Mortgezga Conventicnal [_]Other:{explain| Agency Case Number Lender Case Number
for: FHA E USDA/Rural
Housing Service | 374-460391-6-703 04076532
Amount Interest Rate |No. of Monihs %nmtizaﬁm X TFixed Rate Other {explain):
$ 461750.00 _6.000 % 360 vee: Cloem  [_1aRM (type):
Il. PROPERTY. INFORMATION AND:PURPOSE OF LOAN |
Subject Propert',r Address (s1rea:, city, state & ZIP} Mo. of Units
424 BEACH 46TH STREET, FAR ROCKAWAY, QUEENS NY 11691 2
Legal Description of Subject Property (attach description if necessary) : Year Built
DISTRICT: SECTION: BLOCK: 15968 LOT: 12 .
Purpose of Loan: [XJPurchase [__|Construction [_lother (explain): Property will be:
—_—IReﬁnance D Construction-Permanent m EQ:’,‘;;‘:,CG g:;térg:rg |:| Investment
Complete this line if construction or construction-permanent loan. )
Iear Lo;I rIl:'rhgunal Cost Amaunt Existing Liens | (a) Present Value of Lot | (b} Cost of Improvements |Total {a + b)
couire :
| 3 & $ $

Complete this [ine if this is a refinance loai}.
Year ! Original Cost Amount Existing Liens | Purpose of
Acquired .

$ $ |

Refinance | Describe Improvements ___|made |:| 1o be made

Cost: §

Title will be held in what Name(s)

Manner in which Title will be held

[Estate will be held in:

HAYMAWATIE SQODEEN, SHARON FRENCH & IND NLTY mFea Simple

Source of Down Payment,Settl Charges and/or Subordinate Financing (explain) | |
SAVINGS,NEHIEMAH & SELLER CONCESSION Lfasl’-i‘:'d‘mm ,

{showe exporal e,

| -Borrower . - I, 'BORROWER:INFORMATION. Co-Borrower

Borrower's Nam (lnclude Jr. or Sr. I‘f appllcahle} Co-Borrower's Name (include Jr. or Sr, if applicable)
HAYMAWATIE SOO0DEE SHARON FRENCH

Socisd Security Number | Home Phora (incl. area codel | DOB (MMDZDYYYY) ¥rs. School | Soclal Security Number | Home Phone (incl. sreo code) | DOB (MMDDYYYY] | ¥rs. Schoal
106-94-5262 718-607-0443 10/25/1959 12 124-60-5641 |

Eﬂmie«i IKI Lﬂ.wcfdold“l"!rduda single, | Dependents (not fisted by Co-Borrowert [ Musried m;dmm]dnqh Dmpandants [not listed by Borrower)

D Separstsd . |°9" Separsted e | o

Present Address (street, city, state, ZiP) Down Eﬁanl Mo, Yra:
95-28 115TH STREET 14
SOUTH RICHMOND HILL, NY 11419

Present Address (street, city, state, ZIP) |:!0wn Dnm No, Yrg;

Mailing Address, if different from Present Address

Mailing Address, if different from Present Address

If residing at present address for less than two years, complete the following:

Former Address (street, city, state, ZIP) Dwn Dm Mo, ¥ra:

Former Address (street, city, sinte, ZIP) [:l{)wn Dﬂfn o Yrs.

T.INFORMATION ___-Co-Borrower ]

I e — Borrower. - IV. EMPLOYMEN
Name & Address of Empioyer [:I Self Employscl ¥rs. o this job
2 weeks

Scarlett IBIS Restauraunt
ATTN: HUMAN RESOURCES
180-05 Jamaica Avenue

Vea. amployed In this ine
of werkiorolession

fre. an thia joh

Name & Address of Employer l’_l Self Employed
|

¥rn, employed in thi ling
of work/profession

Jamaica, NY 11432 10 ) ~
PositionfTitle/Type of Business Business Phone (incl. area code) | Position/Title/Type of Business Business Phane (incl area codel
Head chef 718-526-0165 ‘

I employed in current position for less than two years or if cumently employed in more than one position, complete the following:

Dates (from - to)

Name & Address of Employer I:l Self Employed | Dates ifrom - 1o) _|Name & Address of Employer [:l Self Employed
Pentagon Protectlon Monthly Incame Merilbly Incame
160 Schroeders Avenue s 5
Brooklyn, NY 11239 | . . _ —
Position/Title/Type of Business Business Phone (incl. area code) | Position/Title/Type of Business Businass Phona (incl. area code)
|21 2-534-8543
MName & Address of Employer D Self Employed | Dates (fram - 1o} Name & Address of Emplayer [:l Self Employed | Detes ifrom 10}
Mombiy lneome Mo Rty Incoeme
5 5

Position/Title/Type of Business [ Business Phone {ind. area code]

Position/Title/Type of Business Busiress Fhane finl. ares code)

Freddie Mac Form 85 0005 Fage

1003PGY  10V05

Prirdsd by Tne Loan Handler from Ellie Mae, Inc. - www.slliemae.com

1ol 4 Fannie Mae Form 1003 0705

CONFIDENTIAL CAMBRIDGE 5.28.10 015180



Case 1:10-cv-093)-LGS Document 96 Filed 02/1 Page 204 of 210
: CAMBRIDGE HOME CAPITAL LLC

V. MONTHLY INCOME AND COMBINED HOUSING EXPENSE INFORMATION

Gaots Monthly Incame Barrowe Co-Barrawer Total ﬁ‘;"“"d:';“gx'::_'_.""\" : Fresam [—

Basa Emp. Income * s 2600.00 : 2600.00 | fun: s 800.00 |
Oerims First Mar PA] ! A 2768.42
Boruses Other Financing (P&1}

Commissions Hazerd Insurance ] 225.00
Dividends/Inerest ! Fanl Extate Taves .

Met Aental ncome I Mortgage Ingurance | 188.50

Ot befre compltivg | 1062.50 > 1062.50 | Homuouner acsn oues |

ofber incame,” below) i Other 103.67
Total s 3662.50 s L 3662.50 | Tow L] 800.00 |s 3285.59

* Solf Employed Borrowar(s) may be required 1o provids sdditional documentation such as tax retirng and financsl stetemets,

Oesctibe Other Income  Hotice: Alimony, child suppert. or soparate Mmmenance income need Not be revasad if the

ac Boirawar (B] or Co-Borrower [C) dows not chooss 1o hav it cansideted for repaying this fosn, Moniily Amuunt
B |Gross rental income from sublect property is $1250 X 85% L] 1062.50
I N - " VI_ ASSETS AND LIABILITIES '
This and any appli e g oh may be complered jonily Ly botn married and unrmanied Co-Borrowers f (heir asueis and Uabilidies are sulficienily wuned g0 i tie Stalemen:
can be and lnicly p onw birmd basie; ot separats § and 4 are raguired, if the Co-Borrower sechon wad ooingleled aboul & noreapubcant spouse o
other person, this Siatement and supporting schaddles inust be completed about Lhat spalse of oLher persen 240, Camplated m Jantly [’J Mat Jainsly
ASSETS Cash or Market |Lisbiities and Pladged Asseis. Lisi the oreditor’s name, address and socount numbes for 81 outsianding debls, ingluding
Dsseripti alue dulomebile loans, revolving charge accounts, real esiate kers, alinuny, chid suppori, siock pledges, eic. Use
Lrerrips t inwaticr sheet, if v. Indicale by {*] thome Gabiites, which wil be satistind ugon sale of jeil watate owned or
Cash deposit woward purcnase held by: s wpon refinancrg of the subject propurty,
ITIES Monthly Payment & Unpaid Balance
SELLER'S ATTORNEY 1000.00 LIABILIT Months Laft o Pay | O°P
T T Haime and add i Ci 5 Paymentibaonth: 5
List checking and savings accounts helow ! e ol Hompany i aymenifionts
Name snd pddress of Bank, SEL, or Cradit Uinion HSBC NV
15.00 331.00
23
Acci o 52153188
Marrs and addrass of Compasy § Fayment/Moniiv 3
Acct, no. ¥
Harne and sdress of Bank, SAL. or Credit Linica CAPITAL ONE BANK
15.00 290.00
20
Accl.me. 48623626
MName and agdress of Compary 5 PaymenyMontns B
Accl, no, s i
MName and address of Bank, S&L, or Credit Uricn
L3 .
AGCL. N
Namw and pddress of Company 5 Faymimi/Months H
Acct. no. |5
Hamris and aderypss of Bank, SEL o Cradit Union
'
lAcet, no. .
Name ard agaress of Company £ Payment/Manths 13
Acct. o, 5 |
Stlocks & Bonds (Company name/numbor 5 |
& description]
!—\c:\. no.
Mama and aderess of Compary 5 Payrreniibonihs 5
Life Insurance nel cash value < ‘ . ‘
face amount: §
P 3 ACLT nO.
Subtotal Liquid Assets 1000.00 | o T PaymentMonihs 5
Real aslate ownad [enter market valoe $ )
fram scneduls of real islate cwned) , !
vasted iniarest in ratrenent fund 3 | ! ‘
Met worth of Pun-mnml owned 3 Agst na, |
{atiach financin: s1ataiment) AimonyICraid SupporSrarale Mamlanance s, ‘
Fayrrents Owed to:
Automnobees awned imake sno year] 5
W
Job-Related Expense (child care, union duss, stc.) 5 |
Other Assats litemize) $
PERSONAL ITEMIZE 40000.00
Total Menthly Payments 5 . 30.00
Net Wortf a Total Lisbilities b. 621.00
Total Assets a. |$ 41000.00 {a minus b} 5 0379.00 5 .
ey 47105 Page 2 of 4 Fannin Mag Furm 1003 07/0!
TOOGPG“E“"I:;:}S ! Primjud by The Loan Handier from Elfe Mae. Inc. = wwvr elliemas.cum
HAYMAWATIE SOODEEN |
>

)
CONFIDENTIAL CAMBRIDGE 5.28.10 015181



Case 1:10-cv-09280-LGS Document 96 Filed 02/1 ‘Page 205 of 210
CAMBRIDGE HOME CAPITAL LLC

L o - S - VI, ASSETS AND LIABIUTIES (coms)

Schadule of Real Estete Qwned (1 addisional properties ars awned, use continualion shest,]

Property Addrets lentor 5 if sald, PS if pnnr.inq nala Type ol Present Amount af Gross. Mo At
A Mortgage Mainlunance, et
or Rl venial being held for income} Prauerty Markel Value Modigages & Liens  Bental Income Pa\c'|r?;|g[! h::-“& Misc. Rantal ?,.mm"
¥
s $ 3 S |3 k3
Tota's | g 3 3 | $ 3
List any additional names under which credit has previously been received and indicate appropriate creditor name(s} and account number(s):
Adiernate Mame Cradiigs Neme ' Account Number

. " VIl DETAILS OF TRANSACTION ) Vi, DECLARATIONS |
8. Purchass price 5 469000.00 If you answer "Yes" to any questions a through i, please Borower  Co-Bormowsr
— use sheet for exy

b, Alterations, improveinents, repsis

. Land [if scquired separately)

Are thars any oulsianding judgments sgainst you?
Have you been decly ed bankrupt within tha past 7 years?

g

d Refinance (incl. dubls to ba paid off)

. Estinated prepaid itams. 7463.81 © Have vouhad property foreclosed upon of given tiia ar deed in

. lisu theweol in Jhe last 7 yaera?
1, Estimated closing costs 21440.68 o 4 You & party 10 @ Wwsuit? X
9. _PMI MIP, Funding Fan 3.95 . Have vou disciiy o indirectly been oblignied on any Inan which resuiied in lorecloswe. 1 ansler of Lie in
B . | l«uﬂ" forwclasure, or |udvneﬂ[? (This wouwld includs such Inane Js hers morigage logns, SBA ioans, ham
h gag) s, ]
Discount (if Borrawer wik payl 1oans, Inans, manufscised (nobile) bume loans, any mogage, financist

497908.44 obligatior, band. or loan gusrantes. 1P *Yes,” provise detain, inciugney date. naine and agess of Lender,

i.  Totef costs {add ilems a Through )
FHA or VA case number, of any, snd reasons for the aclion.) | D

i Subordinate financing
Arm you presenily delnguent or in defaull on sry Federal delsl or any oiter

. I
k. Borrowsn's closing cosls paid by Seller 19086.46 toor, inorigage, Twmancial obligaton, bond, ar loan goarantes? If *Yes = Give
detnile sy o :nd 0 ine preceding que:

X

C
]
O
L
cl
X
(.

I Ouner Credits lexplain

NEHIEMAH GIFT 14070.00

g Areyou obligaled to pay aimony, chld Suppert, o -aarle Maintenan?

B Is any oart of the down payment borrawea! i

DOWN PAYMENT (1000.00) © Ace o

J. Aseyou s LS cozen? :

X
X
X

or endorser on 5 nowe !

K. Are you & permpnent resident aken7

i Durm intend to accupy the propery &y your grimary residencel
IF*Yes,* compleln gueslion m below.

b [ B

m. Loan amount |
(excluda PMI, MIP, Funding Fes finan l 454930.00 )

1, MIP, iy Fem financed) in. Have you had an twnerstip interest in a property in the last

. PMI, MIP, Fundig Fes financed 1,5 6820.00 theee years? .
(1) Whal type of property did you awn - . princival fe¥gends
&, Loan amaeunt jadd m & n} 451? 50 UU @ (PR}, secand homa (SH], or invesimen] progerty (IP1Y
) How did yeo hold tille 2o the home -+ solnly by yursel (5],
p. Cash from 7 1o Bofrower 3001.98 joinily with vour spouss [SP), er jainlly wilh ansilier parson
1017 . - |

[suplract i, k., | & o from i}

IX.  ACKNOWLEDGMENT AND AGREEMENT

Each of the undersigned spacifically regresaris to Lender and 1o Lender's actual or potentisl agenis, wokers, processors, alioeneys, inbu'urk, SErVICErS, SURcessors Bnd assigns and agrees and
k ledges that: (11 Ihe i n provided n thes application is true and correct as of ihe date sel forh oppowie my signature and thar any ‘rientioned o negigenl misrepeesentaton of this
i lication may result in civil Bebilly, including monetary damages, 1o any person who may suffer any l0ss due 1o refiance upan any insreprpsentation that | have made an
this agglicatian, andfor in criminal penalies including, but not limited 10, fine or unprisanment or both under the provisons of Title 18, Unied States Coda, Sec 1001, 1 sw.; 121 the luan requesiad
pursuant to this application {the "Loan®) will be secared by a mortigage or deed of rusl on the property descrbed in this applicalon; |3} the property wil not be ueed (of any ilegal o prominited purpase
or use; (4] sl slataments made in this application are inads lof the purpese of cbiaining & residentipl mortgage loan; (5] 1na peoperty wil be ocoupied as sngdicated io this application; (5] Ine Lender, 0
SErvicers. SUCCEISOTE Of ASSigna may retain the ofiging' andlor eleclranic record ol thi auph:ulmn whether ar not the Loan is epproved: (7)0the Lender and its agencs. brokers. insurers. sefvicers,
auccassora and sssigne may i by rely an the § i ined v tha i and | am obligated 10 smeand andlor supuleinent five inforination provided in ths sppleaieon of any ol the
materiaf facts thal | have repressnted herein ahouid change prioe to closing of 1he Loan; (8] in the event that my payinents on the Loan become deinquent, the Lender, ils servicers, suct ss3ors of 855igns
may, in addition 10 oy other righis and remedies that it mey have reisling 1o such delinguancy, rporl my nama and account informalion [0 one or more consumer cradt reporbog agencies; (3}
ganerstip of the Lasn sndfor sdminisiration of the Loan account may be wansfered with such nalice 2y ingy D required Dy law: [10) neilber Lender nar 0~ dgents, brokors, insurers, Servicers,
nuccEEsars of aRsigns has mads any repreEanIBlon or warrdnty, expréss of Implied, 1o me regarcing the praperty of the condition o value of the wpeily: and 113y iransmissian of ihis soplcation a
an “alecironic racord” containing my "AMCIIOnc sgrature,” a8 thate terrns are dilined in app icabie federal andior state laws [exciudieg sudh i \mlm racordingsl, of my lacsimde lransnission of this
Aogdicalion cantaining & lacsimds of My sgnatue, shall be ox ellective, rnlorceabls and valid a3 il o paper version ol tha apphcation were delivared conlalinng my uricnal winten signaiute
ar revunity any inf AT or
Al G 8 CORSLIN-T FENOENgG AQEALY

i Caix

Acknowledgerment. Each af {ha undarsigned heraby acknowinoges that any cwner of (e Loan, its servicers, succes4gie and aseigns, may var
Gbiain any information or cata relating 1o 1he Loas, for any leglimate Buvaness purpose through any sowce, includng @ source named i as B

Barraywer's Sqmlu-- wrale Co-Borrowes's Signature
|x}7/axéﬁﬂlo /0 jﬂa/.bcm W@Kﬂ X

.. INFORMATION FOR GOVERNMENT MONITORING PURPOSES
foe certain types of loans related 1o @ dwe'hing n arder to monitor the lender's comphance with ryual credil epporionity, Ter housing

s infarmation, Bul acn ancouaged (o do so, The low oeovides thal a lender may nol deesimaate gither oo the bas's of this
W v do ot furnsh

The failowng ion is by the Federal Gowernme
and homa monigege disclosure lows, You are nol required o furnsk
information, or on whether you choosa to furnish it ' you furnigh the informauon, pleese provide both ethnauty snd race. Fof race. you may checs wire than o desgoatian,
wthnicity, race, o sex, under Federsl regulations, this lander is requirad 1w nuta the informanion on the basis of vsual observation and surnaime if you ngve made Ihis appicalion in persen, IE you do ol
wish 1o harnigh the information, please check the box below, (Lender must revies the sbove material 10 assure thal the diconures salisly all regudnints 1o which e lnoder s subiet ynae spplicable

slale low far the particular type of kan applied for.)

BORAROWER |: 1 G ot wish to furniah this inlormation. CO-BORROWER I:l I e mat wish B Fuerisl 158 infar ration

E““.dtv E Hispanic of Latina IE Mot Hispanic or Laling ah"""“‘ D Hisoanic o« Launo I: Nt Hapanc or Latnu

Race: Arvetican Indian ar Asi Bisk or Aace: Amarican Indion o Agan Blakor
Hlaska Naiiva [[]asen Alican Anevican o ‘Aloska Netrve O L american
Mative kullan or Mative Hawailan or .
Other Pocific Ialander Eﬁ"""‘ Hete aweston ot [ Jwhite

Sex: ] Femete Cwsete Sex: (] rermate ' (TS

Name are Address of [Merviewer s Eayiloyer
CAMBRIDGE HOME CAPITAL LLC
80 CUTTERMILL ROAD, STE #408
| GREAT NECK, NY 11021

To be Completed by Interviewer | Inervewer's Name (arinl or typel

This appiication was Lakan by: SETH LAP'DUS .
m Faca-le-face interviaw Interviewsr's Si
D Rail
CI Tatephane InterdiEmer's Fhone Nulﬁ[incl_ aren codal
D Innernar 516-829-5700 ‘

Fraddie 'M.ur 95 0?{0’5 Page 3 ol 4
1003PG3 Priried oy The Laan Handler frmu Elin Mae. Inc. - www eliegmae com

HAYMAWATIE SOODEEN '

Giain

Fannin Ma= Forn 1003 07/05

CONFIDENTIAL CAMBRIDGE 5.28.10 015182



Case 1:10-cv-09%1-LGS Document 96 Filed 02/15‘ Page 206 of 210

Continuation Sheet/Residential Loan Application

Bosrowves: Agency Cese Number,
Use this tinuation shy il you need mors
e matinn e honied | HAYMAWATIE SOODEEN . 374-460391-6-703
gzpé:a;u:" Mark B for Borrowsr or G lor [TCo-Borrgwer: - Lerier Care Moonber

) SHARON FRENCH 04076532
EMPLOYMENT ADDENDUM
SCARLETT IBIS RESTAURANT Borrower :
Hired: T;e;:m'd'.

180-05 JAMAICA AVENUE Position/Title: .

JAMAICA, NY 11432

Gross Monthly Income:
718-526-0165

.

/e fully understana ihat it is & Feceral cime purishable by fine or imprisanmant, or beih, 1@ knewingly make sny laka statements enncaming| any of the sbove facts as applicable under the
provisions of Title 1B, United Statrs Coae, Section 1001, ¢l ey

Torrower s Sgraturs Date | Co-Borrawe & Signaiure Gate

X K/"’?’mw*zlé %{‘/j@m\_ ‘3/&3’[17 X

Fredae Mac Pedhn 65 07/05 Page d of 8 Fannie Mg Fonn 1003 07/05
1003PG4 10/05

Praisd by The Loan =amaler tram Effe Mas, Inc. ~ wiver eliemae com

CONFIDENTIAL CAMBRIDGE 5.28.10 0151
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EXHIBIT 6
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."‘h“ - Cambridge Home Capital, vic

© 80 Cutternull Road. Suite JOB, Great Neck, NY 11021 & 316-829-5700 o fux 316-329-3777

FAX COVER SHEET

DATE: ’;/'295/ (]

A A/,
TO: Og)pfu;wl
FAX#: §7 5 o i
RE:

om0l Dowtd (

This transmission consists of pages, including this cover page. If you have not
received the entire transmission in a satisfactory manner, please call (516) 828-5700.

Conbact - Sl i)
2l NOSWE e o

Wi sl CoRrEETiTS
o il Cfi@”,@é/d\g oo

o //leffl [,

|

THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS FACSIMILE IS PRIV /JD CONJ’IDENI’IAL INFORMATION
ONLY FOR THE USE OF THE INDIVIDUAL OR ENTITY NAMED ABOVE, I'HE READER OF TLIS MESSAGE IS
NOT THE INTENDLD I{EC”’IE[\I YOU ARE HERERY NOTIFILD THAT ANVD!.‘:E’LMINATJUN DASTRIBLY" rION QR
COFYING OF THIS COMMUNICATION (8§ STRICTLY PROIIBITED. IF YOU VIAVE RECCIVEDL TIHS

COMMUNICATION IN ERROR, 'LEASE NOTIFY THE SENDER BY TELEPHONL AND RETURN THE MESSAGE TO
USE AT THE ADDKESS VIA U.S. POSTAL SERVICE, WE WILL GLADLY REIMBURSE YOU FOR YQUR EXPENSE.

LICENSED MORTGAGE BANKER NYS BANIUNG DEPARTMENT

(MO
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JJG REAL ESTATE AFPRAISAL SERVICES
T FHA #374-4611153

Small Residential income Property Appraisal Report  Ficno, 3t-Newarkave
Tha purpose of this summary eppraisal repart is to ptovide the landariclient with an gccurate, ary adequately suppodicd, opinion of the morket value of the subject property,
Preperty Address 31 NEWARK AVENLUE city STATEN ISLAND State MY 2ip Cede 10302
Barrower WILLIAMS Oumer of Putlic Record PEARSAL AVE BUILDERS County RICHMOND
Lenal Deseription SECTION: 5§ BLOCK: 1123 _LOT: 3
Assessar's Parcel # SAME AS ABOVE LEGAL DESGRIPTION Tax Year 2005/2006 RE. Taxes 8 LINKNOWN
Neighborhood Name PORT RICHMOND Wan Reference 31-24-1 HAG Census Trac 219.00
M... Vacan), Special Assassments /A [ Jrun  Hoas N/A | per year [ Toe: montn
: Feo Simale Jisasehoid | ) Ocher [dossine)

- Refinanca Transaction Dcu her (tescribe)
Lender/Client CAMER!DGE @ME CAPITAL, LLC  Address BO CUTTERMILL ROAD. SUITE 408, GREAT NECK. NY 11201

A

BJECT

arry currenlly obered for sale o has itbeen gligzed for sals i the fuelve mantis gnos 13 e eizcive dale o] 3

Report dato seurce(s) used, offaring price(s), and date(s). SEE ATTACHED ADDENDUM.

.

| @]uid l:l did not analyze v Eﬁl‘\rlrnr.lk{gm:ulljed purthas transectlon. Explaia the results of the analysis of the canract for $ale or why the analysis was not pedommed.

THE SALES CONTRACT WAS N _:I\:.B'I'A) E AVAILABLE TO THE APPRAISER AT THE TIME OF INSPECTION-SEE ADDENDA,
S L

Contract Price 3 450,000 Datc of Contrzct PENDIMG 15 (e propety sellar the owner of pubke reeary? X Yes | N0 Data Sourcels) SEE ATTACHED
15 there any fimancial assistance (tban charges, sale concessions, gift or dowmpayment assistance, eie.) 1o be paid by any pary on behall of the barpwar? X | ves . No

1F Yas, report the tatal dofiar amownt and dascribe the itemsto be paid. SUNKNOWN A SALES CONCESSION IN THE AMOUNTEOF &%, WHICH
HAS BEEN INCLUDED IN THE FINAL SALES PRICE OF $450.000 AS NOTED BY THE LENDER, > | T ]
- SE oy el
Note: Race and the racial compoeaitfon of the oeighbertiood arc not sppralsol factors,
Neighborhood Charaeteristics i § 2-4 Unit Housing Trends | - foiy s R~ Unit Hous!ng Preszent Land Uso 56

Lacation | X |Urban Suburbsa Rural Property Values Increasin X |Stabla Degiining | PRICE AGE One-Unit 35 5

Buil-Up X over 75% [ ]25-75% Under 25% | Demana/Suppty Shortuge | X in Balonce | |Over Supaly | S(000) Grs) |24 Unic 53 %
M orowtn [ [Rapia [X |smbie Slow Marketng Time | |under 3mins [X]36mns | loveremhs | 375 o NEW | Mt Famly 5%
=] nelgnharhond Boundaries SEE ADDENDA 550 Hioh 100 | Conumercial o

450 Pied 10| otmer MISC 24

i Neightiarhond Descrption SEE ADDENDA

Market Conditions (incluing sumpart for iha above concusiens) SEE ADDENDA

Dimensions 24 X 100 SUBJECT TO SURVEY Arza 2,400 Sq.Ft Skape RECTANGULAR View RESIDENTIAL

Spacific Zoning Classifestien R3-2 Zoring Descintion GENERAL RESIDENCE DISTRICT

L] Zoming Complianss - Legal Lenal Wonconlorming (Grandfatharad Use) o Zoning mlﬂaqai (describe) NN/A

5 the highest and best use af the subjsct property 26 improved (or as proposed pur plans and speciizations) the present use? Yas [_]Nu IF N, describz. N/A

Public

udilyes

Olhor (describe) Publlc; Other (describe) Off-site Improvements—Typre Public  Private
100 AMP C/8 Water X NYC Street MACADAM X

GAS Sanisary Sevier 1] NYC Mgy NONE )
XINo  FEMAFood Zore  ZONE X FEMAMap ¢ 350457D0BTC FEMA Map Dae NOT AVAILABLE

Are the utilties and of-sita improvemens tyvical Iof 1he market area? .. Ho I Mo, deseibe. MIA

Ara there any advarse Sile condlions o7 externs! factars (easements, encroachmenls, enmmnmcutﬂl cancltions, tand uses, elc)? L jvg; Mo If Yes, descibe. TYPICAL
UTILITY EASEMENT =

- GENERAL DESCRIPTION : FOUNDATION. EXTERICR DESCRIPTION' . materiali/congition | INTERICR - matefialsieantition.
s [X[Twa | |Tives [ Jrow [X]conerete siab [ |Grast Space Founaion Walls __ CONCRETE/NEW | Flomrs TILE/HDWD/CRPT
l. Acecasary Unil (describe bolow) [ lr‘ull Basement Panigl Basement | Fxtetlor Walls VINYLNEW 4 Wals DRYWALL/INEW
i # of blngs. 1 Basemsnt Areg N/A eq. . | Roof Surface ASPHALT/NEW | Timfinsn _ WD/PAINT/NEW
[ Tae [YIS-Det {End Unit| Basesnant Finish NIA % | Gutters & Dovnszouts ALUMINUMINEW | Batn Floor  CERAMIC/NEW
|| L] Outsida EnryfExit Sump Pomp__ | Window Typa DOUELE/NEW Bath Walnscot CERAMICINEW
Cvidence of Infestation Stonn Sashflasialed VINYL/NEW Lo CarSterage; o
Year Buit 2007 Dampress | ) Semement Screens ALUMTNUMFNEW Nong .
Efloctive Age (Yrs) 0 YEARS . Hestlag/Cotiing: " S Amenitie IX]odveway #otcas 2|
Allic X{Nene rwa_ |[ Jhwes [ ] Raﬂlum |_[Flrepiacais) ¢ WaudSlnuc(s) # | Drivevay Surface CONCRETE
Droé Stair Stairg X]omeFHA | Fesl GAS X [Patlo/eck cons (X |Fence CHAIN Giage  EolCars
Floor Scuttle X |Central Ay Contftioning Boo| Borcn Carport # of Gars
jﬂnimed Heated !ndividuul| Dther Othar A, '—IDnt. mEuih-in
E # of Aopiances| Relrigerator 2 Renge/Qvan 2 |oi lnugnsal | Miccoviave f\rinsherﬂ.\wer JO'.!mr {desoring) NIA
B8 Urit # 1 contalns: 2 Rooms 0 Bedroomfs) 1 Bathz) 336 Souare feat of Gross Living Ares
=4 Unit # 2 contains: 7 Rooms 3 Betoomist 1.5 Bath(s) 1,358 Snuare faet el Gross Living Area
Unit # 3 contains; Rooms Bdroom(s) Bnihils) Sauare leet of Gross Living Aven
Unit # 4 contzins, .. Pooms Bedraomis) Bathis Snuare fect of Gross Living Area

d Additional fealures (Special anerny ¢lficient itams, etc). NONE NOTED

Deseride tne condilon of the praperty (Incluniag needed repairs, deteriorat inng, ing. etc). SEE ADDENDUM
FIEO0A MESFam TF W 7035 r=nene vn e AL wejanine, PO IVLITYT mvem e e b Maa b 025 Mach 05
Pagcld 1225_£5 0a1328

(MO
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JJG REAL ESTATE APPRAISAL SERVICES
’, » FHA #374-4811153
Small Residential Income Property Appraisal Report . 31-Nowarkave

e thers any physical doficiencics or adverse condiiions that aifect the fvubility, soundnass, or Structural titegriry of the property? DVes @Nn IF¥es, desebe SEE
ATTACHED ADDENDUM.

Does the properly generaly conlorm {o e neighborhnod (funcional utifity, styie, tontilion, use, constnection, exc)? Yes DNQ IF No. desciba - NIA

(]
=
=
Eri}
=
uw
=
Q
=

Is tha property subjact 1o 102 centrel? E‘.’ua Gidu I Ves, deacibe

| =ime

The folowing propertias represant the most current. simiar, and proximate comparable rental properties Lo the supjoct propeety, This analysls i intenoed ta suppart the opinion af the
markel redt far 16 Subjee! property.

FEATURE SUBJECT COMPARABLE RENTAL NO. 1 i, COMPARABLE RENTAL NO, ? COMPARABLE RENTAL NG. 3
31 NEWARK AVENUE 7 NICHOLAS AVENUE &7 VAN PELT AVENUE 23 WALKER STREET
Address STATEN ISLAN STATEN ISLAND STATEN ISLAND STATEMN ISLAND
et v s 0.31 miles NE 0.60 miles WSW 0.50 miles SSE
Current Monthly Remt | $ VACANT Ev el . 2500, e 1200 (iEmsinisn] 5 1,000
Rant/Grass Slgn. Area | § 0.00 sq It : [s 1.39 5.5 [s 0.65:0.h - is 0.76 5012
Rent Control Yes No DYES {ﬂNn rJ Yag Nn D Yes Na
Data Sowrea(s) INSPECTION LOCAL BROKER LOCAL BROKER LOCAL BROKER
Date of Leasefs) MONTHLY MONTH TO MONTH MONTH TO MONTH MONTH TO MONTH
D RESIDENTIAL RESIDENTIAL RESIDENTIAL RESIDENTIAL
Actun! Ae 0 YRS o iRa 3 YRE 57 YR3
Candition VERY GOOD G000 00D AVERAGE
Gross Building Arsa 1694 sq.f. 1.800 So.Ft. 1,836 Sq.Ft. 1.310 Sa.Ft.
o L I . +
Urit £ 1 /3 a1 336|3 (11 1 600/ s 5005 |Z] 1 918]s 1.20004 [2] 1 704)s OWNER
Linit £ 2 713/1511358|6 |3] 1.5 |1.200/s 1.600(5 (2] 1 818ls OWNER|3 [1] 1 €08| s 1,000
Unit#3 - 5 g
it 5 5 [s 5
Utifties Included WATER. SEWER |WATER, SEWER, GARBAGE |WATER, SEWER, GARBAGE | WATER, SEWER, GARBAGE
GARBAGE

Analysis of rental daty and Suppert for astimaled market rents for e ingividual subject units repored below {including the adaquacy of the comparables, rental cancessions, et
AFTER CONSIDERING THE DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE SUBJECT UNITS AND THE COMPARABLE RENTAL DATA, IT IS OUR
OPINION THAT THE MARKET RENT FOR THE SUBJECT UNITS IS AS INDICATED BELOW. |

Rent Schedule: The appraiser muzst reconde the applicabile indicated monthly markeLrents to provide an ogiion of ihe murket rant for each unit in the Subiget ore, iy,
S g . : Actusl Rents . . LA Opinion Of Market Rent

| Lezse Datz Per Unit Tatal Per Urit Tatal

Unit # I Henin Date End Data Unfurnished Furnished Hents ished ‘ Fumished 15
1 |VACANT TENAN 5 0)s 5 0|5 LV ~B00 |5 g £00
E :  |VACANT OWNER 0 o] ' 1800 ~ 1,800
E =
ol A
E Commen: on lease dam THE LEASE Totol Actuzl Monthly Runt 5 0 | Tatal Gross Monthly Rent 3 2400
= INFORMATION WAS CONFIRMED BY | Duher Monlily ncoma Rtemize) 5 Qther Monthly [ncome fiemizs) s
%) THE GWNER. Taul Actwal Monkhty Income 5 0 | Tora! Estimated Morehty tncom s 2400 )
b= iiities incluled n estmated rents | |Electic ) Water X Sewer Gas |_Joi | Joaste  [X]trsti collection | | Other Idescribel iy
b Commens on acual or esimated renis and other meathly income Ginciuding personal property) - THE RENT FOR THE PROJECTED RENTAL APARTMENTS®

APPEARS TO BE WITHIN AVERAGE RENTAL RATES FOR THE NEIGHBORHOOD. FORECASTED RENTS FOR SUBJEGT UNITS
ARE BASED ON CURRENT RENT FIGURES FOR SUBJECT PROPERTY AND COMPARABLE RENTALS,

I d?d Dd?d nol fesearch the sale or trarsfer history of the Subjact preperty and comparatiz salss. If noy, asplain N/A

My resedrch id . did ot reveal any prior sales ar mansfurs ol the subjeet propery for the three yuurs prior to the sffective date of this appraisal
Data sourcefs) PUBLIC RECORD, MLS, GEODATA
#id riot reveal dny prior 58165 o7 (rBASIETs of e tgmzarable salas
Data source(s) PUBLIC RECORD, MLS, GEQODATA

lor the year peiar (o the date of sulc of the comparable sale.

Foq Report the resuls of the research and analysis of the prior sale histary of Ihe subjact property and comparable sales report additional prior sles on page 4),

% TEM SUBJFCT COMPARABLE SALE NO. 1 COMPARABLE SALE ND. 2 COMPARABLE SALE ND. 3
7Y Date of Priar Sale/Transler 12/13/2002 NO SALES PRIOR NOQ SALES FRICR NO SALES FRIOR

b7 Price of Prior SalefTranster $325,000 3 YEARS 3 YEARS d YEARS

ﬁ Deta Sourcefs) PUBLIC RECORD PUBLIC RECORD PUBLIC RECORD PUBLIC RECORD

-] Fllective Datz of Data Sourcefs) | 5/16/2007 SM6/2007 5/16/2007 5M18/2007

g, Analysis of picr sale hisiory for the subject property end comp salzs  SEE ADDENDLUM

£

Fredde Mz Fam 72 Mach 2605 Frodusnd L) AT] el 22208 T2T o ez o FavEn Maa FRim 1075 Nz 2005
Pace el 7 128 o o azt
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